This PDF is available at http://www.nap.edu/21852



Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

DETAILS

200 pages | 7 x 10 | PAPERBACK ISBN 978-0-309-38094-2 | DOI: 10.17226/21852

AUTHORS

BUY THIS BOOK

FIND RELATED TITLES

Committee on Extreme Weather Events and Climate Change Attribution; Board on Atmospheric Sciences and Climate; Division on Earth and Life Studies; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine

Visit the National Academies Press at NAP.edu and login or register to get:

- Access to free PDF downloads of thousands of scientific reports
- 10% off the price of print titles
- Email or social media notifications of new titles related to your interests
- Special offers and discounts



Distribution, posting, or copying of this PDF is strictly prohibited without written permission of the National Academies Press. (Request Permission) Unless otherwise indicated, all materials in this PDF are copyrighted by the National Academy of Sciences.

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

PREPUBLICATION COPY

ATTRIBUTION OF Extreme Weather Events IN THE CONTEXT OF Climate Change

Committee on Extreme Weather Events and Climate Change Attribution Board on Atmospheric Sciences and Climate Division on Earth and Life Studies

This prepublication version of Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change has been provided to the public to facilitate timely access to the report. Although the substance of the report is final, editorial changes may be made throughout the text and citations will be checked prior to publication. The final report will be available through the National Academies Press in spring 2016.

The National Academies of SCIENCES • ENGINEERING • MEDICINE

THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES PRESS Washington, DC www.nap.edu

THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES PRESS 500 Fifth Street, NW Washington, DC 20001

This study was supported by the David and Lucile Packard Foundation under contract number 2015-63077, the Heising-Simons Foundation under contract number 2015-095, the Litterman Family Foundation, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration under contract number NNX15AW55G, the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration under contract number EE-133E-15-SE-1748, and the U.S. Department of Energy under contract number DE-SC0014256, with additional support from the National Academy of Sciences' Arthur L. Day Fund. Any opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the views of any organization or agency that provided support for the project.

International Standard Book Number-13: International Standard Book Number-10: Digital Object Identifier: 10.17226/21852

Additional copies of this report are available for sale from the National Academies Press, 500 Fifth Street, NW, Keck 360, Washington, DC 20001; (800) 624-6242 or (202) 334-3313; http://www.nap.edu.

Copyright 2016 by the National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Printed in the United States of America

Cover imagery courtesy of Cameron Beccario, http://earth.nullschool.net/.

Suggested citation: National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. 2016. *Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. doi: 10.17226/21852.

The National Academies of SCIENCES • ENGINEERING • MEDICINE

The National Academy of Sciences was established in 1863 by an Act of Congress, signed by President Lincoln, as a private, nongovernmental institution to advise the nation on issues related to science and technology. Members are elected by their peers for outstanding contributions to research. Dr. Ralph J. Cicerone is president.

The **National Academy of Engineering** was established in 1964 under the charter of the National Academy of Sciences to bring the practices of engineering to advising the nation. Members are elected by their peers for extraordinary contributions to engineering. Dr. C. D. Mote, Jr., is president.

The National Academy of Medicine (formerly the Institute of Medicine) was established in 1970 under the charter of the National Academy of Sciences to advise the nation on medical and health issues. Members are elected by their peers for distinguished contributions to medicine and health. Dr. Victor J. Dzau is president.

The three Academies work together as the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine to provide independent, objective analysis and advice to the nation and conduct other activities to solve complex problems and inform public policy decisions. The Academies also encourage education and research, recognize outstanding contributions to knowledge, and increase public understanding in matters of science, engineering, and medicine.

Learn more about the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine at www.national-academies.org.

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

COMMITTEE ON EXTREME WEATHER EVENTS AND CLIMATE CHANGE ATTRIBUTION

DAVID W. TITLEY (*Chair*), Pennsylvania State University, University Park
GABRIELE HEGERL, University of Edinburgh, UK
KATHARINE L. JACOBS, University of Arizona, Tucson
PHILIP W. MOTE, Oregon State University, Corvallis
CHRISTOPHER J. PACIOREK, University of California, Berkeley
J. MARSHALL SHEPHERD, University of Georgia, Athens
THEODORE G. SHEPHERD, University of Reading, UK
ADAM H. SOBEL, Columbia University, New York, NY
JOHN WALSH, University of Alaska, Fairbanks
FRANCIS W. ZWIERS, University of Victoria, BC, Canada

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine Staff KATHERINE THOMAS, Program Officer LAUREN EVERETT, Program Officer AMANDA PURCELL, Associate Program Officer RITA GASKINS, Administrative Coordinator ERIN MARKOVICH, Program Assistant

BOARD ON ATMOSPHERIC SCIENCES AND CLIMATE

A.R. RAVISHANKARA (*Chair*), Colorado State University, Fort Collins GERALD A. MEEHL (Vice Chair), National Center for Atmospheric Research, Boulder, CO LANCE F. BOSART, University at Albany-SUNY, NY MARK A. CANE, Columbia University, Palisades, NY SHUYI S. CHEN, University of Miami, FL HEIDI CULLEN, Climate Central, Princeton, NJ PAMELA EMCH, Northrop Grumman Aerospace Systems, Redondo Beach, CA ARLENE FIORE, Columbia University, Palisades, NY WILLIAM B. GAIL, Global Weather Corporation, Boulder, CO LISA GODDARD, Columbia University, Palisades, New York MAURA HAGAN, National Center for Atmospheric Research, Boulder, CO TERRI S. HOGUE, Colorado School of Mines, Golden **ANTHONY JANETOS,** Joint Global Change Research Institute, College Park, MD **EVERETTE JOSEPH,** University at Albany-SUNY, NY **RONALD "NICK" KEENER, JR.,** Duke Energy Corporation, Charlotte, NC JOHN R. NORDGREN, The Climate Resilience Fund, Bainbridge Island, WA JONATHAN OVERPECK, University of Arizona, Tucson **ARISTIDES A.N. PATRINOS,** New York University, Brooklyn S.T. RAO, North Carolina State University, Raleigh DAVID A. ROBINSON, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, Piscataway CLAUDIA TEBALDI, Climate Central, Princeton, NJ

Ocean Studies Board Liaison DAVID HALPERN, Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, CA

Polar Research Board Liaison JENNIFER FRANCIS, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, Marion, MA

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine Staff AMANDA STAUDT, Director EDWARD DUNLEA, Senior Program Officer LAURIE GELLER, Program Director KATHERINE THOMAS, Program Officer LAUREN EVERETT, Program Officer ALISON MACALADY, Associate Program Officer AMANDA PURCELL, Associate Program Officer RITA GASKINS, Administrative Coordinator ROB GREENWAY, Program Associate SHELLY FREELAND, Financial Associate MICHAEL HUDSON, Senior Program Assistant ERIN MARKOVICH, Program Assistant

Preface

Extreme weather has affected human society since the beginning of recorded history and certainly long before then. Humans, along with every other living thing on the Earth, have adapted to a certain range of variability in the weather. Although extreme weather can cause loss of life and significant damage to property, people and virtually every other creature have, at least to some degree, adapted to the infrequent extremes they experience within their normal climatic zone.

Humans' use of fossil fuel since the start of the Industrial Revolution has begun to modify the Earth's climate in ways that few could have imagined a century ago. The consequences of this change to the climate are seemingly everywhere: average temperatures are rising, precipitation patterns are changing, ice sheets are melting, and sea levels are rising. These changes are affecting the availability and quality of water supplies, how and where food is grown, and even the very fabric of ecosystems on land and in the sea.

Despite these profound changes, climate change and its associated risks still may appear distant and remote in both time and space to many people. The natural daily and seasonal variability of the weather can mask the changes in the overall climate. However, when people experience extreme events that they believe may be occurring with different—usually greater—frequency in time or with increased intensity, many ask about the connection between climate change and extreme events.

Effective, rigorous, and scientifically defensible analysis of the attribution of extreme weather events to changes in the climate system not only helps satisfy the public's desire to know, but can also provide valuable information about the future risks of such events to emergency managers, regional planners, and policy-makers at all levels of government. A solid understanding of extreme weather event attribution in the context of a changing climate can help provide insight into and confidence in the many risk calculations that underpin much of society's building codes; land, water, health and food management; insurance; transportation networks; and many additional aspects of daily life.

There are compelling scientific reasons to study extreme weather event attribution as well. The basic physics of how the climate system works and the broad-scale impacts of rapid addition of greenhouse gases on the climate system are well understood. However, much is still to be learned about how specific weather events are affected by the changing climate. Improved attribution, and ultimately prediction of extreme events, will demonstrate an even more nuanced and sophisticated understanding of the climate system and enhance scientists' ability to accurately predict and project future weather and climatic states.

The past decade has seen a remarkable increase in interest and activity in the extreme event attribution field. The first attempt at attributing an extreme weather event to climate change was published in 2004, analyzing the 2003 European summer heat wave that killed tens of thousands of people. In 2012 the American Meteorological Society started to publish a special annual issue of their *Bulletin*, compiling articles on extreme weather events of the past year. From 2012 to 2015, the number of research groups submitting studies to this issue has grown by more than a factor of five. A goal of

viii

this report is to provide a snapshot of the current state of the science of attribution of extreme weather events and to provide recommendations for what might be useful future avenues of both research and applications within this field.

Like all areas of study, terminology matters. As this field is relatively new, not everyone may be familiar with terms such as "counterfactual," "fraction of attributable risk," or "selection bias". The committee chose to use the terminology as it is defined and used in the relevant literature. We have included a Glossary that defines these key terms.

A reoccurring theme of this report is the importance of the framing of any attribution question. Although climate scientists are frequently asked, "was a given observed weather event caused by climate change?" we believe this is a poorly formed (or ill-posed) question that rarely has a scientifically satisfactory answer. The report discusses appropriate ways to frame attribution questions as well as the interplay between meteorological and human-made factors in the realization of extreme events.

In addition to exploring framing and attribution methods, the report provides a synopsis of attribution of nine specific types of extreme events. Not every type of event discussed is a pure meteorological event. Droughts, floods, and wildfires all have human, as well as natural, components. Land management, controlled burning, and dams and levees impact the magnitude and frequency of these extreme events. However the committee believes there is a large weather and climate signal to these types of events, and climate scientists are frequently asked to comment on them.

I want to thank our numerous sponsors, the David and Lucile Packard Foundation, the Heising Simons Foundation, the Litterman Family Foundation, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), the U.S. Department of Energy, and the Arthur L. Day Fund of the National Academy of Sciences. In addition to meeting the needs of our sponsors, the committee hopes this report will be of use to the scientific community, the media, and policy-makers who are interested in this topic.

Over the course of just three months the committee held a number of webinar meetings, met twice in person, and conducted a widely-attended community workshop where we heard a diversity of views from the international community working on event attribution. During these meetings the committee gathered information, discussed and debated their views, and crafted this report. Over the course of the study, the committee engaged with international and U.S. scientists who spearheaded development of extreme event attribution approaches, as well as the broader detection and attribution and climate science communities. (See Appendixes B and C for the lists of experts that the committee consulted.)

In closing, I want to personally thank my fellow committee members for their sustained hard work and exceptional dedication to this report. When we started this process, many people believed it would take over a year to produce such a report. That such a report was produced within six months is a testament to the focus and commitment of this committee. I also want to thank and note with great appreciation the incisive and thoughtful comments of our reviewers, whose efforts significantly improved this report, and to thank everyone who gave of their time and expertise to speak at our workshop, on our webinars, or otherwise communicate with the committee during our study process. Finally, I want to acknowledge the superb efforts of the National Academy of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine staff, led by Katie Thomas who took our many disparate

Preface

inputs, made them into a collective whole, kept us focused and on time, and did so with constant grace, cheerfulness and good humor. Thank you.

David W. Titley, *Chair* Committee on Extreme Weather Events and Climate Change Attribution

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

Acknowledgments

This report has been reviewed in draft form by individuals chosen for their diverse perspectives and technical expertise. The purpose of this independent review is to provide candid and critical comments that will assist the institution in making its published report as sound as possible and to ensure that the report meets institutional standards for objectivity, evidence, and responsiveness to the study charge. The review comments and draft manuscript remain confidential to protect the integrity of the deliberative process. We wish to thank the following individuals for their participation in their review of this report:

Alexis Hannart, Instituto Franco-Argentino sobre Estudios de Clima y sus Impactos, Buenos Aires, Argentina
Brian J. Hoskins, Imperial College London, UK
Kristina B. Katsaros, Northwest Research Associates, Inc., Freeland, WA
Kelly Klima, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA
Lai-Yung Ruby Leung, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA
Katharine Ricke, Carnegie Institution for Science, Stanford, CA
Sonia I. Seneviratne, ETH Zurich, Switzerland
Susan Solomon, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge
Dáithí Stone, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA
Peter Stott, UK Met Office, Exeter
Michael J. Todd, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY
Thomas H. Vonder Haar, Colorado State University, Fort Collins

Although the reviewers listed above have provided many constructive comments and suggestions, they were not asked to endorse the conclusions nor did they see the final draft of the report before its release. The review of this report was overseen by M. Granger Morgan, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, and Andrew Solow, Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, MA, who were responsible for making certain that an independent examination of this report was carried out in accordance with institutional procedures and that all review comments were carefully considered. Responsibility for the final content of this report rests entirely with the authoring committee and the institution.

The committee would like to thank the following individuals who shared their expertise with the committee through presentations and discussions: Myles Allen, University of Oxford; Elizabeth Barnes, Colorado State University; Heidi Cullen, Climate Central; Timothy DelSole, George Mason University; Noah Diffenbaugh, Stanford University; Randall Dole, NOAA Earth Systems Research Laboratory; Kerry Emanuel, Massachusetts Institute of Technology; Christopher Forest, Pennsylvania State University; Stephanie Herring, NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information; Martin Hoerling, NOAA Earth Systems Research Laboratory; David Karoly, University of Melbourne/University of Oklahoma; Eric Kasischke, NASA; Thomas Knutson, NOAA Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory; Kenneth Kunkel, NOAA Cooperative Institute for Climate and Satellites; Jay Lawrimore, NOAA National Centers for

xii

Environmental Information; Geert Jan van Oldenborgh, The Royal Netherlands Meteorological Institute (KNMI); Naomi Oreskes, Harvard University; Friederike Otto, University of Oxford; Tim Palmer, University of Oxford; Judith Perlwitz, NOAA Earth Systems Research Laboratory; Thomas Peterson, NOAA National Climactic Data Center; Fernando Prates, The European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts; David Rupp, Oregon State University; Leonard Smith, University of Oxford; William Sweet, NOAA National Ocean Service; Michael Tippett, Columbia University; Jeffrey Trapp, University of Illinois; Kevin Trenberth, National Center for Atmospheric Research; Steven Vavrus, University of Wisconsin; Mike Wallace, University of Washington; Michael Wehner, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory; Antje Weisheimer, The European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts; and Pascal Yiou, Climate and Environmental Sciences Laboratory (LSCE), France.

Contents

| Glossary | . XV |
|--|------|
| Summary | |
| Event Attribution Approaches | 2 |
| Assessment of Current Capabilities | 5 |
| Presenting and Interpreting Extreme Event Attribution Studies | |
| The Path Forward | |
| Concluding Remarks | |
| Chapter 1: Introduction | . 15 |
| Why Investigate the Causes of Extreme Events? | |
| Overview of Extreme Event Attribution Research | . 18 |
| This Study and the Committee's Approach | . 20 |
| Report Roadmap | . 21 |
| Chapter 2: Framing | . 23 |
| General Considerations | . 23 |
| Conditional Attribution | . 30 |
| Use of Background Knowledge About Climate Change | . 32 |
| Other Factors Affecting Impacts of Extreme Events | . 33 |
| Guidance for Framing Event Attribution Questions | |
| Chapter 3: Methods of Event Attribution | . 39 |
| Methods Based on Observations | . 39 |
| Methods Based on Climate and Weather Models | |
| Uncertainties in Model-Based Studies | . 50 |
| Uncertainty Quantification | . 55 |
| The Use of Multiple Methods | . 63 |
| Rapid Attribution and Operationalization | . 64 |
| Guidance for Increasing the Robustness of Event Attribution | . 65 |
| Chapter 4: Attribution of Individual Classes of Extreme Events | . 69 |
| Extreme Heat Events | . 69 |
| Extreme Cold Events | . 74 |
| Droughts | . 77 |
| Wildfires | . 81 |
| Extreme Rainfall | . 84 |
| Extratropical cyclones | . 87 |
| Extreme Snow and Ice Storms | . 89 |
| Tropical Cyclones | . 93 |
| Severe Convective Storms | . 96 |
| Challenges and Opportunities for Attribution of Individual Classes of Extreme Events | . 98 |
| Chapter 5: Conclusions | |
| Assessment of Current Capabilities | |
| Presenting and Interpreting Extreme Event Attribution Studies | |
| The Path Forward | 108 |
| References | |
| Appendix A: Statement of Task | |
| Appendix B: Workshop Agenda | |
| Appendix C: Committee Mini Biographies | 141 |

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

PREPUBLICATION COPY xiv

 $\label{eq:copyright} Copyright @ \ensuremath{\mathsf{National}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{Academy}}\xspace of \ensuremath{\mathsf{Sciences}}\xspace. \ensuremath{\mathsf{All}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{rights}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{rights}}\xs$

Glossary¹

Attribution: The process of evaluating the relative contributions of multiple causal factors to a change or event with an assignment of statistical confidence (Hegerl et al., 2010)

Bias: A term used by statisticians to mean the difference between the true quantity and the estimates of that quantity based on data from repeated studies with statistically equivalent samples of data.

Causal factors: Influences on the climate system, including both external forcings which may be either anthropogenic (greenhouse gases [GHGs], aerosols, ozone precursors, land/water use) or natural (volcanic eruptions, solar cycle modulations), and slowly varying components of the system (sea surface temperatures [SSTs], sea ice, soil moisture, snow cover) that are known to influence climatic conditions on seasonal timescales.

Causality: The relationship between something that happens or exists and an effect, result, or condition for which it is responsible.

Conditioning: The process of limiting an attribution analysis to particular types of weather or climate situations. For example, an attribution study may assess whether human influence on the climate plays a role in a given type of event when El Niño "conditions" prevail.

Counterfactual: From the perspective of attribution studies, *counterfactual* or *counterfactual world* refers to a hypothetical "control" world that has only been impacted by natural forcings and internal variability. In practice it usually refers to the observed climatic conditions (e.g., a specific SST distribution) as they might have occurred had anthropogenic forcing been absent.

Detection: Detection of change is defined as the process of demonstrating that climate or a system affected by climate has changed in some defined statistical sense without providing a reason for that change (Hegerl et al., 2010).

Dynamic: Concerning the motion of bodies under the action of forces. In the context of event attribution, dynamics would include both large-scale circulation patterns, which can modulate temperature and precipitation extremes, and storms.

Ensemble: A collection of similar entities. In climate science, the term usually refers to a collection of simulations by a single model but with different initial conditions (hence different internal variations) or to a set of simulations of similar design by different climate models.

Exceedance probability: Probability that a quantity (e.g., temperature or precipitation) will exceed some specified threshold.

Extreme event: A weather or climate event that is rare at a particular place (and, sometimes, time of year) including, for example, heat waves, cold waves, heavy rains, periods of drought and flooding, and severe storms. Definitions of rare vary, but an extreme weather event would normally be as rare as or rarer than a particular percentile (e.g., 1st, 5th, 10th, 90th, 95th, 99th) of a probability density function estimated from observations expressed as departures from daily or monthly means.

¹ The IPCC reports and the National Climate Assessment are excellent resources for climate-related definitions.

xvi

Factual: From the perspective of attribution studies *factual* refers to the currently observed world as it exists in the context of climate change.

(External) Forcing: refers to a forcing agent outside the climate system causing a change in the climate system. Examples include volcanic eruptions, solar variations and anthropogenic changes in the composition of the atmosphere and land use change.

Fraction of Attributable Risk (FAR): The fraction of the likelihood of an event that is attributable to a specific causal factor.

Framing: The process of posing scientific questions that arise when an event occurs and establishing the context within which they are answered (e.g., whether some kind of conditioning is involved). Framing may include translation of a question such as "Did human induced climate change cause this event?" into one or more questions that science may be better able to answer, such as "Has human influence on the climate increased the frequency or intensity of events like the one that has just occurred?"

Internal variability: The technical term that is often used to describe the natural, unforced, chaotic variability that occurs continually in the climate system. It is a component of natural variability.

Model: A set of ideas, a physical representation or set of formulas that describe a process or system. In climate science, and in this report, the term usually refers to a set of equations describing the physical laws governing the behavior of the atmosphere, ocean, sea ice, land surface and other components of the earth system, whose solutions simulate the time evolution of the system.

Natural variability: Internally (such as El Niño-Southern Oscillation) and externally (e.g., volcanic eruptions or changes in solar radiance) induced natural climate variability that occurs without anthropogenic forcing.

P₀: Counterfactual probability p_0 (i.e., the probability of an event in a world without human influence on climate).

P₁: Factual probability p₁ (i.e., the probability of an event in the currently observed world as it exists in the context of climate change).

Return time: A return time (or period) is a commonly used metric of probability; for example, a 100-year return time means that in any given year, there is a 1-in-100 chance of the threshold being reached. If the climate were not changing return time could also be interpreted as the average time between events, but it should not be interpreted as the time that will pass before an event occurs again.

Risk ratio: The ratio of probabilities under two different conditions or settings; in event attribution this is generally the ratio of the probability under anthropogenic forcing (the factual scenario) to that under the counterfactual scenario. While well-established in epidemiology, the term is a misnomer as it is a ratio of probabilities and does not involve risk as formally defined to account for both probability and magnitude of impact. **Selection bias:** A term used by statisticians to describe the systematic errors in probabilistic inference that can arise when the data that are collected or analyzed are not representative of the population of interest. A famous example is the mis-prediction of the outcome of the 1948 U.S. presidential election (Dewey versus Truman) based on a telephone survey, since in those days only the wealthier members of society had their own telephones.

Glossary

Thermodynamic: Concerning heat and temperature and their relation to energy and work. In the context of event attribution, thermodynamics would include behavior related to the warming and increased moisture-holding capacity of the atmosphere.

Variance: A term used by statisticians to mean the variability of an estimate of a quantity based on one sample of data around the average estimate of that quantity that would be calculated based on data from repeated studies with statistically equivalent samples of data.

PREPUBLICATION COPY

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

Summary

The observed frequency, intensity, and duration of some extreme weather events have been changing as the climate system has warmed. Such changes in extreme weather events have also been simulated in climate models, and some of the reasons for them are well understood. For example, warming is expected to increase the likelihood of extremely hot days and nights (Figure S.1). Warming is also expected to lead to more evaporation that may exacerbate droughts and increased atmospheric moisture that can increase the frequency of heavy rainfall and snowfall events.

The extent to which climate change influences an individual weather or climate event is more difficult to determine. It involves consideration of a host of possible natural and anthropogenic factors (e.g., large scale circulation, internal modes of climate variability, anthropogenic climate change, aerosol effects) that combine to produce the specific conditions of an event. By definition, extreme events are rare, meaning that there typically are only a few examples of past events at any given location.

Nonetheless, this relatively new area of science—often called event attribution is rapidly advancing. The advances have come about both because the understanding of the climate and weather mechanisms that produce extreme events is improving, and because rapid progress is being made in the methods that are used for event attribution. This emerging area of science has also drawn the interest of the public because of the frequently devastating impacts of the events that are studied. This is reflected in the strong media interest in the connection between climate change and extreme events, and it occurs in part because of the potential value of attribution for informing choices about assessing and managing risk and in guiding climate adaptation strategies. For example, in the wake of a devastating event, communities may need to make a decision about whether to rebuild or relocate. Such a decision could hinge on whether the occurrence of an event is expected to become more likely or severe in the future—and if so, by how much.

The ultimate challenge for the science of event attribution is to estimate how much climate change has affected an individual event's magnitude² or probability³ of occurrence. While some studies now attempt to do this, most consider classes of events that are similar to the event that has been observed. Irrespective of whether a specific event or a class of events is studied, results remain subject to substantial uncertainty, with greater levels of uncertainty for events that are not directly temperature related. The conclusions drawn also depend, in general, on choices made when selecting the events, framing the questions asked about the role of climate change, designing the modeling setup, and selecting statistical tools to quantify uncertainty.

More event attribution studies are published every year and study results are increasingly requested very quickly after events occur. However, some of the methods are still relatively novel and there are a range of views about how to conduct and interpret the analyses. This report examines the science of attribution of specific extreme

² In this report "magnitude" and "intensity" are used synonymously.

³ In this report "probability" and "frequency" are used synonymously.



FIGURE S.1 This figure shows a time series of the annual maximum nighttime temperature averaged over the European Region. Temperatures are plotted as anomalies, or deviations from normal (in this case, 1961-1990), in degree Kelvin (K). Observed temperatures are represented by the black lines (OBS) and are based on Caesar et al. (2006; updated). The orange lines (ALL) come from model simulation (Martin et al., 2006). Both observations and model output show an increasing trend in nighttime temperature anomalies over time. The horizontal dotted lines denote the uncertainty range (5-95%) due to natural climate variability. SOURCE: Stott et al., 2011.

weather events to human-caused climate change and natural variability⁴by reviewing current understanding and capabilities. It assesses the robustness of the methods for different classes of events and attribution approaches, provides guidance for interpreting analyses, and identifies priority research needs (the full statement of task can be found in Appendix A). This study is sponsored by the David and Lucile Packard Foundation, the Heising Simons Foundation, the Litterman Family Foundation, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), and the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), with additional support from the Arthur L. Day Fund of the National Academy of Sciences

EVENT ATTRIBUTION APPROACHES

Event attribution approaches can be generally divided into two classes: (1) those that rely on the observational record to determine the change in probability or magnitude of events, and (2) those that use model simulations to compare the manifestation of an event in a world with human-caused climate change to that in a world without. Most

⁴ In this report, the term "natural variability" encompasses both externally forced variations other than anthropogenic as well as the chaotic component of the atmosphere that is not externally forced. See Glossary.

Summary

studies use both observations and models to some extent—for example, modeling studies will use observations to evaluate whether models reproduce the event of interest and whether the mechanisms involved correspond to observed mechanisms, and observational studies may rely on models for attribution of the observed changes.

Some types of observation-based approaches to event attribution use the historical context in order to determine changes in the rarity of an observed event based on long-term data. For example, this might involve comparing the statistical probability of an event in today's climate to its probability in some previous time several decades earlier when the concentration of anthropogenic greenhouse gases was much lower. In practice, historical observations are often not available for a long enough period to enable a reliable statistical evaluation of whether there has been a significant change in event frequency or intensity.

Another observational approach is based on analyzing the characteristics of a given weather event (e.g., the large-scale circulation pattern) and looking for historical analogues in order to determine how meteorologically similar events have changed. These studies might compare the amount of rainfall in the current event to similar past events to estimate how the long-term increases in atmospheric temperature and moisture affected the event. As such, this approach does not address how climate change may have influenced the conditions that gave rise to a particular weather pattern. Some studies have also diagnosed the frequency of circulation states in order to determine if these may explain or counteract any change in extreme events. In general, it will be challenging to attribute any such changes to anthropogenic climate change.

Weather and climate model-based approaches to extreme event attribution compare model-simulated weather and climate phenomena under different input conditions, for example with and without human-caused changes in greenhouse gases. Many studies rely upon coupled atmosphere-ocean climate models, while others may use global atmospheric models, regional models, or models that are constructed specifically to represent a particular class of weather events, such as hurricanes. Multiple simulations can be conducted to test how changes in sea surface temperature, the levels of atmospheric CO_2 or aerosols, or other variables affect the extreme event of interest. Simulations are often repeated many times with small changes in the initial atmospheric or other conditions to estimate some uncertainties and sensitivities. Figures S.2 and S.3 provide examples of model-based attribution for the extreme heat events in Russia during summer 2010 and the extreme flooding events in England and Wales during autumn 2000, respectively.

Many studies have used climate models to understand how unusual observed conditions are with respect to the distribution of possible conditions in a world that is unperturbed by humans. Models are often used to estimate the probability of occurrence of an event with human-caused climate changes (p_1) and without these changes (p_0). These estimated probabilities are often used to estimate the fraction of attributable risk FAR= (p_1 - p_0)/ p_1 or the risk ratio RR= p_1/p_0 . These model-based estimates of attributable risk or risk ratio hinge on the model used being able to reliably simulate both the event in question and any changes in this event that may occur due to human-caused climate change or another considered factor.

4



FIGURE S.2 Western Russia experienced several heat waves in summer 2010, leading to average temperatures in July 2010 exceeding the long-term observed average by more than 5°C. This extreme heat prompted questions about the potential effect of human-caused climate change. To address this question, Otto et al. (2012) use an atmospheric general circulation model to produce hundreds of simulations of the climate of the 2000s (blue circles) and of the 1960s (green circles). Defining heat waves as having high temperatures and anti-cyclonic circulation anomaly (associated with persistent conditions), they examined how likely it would be for temperature to exceed a given magnitude. Using this approach, the authors concluded that the average observed temperature during July 2010 of nearly 25°C was significantly more likely in the 2000s than in the 1960s, corresponding to a shift from a 99-year return time to a 33-year return time (downward black arrow; horizontal arrow explained in Figure 2.1). SOURCE: Figure courtesy of Friederike Otto, adapted from Otto et al. (2012).

Some recent studies have also used models to attempt to follow the evolution of a particular extreme weather event, for example, through the use of a set of short-term forecasts using a weather model. This allows detailed study of particular extreme events with a model capable of representing those specific events with fidelity and quantification of the effect of certain aspects of climate change (e.g., increased moisture-holding capacity of a warmer atmosphere) in which there is high confidence. Such studies cannot fully address frequency of occurrence since the results are highly conditional on the initial state of the atmosphere and land surface that is specified to the model, and on the specific sea-surface conditions that prevailed at the time of the event. With these constraints, it may be possible to estimate changes in event magnitude or changes in the frequency of exceedance above or below a given event magnitude, conditional on all else that is required to be specified to make the short term forecasts. However, it is not

Summary



FIGURE S.3 In England and Wales, October and November 2000 were the wettest autumn months since records began in 1766, resulting in widespread flooding and substantial damages. Pall et al. (2011) examine the sensitivity of the change in the frequency of occurrence of extremely high river runoff in England and Wales for autumn 2000 using different climate models to simulate a world in which humans were not influencing climate (see Chapter 3). Blue is the modeled return time for 2000 runoff (identical in each panel) against frequency of occurrence, while colored dots show the return times in a world that might have been, constructed by removing the pattern of human influence on SSTs from four different climate models: HadCM3 (brown, a), GFDL (purple, b), PCM (pink, c) and MIROC (orange, d). The horizontal black line on each panel corresponds to the highest daily runoff observed during these two months. SOURCE: Pall et al., 2011.

possible to study whether the likelihood of the occurrence of similar initial states and seasurface conditions has changed.

ASSESSMENT OF CURRENT CAPABILITIES

Event attribution is more reliable when based on sound physical principles, consistent evidence from observations, and numerical models that can replicate the event. The ability to attribute the causes of some extreme event types has advanced rapidly since the emergence of event attribution science a little over a decade ago, while attribution of other event types remains challenging. In general, confidence in attribution results is strongest for extreme event types that:

 have a long-term historical record of observations to place the event in an appropriate historical context;

- are simulated adequately in climate models⁵; and
- are either purely meteorological in nature (i.e., the event is not strongly influenced by built infrastructure, resource management actions, etc.) or occur in circumstances where these confounding factors can be carefully and reliably considered.

Non-meteorological factors can limit the accuracy of model simulations of extreme events and confound observational records. Drought and wildfire are examples of events for which non-meteorological factors can be especially challenging in attribution studies.

Furthermore, confidence in attribution results that indicate an influence from anthropogenic climate change is strongest when:

• there is an understood and robustly simulated physical mechanism that relates a given class of extreme events to long-term anthropogenic climate changes such as global-scale temperature increase or increases in water content of a warmer atmosphere.

More frequent occurrences of extreme heat and less frequent occurrences of extreme cold are examples of changes that are consistent with increasing global mean temperatures.

Using this set of criteria, the committee assessed their confidence in event attribution capabilities for different extreme event types, as illustrated in Figure S.4 and Table S.1.

Confidence in attribution findings of anthropogenic influence is greatest for those extreme events that are related to an aspect of temperature, such as the observed long-term warming of the regional or global climate, where there is little doubt that human activities have caused an observed change. In particular, for extreme heat and cold events, changes in long-term mean conditions provide a basis for expecting that there should also be related changes in extreme conditions. Heavy rainfall is influenced by a moister atmosphere, which is a relatively direct consequence of human-induced warming, though not as direct as the increase in temperature itself. The frequencies and intensities of tropical cyclones and severe convective storms are related to large-scale climate parameters whose relationships to climate are understood to varying degrees, but in general are more complex and less direct than changes in either temperature or water vapor alone. However, atmospheric circulation and dynamics play some role in the development of an extreme event, which is different for different event types. Changes in atmospheric circulation and dynamics are generally less directly controlled by temperature, less robustly simulated by climate models, and less well understood.

⁵ By "adequately," the committee means that at a minimum, climate models used for event attribution need to accurately capture the spatial patterns and variability of relevant climate-related phenomena. See Table S.1 and Box 4.1 for the committee's assessment of the capabilities of climate models to simulate each event type.

Summary





Understanding of effect of climate change on event type

FIGURE S.4 Schematic depiction of this report's assessment of the state of attribution science for different event types. The horizontal position of each event type reflects an assessment of the level of understanding of the effect of climate change on the event type, and corresponds to the right-most column of Table S.1. The vertical position of each event type indicates an assessment of scientific confidence in current capabilities for attribution of specific events to anthropogenic climate change for that event type, and draws upon all three columns of Table S.1. A position below the 1:1 line indicates an assessment that there is potential for improvement in attribution capability through technical progress alone (such as improved modeling, or the recovery of additional historical data), which would move the symbol upward. A position above the 1:1 line is not possible because this would indicate confident attribution in the absence of adequate understanding. In all cases, there is potential to increase event attribution confidence by overcoming remaining challenges that limit the current level of understanding. See Box 4.1 for more detail.

PREPUBLICATION COPY

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

8

TABLE S.1 This table, along with Figure S.4, provides an overall assessment of the state of event attribution science for different event types. In each category of extreme event, the committee has provided an estimate of confidence (high, medium, and low) in the capabilities of climate models to simulate an event class, the quality and length of the observational record from a climate perspective, and understanding of the physical mechanisms that lead to changes in extremes as a result of climate change. The entries in the table, which are presented in approximate order of overall confidence as displayed in Figure S.3, are based on the available literature and are the product of committee deliberation and judgement. Additional supporting information for each category can be found in the text of Chapter 4. The assessments of climate models capabilities apply to models with spatial resolutions (100km or coarser) that are representative of the large majority of models participating in CMIP5 (i.e., Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5). Individual global and regional models operating at higher resolutions may have better capabilities for some event types, but in these cases, confidence may still be limited due to an inability to assess model-related uncertainty. The assessments of the observational record apply only to those parts of the world for which data are available and are freely exchanged for research. Most long records rely on in-situ observations, and these are not globally complete for any of the event types listed in this table, although coverage is generally reasonable for the more densely populated parts of North America and its adjacent ocean regions.

| • = high • = medium \bigcirc = low | Capabilities of Climate Models to Simulate Event Class | Quality/Length of the Observational Record | Understanding of Physical Mechanisms that Lead to Changes in Extremes as a Result of Climate Change |
|--|--|---|--|
| Extreme cold events | • | • | • |
| Extreme heat events | • | • | • |
| Droughts | 0 | 0 | ο |
| Extreme rainfall | 0 | ο | ο |
| Extreme snow and ice storms | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Tropical cyclones | 0 | 0 | ο |
| Extratropical cyclones | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Wildfires | 0 | ο | 0 |
| Severe convective storms | 0 | 0 | 0 |

Summary

Event attribution can be further complicated by the existence of other factors that contribute to the severity of impacts. For example, while many studies have linked an increase in wildfires to climate change, the risk of any individual fire depends on past forest management, natural climate variability, human activities in the forest, and possibly other factors, in addition to any exacerbation by human-caused climate change.

Confidence in attribution analyses of specific extreme events is highest for extreme heat and cold events, followed by hydrological drought and heavy precipitation. There is little or no confidence in the attribution of severe convective storms and extratropical cyclones. Confidence in the attribution of specific events generally increases with increased understanding of the effect of climate change on the event type. Gaps in understanding and limitations in the historical data lead to differences in confidence in attribution of specific events among different event types.

Attribution of events to anthropogenic climate change may be complicated by low-frequency natural variability, which influences the frequencies of extreme events on decadal to multidecadal timescales. The Pacific Decadal Oscillation and the Atlantic Multidecadal Oscillation are examples of such variability. Characterization of these influences is uncertain because the observed record is too short to do so reliably or assess if climate models simulate these modes of variability correctly.

PRESENTING AND INTERPRETING EXTREME EVENT ATTRIBUTION STUDIES

Given the relative newness of the event attribution field, standards have not yet been established for how to present results, which can make their interpretation difficult, particularly if conflicting evidence is available. Most event attribution studies are subject to substantial uncertainty. Results also hinge on how the event that is analyzed is defined, the specific questions that are posed, the assumptions made when analyzing the event, and the data, modeling, and statistical tools used to conduct the analysis. It is therefore essential to communicate the event definition, event attribution questions, assumptions, and choices clearly when reporting on the outcome of an event attribution study. The technical nature of this information makes it challenging to accurately communicate results, uncertainties, and limitations to the broader public.

There is no single best method or set of assumptions for event attribution, as these depend heavily on the framing of the question and the amount of time available to answer it. Time constraints may themselves affect framing and methodological choices by limiting analyses to approaches that can be undertaken quickly.

A definitive answer to the commonly asked question of whether climate change "caused" a particular event to occur cannot usually be provided in a deterministic sense because natural variability almost always plays a role. Many conditions must align to set up a particular event. Extreme events are generally influenced by a specific weather situation, and all events occur in a climate system that has been changed by human influences. Event attribution studies generally estimate how the intensity or frequency of an event or class of events has been altered by climate change (or by another factor, such as low-frequency natural variability). Thus, examples of questions that the scientific community can attempt to address include:

10

- "Are events of this severity becoming more or less likely because of climate change?"
- "To what extent was the storm intensified or weakened, or its precipitation increased or decreased, because of climate change?"

Statements about attribution are sensitive to the way the questions are posed and the context within which they are posed. For example, when defining an event, choices must be made about defining the duration of the event (when did it begin and when did it end) and the geographic area it impacted, but this may not be straightforward for some events (e.g., heat waves). Furthermore, different physical variables may be studied (e.g., drought might be characterized by a period with insufficient precipitation, excessively dry soil, or reduced stream flow) and different metrics can be used to determine how extreme an event was (e.g., frequency, magnitude). Whether an observation- or model-based approach is used, and the observations and/or models available for studying the event, will also constrain the sorts of questions that can be posed.

Attribution studies of individual events should not be used to draw general conclusions about the impact of climate change on extreme events as a whole. Events that have been selected for attribution studies to date are not a representative sample (e.g., events affecting areas with high population and extensive infrastructure will attract the greatest demand for information from stakeholders). Also, events that are becoming less likely because of climate change (e.g., cold extremes) will be studied less often because they occur less often than events whose frequency is increasing because of climate change. Furthermore, attribution of individual events is generally more difficult than characterizing the statistical distribution of events of a given type and its dependence on climate. For example, it may be possible to make confident statements about how some class of extreme events is expected to change because of human-induced climate change, while at the same time an attribution study of an individual event of that type may be unable to make a confident statement about the human influence on that one specific event. Thus for all of these reasons, counts of available attribution studies with either positive, negative, or neutral results are not expected to give a reliable indication of the overall importance of human influence on extreme events.

Unambiguous interpretation of an event attribution study is possible only when the assumptions and choices that were made in conducting the study are clearly stated and uncertainties are carefully estimated. The framing of event attribution questions, which may depend strongly on the intended application of the study results, determine how the event will be studied and can lead to large differences in the interpretation of the results. Event attribution studies presented in the following manner are less likely to be misinterpreted:

- Assumptions about the state of one or more aspects of the climate system at the time of the event (e.g., sea surface temperature anomalies, atmospheric circulation regimes, specific weather situations) are clearly communicated.
- Estimates of changes in both magnitude and frequency are provided, with accompanying estimates of uncertainty, so users can understand the estimated degree of change from the different perspectives.

Summary

- Estimates of changes in frequency are presented as a risk ratio, that is, in terms of the ratio of the probability of the event in a world with human-caused climate change to its probability in a world without human-caused climate change. Equivalently, one can compare the return periods of the event (i.e., how rarely an event occurs) in the world without climate change to that in the world with climate change.
- The impact of assumptions (e.g., of how estimates of changes in magnitude and frequency depend on sea surface temperature anomalies or atmospheric circulation regimes) is discussed.
- Statements of confidence accompany results so users understand the strength of the evidence.

Bringing multiple scientifically appropriate approaches together, including multiple models and multiple studies helps distinguish results that are robust from those that are much more sensitive to how the question is posed and the approach taken. For example, robust attribution analyses typically show that the results are qualitatively similar across a range of event definitions, acknowledging that quantitative results are expected to differ somewhat because of differences in definition. Utilizing multiple methods to estimate human influences on a given event also partially addresses the challenge of characterizing the many sources of uncertainty in event attribution.

Examples of multiple components that can lead to more robust conclusions include:

- Estimates of event probabilities or magnitudes based on an appropriate modeling approach that has been shown to adequately reproduce the event and its circumstances, such as the dynamic situation leading to the event.
- Reliable observations against which the model has been evaluated and that give an indication of whether the event in question has changed over time in a manner that is consistent with the model-based attribution.
- Assessment of the extent to which the result is consistent with the physical understanding of climate change's influence on the class of events in question.
- Clear communication of remaining uncertainties and assumptions made or conditions imposed on the analysis.

THE PATH FORWARD

Improving Extreme Event Attribution Capabilities

Continued research efforts are necessary to increase the reliability of event attribution results, particularly for classes of events for which attribution of is presently poorly understood. Some of this research is covered in the ongoing work to understand the connection between climate change and long-term statistics of extremes. Improvements in attribution capability for all event types require improvements in observations, models, theoretical understanding of the links between climate change and extremes, and analysis techniques.

A focused effort to improve understanding of specific aspects of weather and climate extremes could improve the ability to perform extreme event attribution. Because extreme event attribution relies strongly on all aspects of the understanding of extremes and their challenges, the committee endorses the recommendations identified in the *World Climate Research Programme Grand Challenge: Understanding and Predicting Weather and Climate Extremes* (Box S.1; Zhang et al., 2014) as necessary to make advances in event attribution.

In particular, this committee recommends research that aims to improve event attribution capabilities, which includes increasing the understanding of:

- the role of dynamics and thermodynamics in the development of extreme events;
- the model characteristics that are required to reliably reproduce extreme events of different types and scales;
- changes in natural variability, including the interplay between a changing climate and natural variability, and characterization of the skill of models to represent low frequency natural variability in regional climate phenomena and circulation;
- the various sources of uncertainty that arise from the use of models in event attribution;
- how different levels of conditioning (i.e., the process of limiting an attribution analysis to particular types of weather or climate situations) lead to apparently different results when studying the same event;
- the statistical methods used for event attribution, objective criteria for event selection, and development of event attribution evaluation methods;
- the effects of non-climate causes—such as changes in the built environment (e.g., increasing area of urban impervious surfaces and heat island effects, land cover changes), natural resource management practices (e.g., fire suppression), coastal and river management (e.g., dredging, seawalls), agricultural practices (e.g., tile drainage), and other human activities—in determining the impacts of an extreme event;
- expected trends in future extreme events to help inform adaptation or mitigation strategies (e.g., calculating changes in return periods to show how the risk from extreme events may change in the future); and
- the representation of a counterfactual world that reliably characterizes the probability, magnitude, and circumstances of events in the absence of human influence on climate.

Research efforts targeted specifically at extreme events, including event attribution, could rapidly improve capabilities and lead to more reliable results. In particular, there are opportunities to better coordinate existing research efforts to further accelerate the development of the science and improve and quantify event attribution reliability. Also, it would be beneficial to encourage interdisciplinary research at the interface between the climate, weather and statistical sciences to improve analysis methods. Event attribution capabilities would be improved with better observational records, both near-real time and for historical context. Long homogeneous observed records are essential for placing events into a historical context and evaluating to what

Summary

BOX S.1

Key recommendations from the WCRP Grand Challenge: Understanding and Predicting Weather and Climate Extremes (Zhang et al., 2014)

- substantial advances in modelling (including but not limited to model resolution)
- advances in the understanding of the physical mechanisms leading to extremes
- increased effort to extend the historical observational record, including planned climate quality reanalyses over longer historical periods
- improvements in remote sensing products that extend long enough to document trends and sample extremes

extent climate models reliably simulate the effect of decadal climate variability on extremes.

Event attribution could be improved by the development of transparent community standards for attributing classes of extreme events. Such standards could include an assessment of model quality in relation to the event/event class. They could also include use of multiple lines of evidence, developing a transparent link to a detected change that influences events in question, and clear communication of sensitivities of the result to how the question of event attribution is asked.

Systematic criteria for selecting events to be analyzed would minimize selection bias and permit systematic evaluation of event attribution performance, which is important for enhancing confidence in attribution results. Studies of a representative sample of extreme events would allow stakeholders to use such studies as a tool for understanding how individual events fit into the broader picture of climate change. Irrespective of the method or related choices, it would be useful to develop a set of objective event selection and definition criteria. This would help to reduce selection bias and in some cases lead to methodological improvements. This is also a prerequisite for the development of a formalized approach to evaluating event attribution results and uncertainty estimates, similar to existing approaches used to evaluate weather forecasts.

Event Attribution in an Operational Context

As more researchers begin to attempt event attribution, their efforts would benefit from coordination to make sure that there is a systematic approach and that uncertainties are explored across methods and framing. Event attribution can benefit from links to operational numerical weather prediction where available. Some groups are moving toward the development of operational extreme event attribution systems to systematically evaluate the causes of extreme events based on predefined and tested methods. Objective approaches to compare and contrast the analyses among multiple different research groups based on agreed event selection criteria are yet to be developed.

In the committee's view, attributes of a successful operational event attribution system would include:

• objective event-selection criteria to reduce selection bias so stakeholders understand how individual events fit into the broader picture of climate change;

14

- provision of stakeholder information about causal factors within days of an event, followed by periodic updates as more data and analysis results become available;
- clear communication of key messages to stakeholders about the methods and framing choices as well as the associated uncertainties and probabilities; and
- reliable assessments of performance of the event attribution system through evaluation and verification processes utilizing observations and seasonal forecasts and skill scores similar to those used routinely in weather forecasting.

Some future event attribution activities could benefit from being linked to an integrated weather-to-climate forecasting effort on a range of timescales. The development of such an activity could be based on concepts and practices within the Numerical Weather Prediction community. Ultimately the goal would be to provide predictive (probabilistic) forecasts of future extreme events at lead times of days to seasons or longer, accounting for natural variability and anthropogenic influences. These forecasts would be verified and evaluated using observations, and their routine production would enable the development and application of appropriate skill scores. The activity would involve rigorous approaches to managing and implementing system enhancements to continually improve models, physical understanding, and observations focused on extreme events. Although situating some future event attribution activities in an integrated weather-to-climate forecasting effort would lead to more coordination, the committee encourages continued research in event attribution outside of an operational context to ensure further innovation in the field.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The ability to understand and explain extreme events in the context of climate change has developed very rapidly over the past decade. In the past, a typical climate scientist's response to questions about climate change's role in any given extreme weather event was "we cannot attribute any single event to climate change." The science has advanced to the point that this is no longer true as an unqualified blanket statement. In many cases, it is now often possible to make and defend quantitative statements about the extent to which human-induced climate change (or another causal factor, such as a specific mode of natural variability) has influenced either the magnitude or the probability of occurrence of specific types of events or event classes. The science behind such statements has advanced a great deal in recent years and is still evolving rapidly. Still further advances are necessary, particularly with respect to evaluating and communicating event attribution results and ensuring that event attribution studies meet the information needs of stakeholders. Further improvement will depend not only on addressing scientific problems specific to attribution, but also on advances in the basic underlying science, including observations, modeling, and theoretical understanding of extreme events and their relation to climate change.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Extreme weather and climate events (e.g., heat waves, droughts, heavy rainfall, hurricanes) have always posed risks to human society. A matter of growing interest, however, is the degree to which humans are changing these risks through anthropogenic climate change. This concern has been driven by the growing impacts on ecosystems, communities, and infrastructure of recent extreme events across the United States and the world.

Efforts to attribute the causes of individual extreme events need to be understood in the broader context of what we already know about climate change. Humans have contributed to warming of the climate system globally (predominantly due to anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions). This finding is supported by multiple lines of evidence that originate from data from observing systems across the globe on land and sea and in the atmosphere, and structurally different analyses of multiple components of the climate system. There is also a substantial body of evidence showing that climate change has led to discernible and quantifiable changes in the intensity and/or frequency of some types of extremes (Donat et al., 2013; IPCC, 2014; Melillo et al., 2014; Seneviratne et al., 2012; Figure 1.1).

Extreme weather is one way that people experience climate change. Extreme events are abrupt, occur in the present, and are highly visible, as opposed to long-term climate change trends that seem abstract, distant, gradual, and complicated (Howe et al., 2014). The global news includes reports on extreme weather or climate events on a regular basis, including a "1,000-Year rainfall event" in South Carolina in October (Figure 1.2), a May-June India-Pakistan heat wave, and Hurricane Patricia, the "strongest eastern Pacific or Atlantic hurricane in the historical record," as well as widespread flooding in Northern England in December, all in 2015. Each of these cases has led to questions from the media and the public about whether the events were "caused" by climate change. Attribution draws the explicit connection between climate science as a whole and the specific event in the news, making the science concrete in a way that statements about broader trends and future projections do not.

WHY INVESTIGATE THE CAUSES OF EXTREME EVENTS?

Given that climate change affects the climate system globally, it is impossible to rule out some contribution from climate change to any extreme event. However, each extreme event has a host of possible natural and anthropogenic causes in addition to anthropogenic climate change. Examples of natural causes include large-scale circulation, internal modes of climate variability, and some aerosol effects (e.g., marine aerosol, stratospheric and volcanic aerosol). Further, the resulting impacts of that event can be mitigated or exacerbated by other factors (e.g., the local topography, land use).



FIGURE 1.1 This probability density function captures the likelihood of specified events resulting from a given temperature distribution and its changes. As with any bell curve, those events that fall near the center (events occurring in a mid-range temperature state) are most likely, and events that occur in lower and upper temperature extremes have smaller probability. A world with climate change could have different effects on the probability of extreme values of the distribution. For example, (a) a simple shift of the entire distribution toward a warmer climate could lead to fewer cold weather and extreme cold weather events and more hot weather and extreme hot weather events. Alternatively, (b) increased temperature variability of mid-range temperature events. In a third example, (c) an altered shape of the temperature distribution could result in no change in the mean, but differing likelihoods in extreme events on both ends of the temperature spectrum (in this example, a change in asymmetry toward the hotter part of the distribution). SOURCE: IPCC, 2012.

Chapter 1: Introduction



FIGURE 1.2 Historic flooding in South Carolina in October 2015. SOURCE: Chuck Burton/Associated Press

There are several motivations for investigating the causes of individual extreme events. From a scientific perspective, these studies increase our understanding of how and why the frequency and intensity of extremes has changed over time. These studies may also spur model improvements to ensure the models used in event attribution studies adequately represent the event being studied. There is an element of scientific curiosity. But the primary motivation for event attribution goes beyond science.

Extreme events are directly traceable to loss of life, rising food and energy prices, increasing costs of disaster relief and insurance, fluctuations in property values, and concerns about national security. Extreme events can and have evoked policy changes (for example, Superstorm Sandy led to supplemental Congressional legislation to increase the National Weather Service's numerical weather modeling capacity⁶). Further, global insurer Munich Re calculated that natural disasters caused over \$90 billion in overall losses and \$27 billion in insured losses in 2015 alone (NatCatService, 2016).⁷ A study in the Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society (BAMS; Lazo et al., 2011) noted that weather affects about 3.4% of the U.S. Gross Domestic Product, or more than \$500 billion per year.

The strong societal impacts of extreme events explain public and policymaker interest in understanding their underlying causes. In addition, it is important to assess what is known about climate and non-climate causes of such events in order to evaluate whether they are likely to pose increasing risks to life and property in particular regions in the future. As is established in this report and many others, the climate contribution to risk associated with some kinds of extreme events is expected to increase over time as the concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere increases. However, some of the

⁶ See https://www.ametsoc.org/boardpges/cwce/docs/profiles/MurphyJohnD/2013-08-SCM.pdf.

⁷ NatCatSERVICE is a natural catastrophe loss database that analyzes approximately 1,000 events every year.
anticipated impacts can be reduced through management strategies such as land use planning if the connections between climate change and extreme events like intense precipitation are better understood. Such planning would ideally be based on a broad risk assessment, including projections of future trends in extreme events, and need not rely specifically on attribution of individual events.

As they improve, event attribution studies can be a tool for informing choices about assessing and managing risk and guiding adaptation strategies. Such information may be critical to multiple decision-makers including insurers, elected officials and policymakers, local and regional land and resource managers, zoning and infrastructure planners and engineers, litigators, and emergency managers who focus on disaster risk reduction.

OVERVIEW OF EXTREME EVENT ATTRIBUTION RESEARCH

In the past decade, the field of extreme event attribution has moved from generalized statements about expecting certain events to increase in frequency or magnitude, to documented increases in frequency or intensity of extreme events, to probability-based attribution of individual events. Following an extreme climate or weather event, the standard response from scientists has typically been that global warming does not "cause" any single event in a deterministic sense, but it can make some of them more likely to occur or more intense when they do. However, because of advances in the relatively young science of extreme event attribution, it is now possible in some cases to provide quantitative information about how climate change may have impacted the probability or intensity of an individual event, and cast this within a probabilistic causal framework.

In 2004, in perhaps the first attempt at extreme event attribution, Stott et al. showed that climate change had at least doubled the chance of the record-breaking 2003 European summer heat wave that has been associated with the death of more than 70,000 people by some accounts (Robine et al., 2008). Since then, advances in the field have prompted numerous studies (e.g., the 2010 Russian heat wave [Dole et al., 2011; Otto et al., 2012]; the Texas drought and heat wave in 2011 [Hoerling et al., 2013; Rupp et al., 2012]; and the ongoing California drought [Cheng et al., 2016; Diffenbaugh et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2015]). The Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society (BAMS) now publishes annual special issues on event attribution (Herring, 2014; Herring et al., 2015b; Peterson et al., 2012, 2013b), which include a compilation of short studies on events that occurred during the previous year. An indication of the developing interest in event attribution is highlighted by the fact that in four years (2012-2015), the number of papers increased from 6 to 32.

Detection and Attribution of Long-Term Changes

Many elements of extreme event attribution research are derived from the more mature field of detection and attribution of long-term changes in the characteristics of the climate, such as changes in the frequency or intensity of extremes as well as changes in average climatic conditions.

Chapter 1: Introduction

The primary approach used in detection and attribution research is to compare observations (e.g., of spatial patterns of decadal mean temperatures) to expected changes derived from climate model simulations. The methods used for detection of change continue to evolve, but have repeatedly been demonstrated to be robust to variations in methodology (see for example, Allen and Stott, 2003; the appendices in Hegerl, 2007, and Bindoff et al., 2013; the review of Hegerl and Zwiers, 2011; and recent papers that suggest further changes to the methods, such as Ribes et al., 2013, 2015; Ribes and Terray, 2013; and Hannart et al., 2015a).

Considerations Specific to Attribution of Extreme Events

Attribution is defined as the process of evaluating the relative contributions of multiple causal factors to a change or event with an assignment of statistical confidence⁸ (Hegerl et al., 2010). Many causal factors impact any given extreme event, so attribution to any of them could be studied in principle. Our statement of task covers attribution to both human-induced climate change and natural variability. In a number of respects, the scientific issues are similar whether human influence or natural variability is being assessed in an attribution study, so much of our discussion is general. Where attribution to human influence raises distinct scientific issues, our discussion prioritizes those, and our conclusions and recommendations do as well.

The occurrence of any individual extreme event, by itself, does not prove or disprove that the climate is changing. However, event attribution studies seek to calculate how much human-induced climate change has affected an individual event's magnitude or probability of occurrence (Stott et al., 2015).

Conclusions regarding attribution of extreme events are strongly affected by the way "extreme" is defined by scientists. Seneviratne et al. (2012) defines climate extremes (extreme weather or climate events) as "The occurrence of a value of a weather or climate variable above (or below) a threshold value near the upper (or lower) ends of the range of observed values of the variable." In fact, the threshold that is selected as "extreme" is generally based on 20th century observations, but the baseline of what is "normal" is changing over time. In the future, events that are currently considered extreme may eventually be considered normal. Therefore, scientists generally establish metrics to characterize the extreme nature of the event being attributed in the context of a baseline period.

There are several important challenges related to event attribution (discussed in more detail in other chapters) including defining and interpreting an "event" and characterizing a "cause," or a causal link. Further issues arise from the many different ways that scientists (who are often working with different sources of data and models) describe the degree of certainty about their findings and characterize the uncertainty.

⁸ In practice, not all attribution studies include statistical confidence.

THIS STUDY AND THE COMMITTEE'S APPROACH

This committee was asked to examine the science of attribution of extreme weather events to human-caused climate change and natural variability by reviewing current understanding and capabilities; assessing the robustness of the methods; providing guidance for interpreting analyses; and identifying priority research needs (see Appendix A for the full statement of task).

This study is sponsored by the Department of Energy (DOE), the Heising Simons Foundation, the Litterman Family Foundation, The David and Lucile Packard Foundation, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), and the National Academy of Sciences. Beyond the sponsors, the intended audiences for this report are the scientific community, decision makers, and the media. The committee's goal for this report is to provide these audiences guidance in interpreting new attribution studies and on the robustness of extreme event attribution science. The committee also hopes that this report guides future support and development of high priority attribution and detection projects.

Although it is clear to the committee that communication is a critical issue in extreme event attribution, communication is not discussed in detail in this report, as it is not part of the committee's charge. Indeed, a careful and comprehensive treatment of the many issues associated with science communication related to climate attribution could be a study in its own right. However, the committee recognizes the importance of communicating clearly and accurately framing any climate-related issue. Framing of event attribution questions—how they are posed, and the context within which they are posed—is a key issue, both in terms of communicating study results and in designing and conducting event attribution studies (e.g., Otto et al., 2013; Otto et al., 2015a; Trenberth et al., 2015). Different event framing can lead to large differences in the interpretation of evidence of whether human influence on the climate system played a role. The committee has included a detailed discussion on the framing of extreme event attribution questions in Chapter 2 and offers guidance on communicating event attribution study results in Chapter 3.

Although this report focuses almost exclusively on the physical aspects of the causes of extreme events, including the effect of anthropogenic climate change, it is important to acknowledge that there are significant human aspects (other than human induced greenhouse gas emissions) that influence the severity of extreme events. This includes the perception of what is regarded as being "extreme" and the role that human activity plays in creating the vulnerability and exposure that determines the impacts of extreme events (Cardona, 2012). Event attribution is important because of its relationships to risk perception, disaster risk, climate change adaptation, disaster risk reduction, communication, and decision-making. Human behavior can either exacerbate or mitigate the impacts of extreme events. For these reasons, understanding the social, ethical and human behavior issues that are connected to the experience of extreme events are important research needs.

Chapter 1: Introduction

REPORT ROADMAP

This report focuses on several topics related to the committee's statement of task. Chapter 2 discusses the framing of event attribution questions. Chapter 3 discusses the challenges and uncertainties associated with the implementation of the different approaches to extreme event attribution. In Chapter 4 the committee provides an evaluation of the robustness of the attribution work that has been completed for specific types of extreme events as well as identifying anticipated progress in research efforts. Chapter 5 provides guidance for future research.

PREPUBLICATION COPY

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

"What we observe is not nature itself, but nature exposed to our method of questioning." —Werner Heisenberg

To answer a question scientifically, the question needs to be posed in a way that is amenable to scientific analysis. The question often asked by the public and the media, "Was this extreme event caused by anthropogenic climate change, yes or no?" is not well posed because "cause" can have several different meanings. For a record-breaking extreme event, a potential rephrasing of this question might be "Could an event of this severity have happened in this location and time of year without climate change?" Generally speaking the answer will be "yes" because observational records are too short to have well sampled the full range of climate possibilities. In this case a more informative rephrasing of the question could be "Are events of this severity becoming more or less likely because of climate change?" For a weather event such as a storm, which in detail is always unique, a potential rephrasing of the question might be "To what extent was the storm intensified, or its precipitation increased, because of climate change?"

How event attribution questions are posed, and the context within which they are posed, is referred to as *framing*. The developing literature on event attribution has shown that the framing of questions is fundamental to the choice of method that is used and can lead to large differences in the interpretation of evidence of whether human influence on the climate system played a role. This chapter explores the different ways in which event attribution studies can be framed.

The chapter begins with a number of framing issues that arise in any event attribution study. It goes on to discuss the additional framing issues that arise when the attribution is conditional on the state of the climate system (e.g., for a given sea surface temperature (SST) pattern, such as that associated with ENSO (El Niño–Southern Oscillation), a naturally occurring source of interannual variability). Since all event attribution is performed and interpreted within the broader context of the scientific understanding of climate change, this too represents part of the framing and so is explicitly discussed in that vein. The interest in extreme events is typically driven by their impacts on society, which raises further framing issues when non-climate anthropogenic factors come into play. Finally, the choice of which events to study is also an aspect of framing, so the possible role of selection bias in affecting the interpretation of collections of attribution studies is discussed.

GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

The traditional and perhaps easiest-to-interpret approach to event attribution estimates probabilities of events related in some way to the observed event using model simulations or observational data. It does this for both the *factual (currently observable)* world as it exists in the context of climate change, and a hypothetical counterfactual

world without climate change; the difference between the factual and counterfactual probabilities is taken to represent the effect of climate change.

Attribution refers to causation, but there are different kinds of causation. In the classical (deterministic) context, causation can be either necessary or sufficient, and these concepts have probabilistic counterparts (Hannart et al., 2015b; Pearl, 2009). Necessary causation means that the event can only occur in the presence of the causal factor, but it could be that other causal factors are necessary too. This situation of multiple causation is typical with weather-related extremes, where many conditions must align to set up a particular event. An example would be a record-breaking heat wave that occurred in the presence of a summertime blocking anti-cyclonic circulation, a condition known to lead to heat waves. One possibility is that the observed temperature conditions could have occurred in either the factual or the counterfactual world (and just had not previously been observed because of the shortness of the observational record), but that the likelihood is substantially higher in the factual world because of the increase in mean temperature. Another possibility is that the temperature conditions would have been effectively impossible in the counterfactual world, and were only possible in the factual world (though still rare) because of the mean warming. In this latter case, it may be said that the event could only have occurred because of climate change.

In contrast, sufficient causation concerns whether the presence of the causal factor alone is enough in order for the event to occur. For extreme events, for which the probability of an event is generally low, climate change (which is always present in the factual climate) cannot be a sufficient cause. Sufficient causation would only arise when climate change has caused an event to have become very likely and no longer be extreme in the current climate, only relative to the historical baseline.

Interpretation of Single Events and Causation

Event attribution questions are often posed in terms of a specific actual event, but definitive attribution of a specific event in a deterministic manner is generally not possible. This is because on the one hand, most events could have happened in the counterfactual world (so the probability of necessary causation is less than 100%), while on the other hand, the entire climate system, and therefore all extreme events, are being affected by climate change, as discussed further below, thereby obviating the question. Therefore, event attribution is usually a matter of changing probabilities rather than a deterministic yes or no. For example, a scientific researcher might re-pose the question "was Hurricane Sandy caused by climate change" as "by how much did human influence on climate increase the odds of a tropical or post-tropical storm with winds greater than 65 knots making landfall in northern New Jersey?" Moreover, analysts necessarily estimate relevant probabilities using more than just the event in question. In fact, probabilities are usually estimated using a definition of an event that differs from the specific event, such as by estimating the probability of an event as or more extreme than the event of interest. As a result, the answers obtained are no longer directly about the actual event. Epidemiology concentrates heavily on such a probabilistic framing, which is discussed in relation to other possible framings in Parascandola and Weed (2001). For example, Rothman's Epidemiology text (Rothman, 2012) frames strength of causation as relating to probabilities that pertain to collections of events, in contrast to his

deterministic perspective on individual events: "With respect to an individual case of disease, however, every component cause that played a role was necessary to the occurrence of that case."

Hannart et al. (2015b) present a causal framework for event attribution that provides probabilities of necessary and of sufficient causation. They show that the metric known as the Fraction of Attributable Risk (FAR), which was introduced to extreme event attribution by Allen (2003), can be interpreted as an estimate of the probability of necessary causation (by anthropogenic forcing) of an event. It is interesting to note that the argument made by Allen (2003) for interpreting the FAR as applying to an individual event was actually a legal one rather than a physical one; namely that an uninsured loss should be equated with the cost of insurance against a similar loss.

However, the FAR is perhaps the easiest to interpret when an "event" is taken to be a class of events (e.g., all events as intense or more intense than the event that has been observed) rather than an individual event. In this case, a FAR of 80% would mean that 4 of 5 events belonging to the class of events in the factual world would not have happened in the counterfactual world. This interpretation corresponds to the probabilities that are currently estimated in event attribution studies, which are not those of the actual event but are of a broader class.

While Hannart et al (2015b) provides some very useful insights, a focus on formal analysis of causation may distract attention from important questions about changing probabilities of extreme events and their impacts on risk, which may be the more important questions from scientific and impacts/adaptation perspectives. Physically, the notion that an event may not have been affected by climate change can be difficult to justify in a climate system in which everything is connected. This point is made by Trenberth (2012), Hansen et al. (2014b), and Solow (2015), who suggest that given the pervasive effects of anthropogenic influence on the climate (unlike, for example, the isolated effect of smoking on an individual smoker), it may not make sense to speak about whether an event has or has not been caused or affected by anthropogenic influence, as all events are occurring in a world influenced by anthropogenic climate change, but one can still clearly talk about changes in probability.

Frequency Versus Magnitude

If an extreme event truly is rare in the current climate, then almost by definition it required some unusual meteorological situation to be present, and the effect of climate change is only a contributing factor. For example, a heat wave induced by an unusually persistent summertime atmospheric high pressure system situation (termed blocking) would be exacerbated by anthropogenic warming of several degrees Celsius (leaving aside possible amplifiers such as soil-moisture feedbacks, for simplicity), but it may have been a heat wave nonetheless. In this case, both the unusual blocking situation and the anthropogenic warming were necessary conditions to reach the recorded temperature extreme. Attribution in such a case with several necessary causal factors is heavily dependent on the framing and liable to misinterpretation. In studies of the 2010 Russian heat wave, for example, one study concluded that the event was largely natural because the temperature anomalies were greatly in excess of those explainable by long-term



FIGURE 2.1 Different ways of describing the effect of anthropogenic climate change on July heat waves over western Russia, motivated by the extreme heat wave of summer 2010. Heat waves are here defined by a combination of high temperature and anti-cyclonic circulation anomaly (associated with persistent conditions). Both figures show model estimates of the likelihood of occurrence of an extreme of at least the given magnitude for 1960s (green) and 2000s (blue) conditions, expressed either as a return time or as a probability. The top figure shows magnitude versus probability (or return time), whereas the bottom figure shows the same data plotted as probability (or return time) versus magnitude, which is related to the *cumulative* distribution function commonly encountered in statistics but here shows probability of exceedance rather than the usual probability of non-exceedance. In both panels the magnitude of the July 2010 Russian heat wave (indicated by the thin black line) corresponds to a large change in likelihood arising from climate change (from a 99-year return time to a 33-year return time, indicated by the horizontal arrow in the top figure and the vertical arrow in the bottom figure), but to a small (compared to the overall anomaly of 2010 with respect to average July conditions (dashed line)) relative change in magnitude (indicated by the vertical arrow in the top figure and the horizontal arrow in the bottom figure). SOURCE: Figure courtesy of Friederike Otto, adapted from Otto et al. (2012).

trends (Dole et al., 2011), whereas another concluded that the anthropogenic influence was significant because long-term climate change, though small, greatly increased the probability of exceeding specified temperature thresholds (Rahmstorf and Coumou, 2011). This apparent contradiction in conclusions can be reconciled by understanding that these two studies aim at answering the attribution question in two different ways. In this particular case, a small change in the magnitude of the mean can correspond to a large change in the frequency of extremes (Otto et al., 2012; see Figure 2.1) because of anthropogenic influence. Interpretation therefore ultimately depends on whether the interest in a particular type of event is predominantly related to changes in frequency for a given magnitude (which might be the case if, for example, exceedance of a fixed extreme temperature threshold leads to a marked impact such as a reduction in crop yield), or to changes in magnitude for a given frequency (which might be the case if, for example, it was required to design structures capable of withstanding the event magnitude associated with a prescribed return time).

Event Definition

In order to facilitate probabilistic analysis, a particular event is usually generalized to a broader class of event. Analyses may use the magnitude of an actual event and quantify probabilities of exceeding that observed magnitude, or they may use a percentile from the climatology in place of the magnitude of an actual event. Analyses may also focus on events over a longer time scale and larger region than of the event itself, considering the causes of the prevailing climatic conditions that provide the context for the event rather than the specifics of the event itself (e.g., Stott et al., 2004). Generally speaking, using a larger spatio-temporal footprint will emphasize more strongly the anthropogenic role (e.g., Fischer et al., 2013).

Furthermore, in some cases different physical variables may be considered. For example, studies of the recent California drought focusing on precipitation deficit have tended to find no discernible anthropogenic influence (Seager et al., 2015), while those focusing on a combination of precipitation deficit and high temperature (which affects evaporation) have tended to find an anthropogenic influence (Diffenbaugh et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2015). These different definitions of drought can lead to confusion if the difference is not recognized.

Event definitions should take the limitations of both observations and models into account. For example, if an observationally based approach (Chapter 3) is to be used to estimate changes in the probability or magnitude of an event by comparing an earlier period with a recent period, then it would be necessary to ensure that (1) the observational data are of high quality (e.g., free of non-climatic heterogeneities), (2) the record is long enough to allow reliable comparison of extremes between two subperiods, and (3) human influences are accounted for in a defensible manner and that natural influences or non-climatic human influences do not confound the estimate. In the case of model-based approaches (Chapter 3), event definitions should be constrained in such a way that the focus is on events that the model can simulate reliably and for the correct reasons.

A robust attribution analysis would show that results are qualitatively similar across a range of event definitions, acknowledging that quantitative results are expected

to differ somewhat because of differences in definition. Results for particular spatial regions or scales or particular temporal periods, seasons, or scales may differ from results for other regions, scales, or periods, but for a robust result, one would expect that results would be similar for events defined by similar characteristics, without strong sensitivity to the exact definition. One would also hope that results using different magnitudes for defining an event class would be similar, though as the magnitude becomes either non-extreme or very extreme, quantitative results are expected to differ. For example, using structurally different methods, different regions, and different seasonal temperature thresholds, Christidis et al. (2014) and Sun et al. (2014) develop qualitatively similar estimates of the FAR of an extremely warm summer in China.

Fraction of Attributable Risk Versus Risk Ratio

Another aspect of framing concerns how the difference between the factual probability p_1 and the counterfactual probability p_0 (that is, the probability of the same event in a world that is identical but for the human influence on climate) is expressed. One choice is to express it as the so-called Fraction of Attributable Risk, $FAR = (p_1 - p_2)^2 + (p_2 - p_3)^2 + (p_3 - p_3$ $p_0)/p_1$. The limitations of FAR are well recognized in other fields (e.g., see the World Health Organization statement concerning the equivalent metric used in attributing causes of disease risk⁹). One difficulty in interpretation of the FAR is its tendency to saturate at values near one for very rare events. (For very rare events, that is, events for which the estimated p_0 is very close to zero, even small increments in the estimated likelihood p_1 of the event when considering the effects of human influence lead to a FAR close to 1, with little discrimination between smaller and larger increments in p_1 relative to p_0 .) It is also not designed for describing cases where the likelihood decreases, which can be the case with climate change (e.g., of cold extremes, which in some regions have become substantially less frequent, see, e.g., Cattiaux et al., 2010, and assessment in Bindoff et al., 2013). Hannart et al. (2015b) show that the probability of necessary causation is the maximum of 0 and the calculated FAR, and will therefore be zero in cases of decreasing likelihood. Hence aggregation of attribution results using this metric would provide a biased overview of human influences on extremes.

Another important limitation occurs when events have more than one causal factor, as will generally be the case for extreme events, as discussed above. For example, one can easily imagine an extreme event that was affected both by anthropogenic factors and a particular SST anomaly pattern (such as ENSO) such that both factors cause an increase in the probability of the event, but that neither factor on its own is sufficient to make its frequency exceed a certain threshold. (Treating the factors separately assumes that the particular SST anomaly pattern is unrelated to climate change, an assumption that may or may not be justified.) If p_0 is sufficiently small, then the FAR could be close to one for both causal factors. In an event attribution study of such an event, if only anthropogenic factors were considered, then a FAR near one could easily be interpreted to mean that anthropogenic factors are fully responsible for the event even when there are other causes. Rothman (2012) points out that the sum of FAR values across multiple

⁹ See http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/metrics_paf/en/.

Another potential weakness of the FAR is that the strength of necessary causation may be confused with the strength of the statistical evidence. For example, as a probabilistic extension of necessary causality, a FAR of 0.8 could be interpreted as there being 80% likelihood that anthropogenic forcings were a necessary cause of the event. However, in analyses using statistics, "likely" is generally used to refer to the strength of the statistical evidence. To give a concrete example, one could have little statistical certainty for an estimated FAR of 0.8, with a broad confidence interval of (0.1, 0.95) that indicates considerable ignorance about the true FAR. However, a reader might be inclined to believe that one is confident of the result if the focus is solely on the single value 0.8. Alternatively, one could have high statistical certainty in a small FAR, e.g., a confidence interval of (0.05, 0.15) around an estimated FAR of 0.1, indicating little uncertainty about the true FAR. The difficulty lies in the fact that event attribution studies estimate a probability, so the discussion of likelihood may pertain to the magnitude of the estimated probability or to the uncertainty about that probability.

An alternative way of comparing probabilities is the risk ratio, $RR = p_1/p_0$. The FAR and the RR are mathematically equivalent—there is a one-to-one mapping between the two quantities—but the RR directly frames the result in terms of the relative probabilities under the two scenarios and is analogous to how epidemiological results are presented to the public. For example, a member of the public is apt to be familiar with a statement such as "Smoking increases the probability of lung cancer by a factor of X." Although the RR does not have the same causal interpretation as the FAR (Hannart et al., 2015b), that may not be disadvantageous if, as suggested earlier, the probabilistic causal interpretation of individual extreme events (as opposed to collections of events) is inappropriate in the case of climate extremes. Furthermore, a probabilities explicitly *as estimated based on the model* such that this dependence on model quality is very clear. In contrast, a causal statement about a single real-world event is a much stronger statement directly about the real world, and the dependence on the model to estimate the causal quantity may not be as easily communicated and is easily overlooked.

The Null Hypothesis

Estimating the unconditional probabilities of very rare events is extremely challenging because of observational and model limitations, and it is difficult to quantify the uncertainties in the calculations. In addition, it becomes more difficult to discern human influence at smaller spatio-temporal scales (Angelil et al., 2014; Bindoff et al., 2013; Fischer et al., 2013) because analysis on these scales offers less opportunity to reduce the magnitude of natural variability through spatial and temporal averaging or other techniques. Although it is perfectly reasonable (and even advisable; Nicholls, 2001) to report an estimated magnitude of effect with an uncertainty interval that includes zero (i.e., no effect), there is a tendency in climate science to regard such results as null results of there being no effect. However, that interpretation is incorrect: Failure to reject the null hypothesis of no effect should not be regarded as evidence in favor of there being no effect. An inability to rule out there being no effect (i.e., lack of statistical significance)

does not necessarily mean that the effect is small; it may just mean that the uncertainties are large. Therefore, it could be misleading to report a result of no detectable effect of climate change as no effect of climate change. To avoid misunderstanding, it is always advisable to focus on effect size and report confidence intervals (or Bayesian analogues) rather than focusing on statistical significance (Nicholls, 2001).

CONDITIONAL ATTRIBUTION

Rather than attempting to answer questions about changes in probability or intensity considering only the influence of external forcing, one may attempt to answer these questions after limiting or constraining the state of one or more slowly varying parts of the climate system. This "conditional attribution" approach has been used in many recent studies (Chapter 3) that investigate the role of external forcing conditional upon the prevailing pattern of SST anomalies. The reasoning is often that the SST anomaly structure likely had an influence on the atmospheric circulation that prevailed during the event, and that the effect of external forcing can be more clearly assessed by controlling for such internal influences.

A very similar approach involves conditioning on the state of the large-scale atmospheric circulation (Cattiaux et al., 2010; Yiou et al., 2007). While to date this has mainly been applied to observational analysis (Chapter 3), it could in principle be applied to a climate model through some kind of nudging.¹⁰ For example, specifying the state of the stratosphere seems sufficient to constrain the winter-mean North Atlantic Oscillation in climate models (Douville, 2009), and spectral nudging of winds (leaving the thermodynamic quantities free to respond to forcing) is an established method in regional climate modeling (von Storch et al., 2000; Waldron et al., 1996). One could also imagine conditioning on the state of the tropical atmosphere (thereby overcoming potential model errors in the local response to tropical SSTs), or anomalous Arctic sea-ice extent, or other such factors. In short, a logical extension of conditioning on the prevailing pattern of SST anomalies is to condition on various aspects of the large-scale circulation or the atmosphere's lower boundary conditions (sea-ice, snow cover, soil moisture, etc.) that are known to be important in altering the likelihood of extreme events.

One can go even further and condition on the specific weather situation (Chapter 3), asking how large-scale, long-term changes in thermodynamic quantities of the atmosphere such as temperature or humidity—which are more directly attributable to greenhouse gas increases than is any specific weather event (e.g., Bindoff et al., 2013)— may have changed the severity of an event (Trenberth et al., 2015). For example, given the landfall of a hurricane at a certain point, how might its intensity have changed because of sea surface temperature or atmospheric humidity anomalies along its path, and to what extent might those anomalies (defined relative to long-term historical averages) be attributable to human influence? How was the coastal flooding the storm induced increased by long-term sea level rise? How were rainfall amount and intensity and

¹⁰ A well-known scientific technique in which observations are used to guide a dynamic model, such as a climate or weather model. Nudging (Lorenc et al., 1991) is an example of a type of data assimilation, which refers to a broad class of methods that are used to introduce observations into dynamic models. Improvement in data assimilation techniques has been a key factor in the steady improvement of weather forecast skill that has been achieved over the past three decades.

subsequent inland flooding affected by the warmer, moister atmosphere? These could be useful questions for local authorities planning future resilience, who use past extremes as benchmarks. Although the attribution question is now framed in a deterministic manner—uncertainties in the calculations need to be estimated, but that is a different issue (see Uncertainty Quantification in Chapter 3)—this approach can be given a probabilistic interpretation if one adopts a "nowcasting" perspective: Given the state of the atmosphere as estimated from the meteorological observing system, what is the probability distribution of specific weather features such as intense rainfall in a particular catchment? However, the probability distribution is certainly narrower than would result when conditioning on a large-scale circulation state or SST anomaly (see Shepherd, 2016).

Probabilistic Formulation

The trade-off involved in conditioning is that it improves the signal-to-noise ratio of the anthropogenic influence while providing a more realistic simulation of the event, but a full estimate of the change in likelihood of the event would require an explicit estimate of the change in the probability or intensity of the anomalous climatic or weather state upon which the inference is conditioned (see below). Such a change could either increase or decrease the conditional anthropogenic effect. (Strictly speaking, it may also require an estimate of the change in probability when the conditional state is absent, but this would not be relevant if the conditional state was necessary for the event to occur [Shepherd, 2016].) Note that this issue applies as much to conditioning on an SST pattern as it does to conditioning on a specific weather situation. Whether it is necessary to make the additional effort to estimate the change in probability of the climatic or weather state would be a matter for the user of the information to determine (Otto et al., 2015b). Trenberth et al. (2015) argue that for extreme weather events that cannot be adequately simulated in global models, it is the only credible approach. Even for large-scale circulation patterns, if anthropogenic changes in their likelihood did matter, then one would need to assess one's confidence in the simulated changes. This would seem to be extremely challenging, given the low confidence in these aspects of climate change compared with thermodynamic aspects (Bindoff et al., 2013; Shepherd, 2014).

When considering the probability of an event, use of the RR rather than the FAR would allow one to represent conditional analyses in their broader context. For a simple example, consider a conditional analysis of an event under El Niño conditions (e.g., Zhang et al., 2010). The conditional RR (see equation 2.1) for the probability of the event, E, conditioning on the El Niño conditions, denoted N, is

$$\frac{P_f(E \mid N)}{P_c(E \mid N)} \tag{2.1}$$

where P_f is the probability under the factual world (i.e., the currently observable world as it exists in the context of climate change) and P_c is the probability under the counterfactual world without anthropogenic influence. If we now want to add information about how forcings affect El Niño conditions (see equation 2.2), we can consider

$$\frac{P_f(E \mid N)}{P_c(E \mid N)} \times \frac{P_f(N)}{P_c(N)} = \frac{P_f(E, N)}{P_c(E, N)}$$
(2.2)

to get an unconditional RR concerning the joint occurrence of the event and El Niño in the factual and counterfactual worlds. This multiplication of risk ratios is not possible if one uses the FAR. Note that the product above is now the RR for an altered event definition that includes the condition of the system and the meteorological outcome (such as heavy precipitation), as opposed to either an unconditional RR that considers the meteorological outcome under all possible states or a conditional RR that considers the meteorological outcome under a specified climatic state. This is analogous to what was done in Figure 2.1, where the anticyclonic circulation associated with a high pressure system was part of the definition of the heat wave, and is often a sensible choice if the extreme can only occur under unusual dynamic conditions. If there is little information about the risk ratio for the dynamics, it may be sensible to concentrate on the conditional risk ratio, treating the ratio for the dynamics as one. This is the approach taken by Diffenbaugh et al. (2015) in their analysis of the recent California drought, where precipitation is controlled by storm-track dynamics, which are highly variable and uncertain, but the persistent warming is leading to increasing risk of drought conditions. Cattiaux et al. (2010) also use such a factorization of the RR via conditioning to argue that cold extremes are becoming less likely despite the occurrence of the cold European winter of 2010, although their results also suggest that the probability of the circulation situation itself has not changed.

As discussed above, one can also consider multiple causes of an event, such as anthropogenic influence and El Niño, such that we have a RR for each,

$$\frac{P_f(E)}{P_c(E)}$$
 and $\frac{P_f(E|N)}{P_f(E|N^c)}$

respectively, where N^c indicates non-El Niño conditions. However these RR values cannot be used together in a quantitative fashion because different variables are being conditioned on.

USE OF BACKGROUND KNOWLEDGE ABOUT CLIMATE CHANGE

In conditional attribution, background knowledge about climate change is explicitly included through the choice of the counterfactual conditions, e.g., the counterfactual SSTs. However background knowledge is also often included in unconditional attribution, by couching the event attribution within the broader context of climate change science. There is a firmer basis for an event attribution result that identifies a human influence if one can demonstrate that there has been human influence on a related aspect of the climate—that is, if there are detection and attribution results that demonstrate that human influence has altered the mean state in some way in the region where the event occurred. That is almost certain to be the case for temperaturerelated events, but the detection and attribution literature on precipitation generally deals

33

with precipitation change on very large scales, as the signal of precipitation change is emerging more slowly due to high climate variability (e.g., Zhang et al., 2010; see Bindoff et al., 2013; Collins et al., 2013; Kirtman et al., 2013).

In general, there is a higher degree of confidence concerning the understanding of purely thermodynamic aspects of climate change associated with warming and increased moisture-holding capacity of the atmosphere, compared with dynamic aspects of climate change (Shepherd, 2014). The latter include both large-scale circulation patterns, which can modulate temperature and precipitation extremes, and storms. Thus, in any event attribution study, it is important to distinguish between the purely thermodynamic and the dynamic drivers. If the response of the dynamic drivers to climate change is a significant component of the anthropogenic influence, then the plausibility of that response needs to be established. Confident attribution is not possible in the absence of adequate understanding (see further discussion in Chapter 4 and Figure 4.6).

OTHER FACTORS AFFECTING IMPACTS OF EXTREME EVENTS

Attribution of extreme events is primarily anchored in discussions about anthropogenic climate change, yet many extreme events are also affected by other types of anthropogenic processes, which raise additional framing issues in terms of event impacts. Human-related activity not directly linked to anthropogenic climate change, can worsen an extreme event. The urban heat island effect is an example of such an effect of human activity on temperature extremes. Heat wave characteristics such as duration and magnitude may be increasing in large U.S. cities because of the combination of global warming and urban heat (Habeeb et al., 2015; Zhou and Shepherd, 2010).

Beyond heat waves, increases in temperature can also lead to other kinds of extreme events, including drought and wildfire. The occurrence of these events is closely related to the drying effect associated with higher temperatures when evapotranspiration is moisture-limited, and this depends strongly on the nature of the land cover (Seneviratne et al., 2016).

An important effect of intense precipitation is related to flooding of the land surface, which is affected by a wide range of factors other than changes in the climate. For example, the intensity of flooding is affected by a range of human land use decisions, including urbanization and river channelization efforts (Melillo et al., 2014). In particular, precipitation is falling onto more impervious surfaces. Du et al. (2015) confirm that an increase in impervious surfaces associated with rapid urbanization has led to greater peak discharge and flood volume in parts of China over the past 30 years. Shepherd et al. (2011) also note increased flow rates of floodwater in cities due to impervious surfaces. In some cases, upstream flood control efforts actually increase damages downstream in the same watershed. Further, the "extreme" nature of flooding is often defined in human terms, since the impact of flood events is often calculated in dollars. These costs are directly affected by the value of infrastructure that has been constructed in the floodplain (Downton et al., 2005; Downton and Pielke, 2005).

There are multiple ways that increasing temperatures and changes in precipitation are related to evaporation from the land surface and the water demand of plants (transpiration). In fact, feedbacks from the land surface and land management practices have been shown to affect local and regional drought events. A classic example is the so-

called dust bowl period that coincided with heat waves in 1934 and 1936, where land management was a factor exacerbating the drought through dust (e.g., Seager, 2011). More recently, drought conditions in Brazil may be amplified by Amazon deforestation due to decreases in dry season latent heat flux (Bagley et al., 2014; Nazareno and Laurance, 2015).

Wildfires may also be affected by land management decisions. For example, there is substantial evidence that past fire control practices have increased the likelihood of large-scale wildfires because of the buildup of fuels that occurs when natural, lower-intensity fires are suppressed (Allen et al., 2002). Likewise, the decision to build homes at the wildland-urban interface (e.g., in Southern California, Figure 2.2) greatly increases the costs associated with fires and fire-fighting.



FIGURE 2.2 Aerial view of wildland-urban interface and fire damage (located at the top of the image). SOURCE: Image Courtesy Of National Parks Service.

Perhaps the best example of the intersection of land use decisions and extreme events is in coastal areas: Not only have people made major changes to the morphology of coasts that in some cases exacerbate the impacts of coastal storms, but many of the major cities around the globe are located in or near coastal areas. Storm surges that historically might have been blunted by barrier dunes or wetlands now directly impact urban infrastructure. Furthermore, dredging and other coastal modifications may be linked to increases in minor flooding after the 1980s in parts of the mid-Atlantic United States (Ezer and Atkinson, 2014). The costs of these coastal flooding events are high in

part because of the high value of coastal investments, much of it knowingly constructed in areas of high vulnerability. The "extreme" nature of coastal flooding is therefore a product of a combination of different anthropogenic impacts some of which have little to do with climate-mediated effects like sea level rise.

Human-related activity not directly linked to anthropogenic climate change (such as urban impervious surfaces, land cover changes, and dredging) can worsen an extreme event. Therefore, attribution studies should clearly distinguish such climate factors from the effects of climate change and the results should be framed accordingly. Apart from more accurately isolating the anthropogenic climate change effect, this also has the benefit of identifying risk factors that could potentially be mitigated at the local level.

Selection Bias and Systematic Event Attribution

Most of the currently available literature on event attribution focuses on events selected by researchers. In recent years, collections of such studies have been published in the BAMS yearly supplements (e.g., Herring, 2014; Herring et al., 2015b; Peterson et al., 2012, 2013b). There is a desire to summarize anthropogenic influence across all of the events and ask whether it is causing a change in extreme events generally. This has led to the presentation of a summary of the BAMS results in tabular form, from which one might calculate the proportion of events for which anthropogenic influence is found. However, as the editors acknowledge, the studies presented in the supplements are not a representative sample of any well-defined population, and hence summarizing across the studies does not provide direct information about changes in extreme events collectively.

Scientifically, a "bias" refers to an unintentional but systematic error in a quantitative estimate arising from the particular way in which the estimate was made, and it is to be distinguished from random errors due to insufficient data or an intentional selection of cases to achieve a pre-determined result. In statistics, "selection bias" refers specifically to potential systematic errors in probabilistic inference arising when the data that are collected or analyzed are not representative of the larger population about which one wants information. In the context of event attribution, selection bias can arise when the studies are based on events that actually occurred and that are chosen for study by the researcher. Selection bias does not affect the validity of any particular result, but it is relevant for meta-analyses of collections of results.

Potential biases in attribution results are of concern for collective assessment of anthropogenic influence on extreme events, but may not be relevant if the focus is on climatological understanding of events or on implications of attribution analyses for adaptation and planning in specific contexts. Some of the issues discussed below also arise in meta-analysis in the medical literature, in which the goal is to improve statistical power by analyzing results from multiple studies that assess the same scientific question.

There are several potential forms of selection bias, with shorthand labels for each in parentheses:

- 1. bias from studying only events that occur (occurrence bias),
- 2. bias from choosing to study events for which the researcher suspects either anthropogenic influence in general or an increase in likelihood from anthropogenic influence specifically (choice bias),

- 3. bias from publishing studies about events for which the study finds either anthropogenic influence in general or an increase in likelihood from anthropogenic influence specifically (publication bias), and
- 4. bias in choosing regions or event definitions of interest to the analyst (type bias).

Occurrence bias is more subtle and likely more easily overlooked than the other types of selection bias listed above. The simplest example of occurrence bias is an event class for which p_1 is zero or vanishingly small, while p_0 is rather larger. Such events will never occur in the current world and never be analyzed. As a result, few publications in the literature exist that find event classes that are *much* less likely in the factual world.

The influence of occurrence bias can also occur in less drastic settings. Occurrence bias could result in a scientific literature that suggests that extreme events are generally becoming more common because of anthropogenic influence. Suppose there are 100 event classes (across regions and types of events) that can occur, and we consider the probability of occurrence over the course of a year. Suppose that for 50% of those event classes $p_1 = 0.04$ and $p_0 = 0.02$ and that for 50% of the classes, the reverse is true: $p_1 = 0.02$ and $p_0 = 0.04$. An example of a generally decreasing likelihood of an event class under climate change is cold events. Collectively, the probabilities across all event classes are equal under both scenarios. Now consider the events that occur in a given year. On average, there will be 6 events, 4 representing classes that are more frequent under the factual world and 2 representing classes that are more frequent under the counterfactual world. If a study of each event is done, and assuming the study can determine the RR or FAR without statistical uncertainty, 4 of the 6 studies will show that the event is more likely under the factual world and 2 of the 6 less likely under the factual world. A general conclusion across the 6 studies would be that extreme events are more likely because of anthropogenic influence. A more realistic scenario is that because of statistical uncertainty, no firm conclusions can be drawn in some of the studies. However, for those studies in which anthropogenic influence is found, a similar imbalance would persist, with more studies showing an increase in extreme events in the factual world than a decrease.

The remaining three types of bias are more straightforward to understand. Choice bias could arise because scientists are actively interested in finding events that are related to climate change or simply to subtle factors in the choice of what events to study. Publication bias is a well-known problem that distorts results obtained from doing collective analysis across published studies. Finally, a clear example of type bias is simply the geographic bias where attribution studies are done, focusing more attention on understanding extreme events in areas such as North America and Europe, although this is beginning to change. Due to these biases, a meta-analysis of event attribution results based on tabulating results from an ad hoc collection of studies could be severely misleading.

The potential for selection bias does not contradict that there can be good reasons to examine particular events if one is interested in those events themselves, such as for reasons of public curiosity, liability, or as historical benchmarks for resilience.

GUIDANCE FOR FRAMING EVENT ATTRIBUTION QUESTIONS

The notion that an event may not have been affected by climate change can be difficult to justify in a climate system in which everything is connected. In any extreme event, multiple contributing factors are involved (both human-induced and natural). Therefore, results of event attribution studies should not be framed as the cause being either anthropogenic or natural, as frequently it will be a combination of both.

Statements about attribution are sensitive to the way the questions are posed and the context within which they are posed. Results of event attribution studies with respect to the extent of anthropogenic influence can differ depending on how the results are framed. Therefore, in any attribution analysis, one should be explicit about the framing choices, and explain why those particular choices were made. Framing choices include:

- how single events are interpreted;
- the type of conditioning involved, if any;
- whether changes in frequency or in magnitude of an event are assessed;
- how the event is defined;
- how the factual and counterfactual probabilities are compared (e.g., FAR versus RR); and
- whether the results are cast as a null hypothesis significance test.

The RR has many advantages over the FAR and is less prone to misinterpretation. The RR directly frames the result in terms of the relative probabilities under a world with anthropogenic climate change and a world without. The FAR, by contrast, does not represent a share of causation because for a given event, multiple factors can have FARs that are close to one. Further framing issues arise for impacts of extreme events, because other anthropogenic factors (e.g., land use) apart from climate change often significantly affect the magnitude of impacts.

It is also useful to present results in more than one way (e.g., magnitude and frequency), so that users understand there are different ways of looking at the event. Relevant quantities (probabilities or magnitudes) should be estimated, with accompanying uncertainty intervals, to help users understand the strength of the evidence. This approach is more useful and less prone to misinterpretation than null hypothesis significance testing. Furthermore, results should be presented in terms of the overall understanding of the climate system, as this is important prior information that affects the interpretation of the result.

An essential part of the framing involves whether the attribution is conditioned (e.g., on the current climatic or specific weather state), because that affects the quantitative estimates of the extent of anthropogenic influence and more closely relates the study to the factors driving the particular event. An unconditional attribution analysis of a joint probability can be considered a product of conditional attribution analyses (see equation 2.3), i.e.,

$$\frac{P_f(E,N)}{P_c(E,N)} = \frac{P_f(E\mid N)}{P_c(E\mid N)} \times \frac{P_f(N)}{P_c(N)}$$
(2.3)

where *E* is the event, *N* is a conditioning factor (such as SST anomaly pattern), P_f is the probability under the factual world (i.e., the currently observable world as it exists in the context of climate change) and P_c is the probability under the counterfactual world that might have been without anthropogenic influence. If the response of *N* to climate change is highly uncertain, then the last factor might be assumed to be one in which case the unconditional and conditional probabilities are equal.

Various sources of selection bias are almost inevitable in event attribution applied to individual events. Such selection biases interfere with the ability to draw general conclusions about anthropogenic influence on extreme events collectively.

Overall, it is useful to perform event attribution with all factors explicitly assessed and discussed: thermodynamic and dynamic aspects of anthropogenic climate change, non-climate anthropogenic factors, and natural variability. This helps the user understand the uncertainties in the calculation, the resilience to current climate variability, and other anthropogenic factors that might be relevant.

The findings of event attribution studies are not only influenced by how questions about a human or natural influence on an event are asked, but also by the methods used to answer the questions. A natural first step in event attribution is the study of observations, for example, in order to determine the rarity of the event in historical context, or to study the circulation and other aspects of the state of the climate that prevailed when the event occurred. While observations are useful, attribution studies generally use climate models, which incorporate knowledge of the physics of the climate system, to quantify how human or natural influences have changed the frequency or intensity of events like the observed event relative to a baseline forcing scenario. Climate and other numerical models are useful because they can be used to investigate responses to controlled forcing (see conditioning in the previous chapter) and also to generate a larger sample size than is possible from observations—for example, "control" runs of 1,000 years with no changes in greenhouse gas forcing. The various options for using observations and models for event attribution are discussed in subsequent sections.

METHODS BASED ON OBSERVATIONS

The Role of Observations

Observations are used to a varying extent in all approaches to event attribution. Many studies determine the rarity of an observed event in the context of long-term historical data, often using statistical methods. For example, Swain et al. (2014) fit a statistical distribution to Northeastern Pacific circulation anomalies related to the recent California drought in order to determine that the very persistent ridge type of circulation pattern¹¹ that sustained the drought is extremely rare in the historical context (see Figure 3.1). Also, many studies begin by setting out the dynamic context from observations as an analysis of the combination of factors and events that contributed to the extreme event, and often later as a benchmark for model simulations of similar events (e.g., Hoerling et al., 2013; Pall et al., 2011).

A requirement for the attribution of a change in probability of events to human (or natural) influence is detection of a change in either observations of the event analyzed, or appropriately related climate variables (see Hegerl et al., 2010). In practice, statistically-confident detection of a change in the frequency or intensity of the event type itself is only possible for a subset of event types (the most common example being temperature extremes) because it takes a long observational record and well observed statistics of extremes to be able to do so (see, e.g., King et al., 2015, for Central England Temperature). Trend detection is often challenged by the limitations of the observational record (both quality and record length). It is also complicated by unforced natural variability that can cause apparent trends that may last decades.

¹¹ An elongated area of relatively high atmospheric pressure; the opposite of trough.



FIGURE 3.1 Example of an observational analysis supporting an event attribution analysis: Number of years in the past that 2013 California precipitation anomalies (panel a) and geopotential height values were exceeded in the historical record (panel e) in comparison to a time series of California mean precipitation (panel c). SOURCE: Swain et al., 2014.

The limitations of trend detection in the frequency or intensity of extreme events imply that event attribution must often rely on the understanding of long-term changes in variables that have a close physical relationship to the event in question and are expected to affect the frequency or intensity of the event in question. Such attributed long-term changes could pertain to the mean state of the climate, or to extremes over a larger area, or to a variable that demonstrably contributes to the extreme event, such as higher water availability for extreme rainfall. (e.g., Pall et al., 2011). The less direct the relationship is between an attributed human contribution to change in a climate variable and a type of extreme event, the more results hinge on climate models reliably replicating the effect of human influence, and the less the result is grounded on observations.

Often studies rely on scientific understanding of the causes of change in a related aspect of temperature (such as the observed long-term warming of the regional or global climate) where there is little doubt (Bindoff et al., 2013) that there has been significant change due to human activities. These changes in mean conditions then provide a basis for expecting that there should also be related changes in extreme conditions. For example, a change in extremes at a location may be linked directly to a change in the mean at that same location (See Figures 1.1 and 3.2), and thus an attributed change in the mean may provide supporting evidence for attribution for the related extremes (e.g., Rahmstorf and Coumou, 2011). Somewhat less directly than the case for temperature extremes, heavy rainfall is influenced by a moister atmosphere, which has been linked to human influence since it is an expected consequence of a warmer atmosphere (e.g., Bindoff et al., 2013; Santer et al., 2007; 2009). Significant low-frequency natural variability can make it difficult to detect a change due to human influence because the natural variability reduces the signal to noise ratio. Also, attribution may be complicated by circulation changes that can either strengthen or offset the effects of human influence, and several studies have claimed to find such an effect (Christidis et al., 2015; Herring et al., 2015a; Schaller et al., 2014; Szeto et al., 2015). Tropical cyclone intensity or the probability of severe convective storms are yet further removed from temperature, but

Event attribution is most reliable when the link to an attributed long-term change is made explicitly and is fairly tightly connected to the event. The attribution of long-term change (e.g., as assessed in Hegerl et al. [2007] and Bindoff et al. [2013]), necessarily involves both observations and models. The link between long-term change and event frequency or intensity may, in some cases, be demonstrated through the use of climate models, but in other instances, will rely on physical reasoning or conceptual models (e.g., see Hegerl and Zwiers, 2011). The establishment of a strong link may not be possible in all cases, with the result that the link to the observed attributed changes may be fairly indirect in some studies. In principle, the changing probability of a type of event could be evaluated based on climate model simulations in the absence of any trend detection in historical observations, but in most cases confidence would be lower than for attribution of changes that have actually been observed. Also, any positive result from such studies is likely to be challenged, as models are not perfect replications of reality.

Statistical Analysis of Observations

Statistical analysis of observations can be used to quantify the changing probability of specific events even in the absence of the use of climate models. Such approaches are attractive, because results do not hinge on the reliability of a particular climate model, nor its ability to simulate the event in question. They do, however, hinge on the availability of long-term, high quality data. Also, an observation-based analysis requires a statistical analysis that quantifies changes in extremes over time, for example, the kind of changes that might be expected from greenhouse gas or aerosol forcing. Such a statistical model for human influence in particular needs to be strongly supported by understanding of the causes of related changes in the climate system (Hegerl et al., 2010). If this is the case, such studies can be complementary to attribution studies based on climate models.

Statistical Analysis of Observed Change in Events

This type of approach uses historical observations to characterize the distribution of a type of event that is similar to a particular observed event (generally excluding the particular event itself to avoid some aspects of selection bias; see Chapter 2). In order to address the human influence, it identifies a trend or covariate in observed data that may be related to human influences. This approach is only justifiable if there is supporting evidence that the covariate indeed has a causal link to human influences. Otherwise, trends caused by other factors or natural variability may be aliased, leading to an over (or under-) estimate of the human influence.

An example of such work is King et al. (2015), who analyze Central England annual temperatures (CET) and rely on an earlier paper that attributes at least part of CET warming to human influences (Karoly and Stott, 2006). They fit a generalized Pareto





distribution¹² (GPD) to the warmest 20% of annual temperatures above a time-varying threshold that increases linearly with CO₂ concentration. This statistical model assumes no change in variability in the upper tail of the annual temperature distribution, and also assumes that the temperature response to rising CO₂ is linear. When available evidence points to a strong human contribution to the mean temperature change at that location, as in King et al. (2015), this suggests a two-step attribution (Hegerl et al., 2010) of some of the change in extremes to the human forcing. The FAR is calculated based on the probability of an extreme annual temperature (in particular, exceedance of the second highest annual temperature) for the present compared to the probability for early in the 20th century.

Similarly, van Oldenborgh et al. (2015) apply a Generalized Extreme Value distribution¹³ (GEV) to seasonal and daily winter minimum temperature from station data in De Bilt, Netherlands, and Chicago, United States. The study leaves out the extreme event in question (which occurred in 2013/2014 winter in both locations) and allows the GEV location parameter to shift with climate change (represented by global mean temperature). Such an approach allows comparison of the return time of an extreme event between the climate of the 1950s and the present. Results indicate that very cold events have become significantly more rare, and very warm events more frequent. Again, results hinge on the time evolution of global mean temperature being a good approximation to the time evolution (although not magnitude) of the human influence at that location.

Overall, attribution using statistical analysis of observed time series works best for temperature or variables that are closely related to temperature, as global and many regional results are available that quantify the human contribution to long-term temperature change. For example, regional temperature scales reasonably well with the global temperature evolution on longer timescales for many, but by far not all regions (see Sutton et al., 2015). Studies that rely on such supporting evidence attributing the trend should point this out clearly. It would be preferable if such studies could explicitly include uncertainty in the fraction of trend that is due to human influences in the analysis as well as additional uncertainty due to the indirect relationship of the variable in question to the larger-scale attributed trend. In the example of temperatures in De Bilt, for example, the human contribution to global mean temperature is a range, not a single value, and uncertainty increases further when going to the regional scale. Any anthropogenic trend may be enhanced or reduced by decadal climate variability (Box 3.1). For example, multidecadal variability can influence regional precipitation patterns and cause apparent trends (Dai, 2013), such as found for storminess over Great Britain (Alexandersson et al., 2000).

Observed Circulation Analogues

A second approach is based on analysis of the synoptic situation of a given event and looks for historical analogues with similar circulation states (e.g., Cattiaux et al., 2010; Yiou et al., 2007) in order to determine how meteorologically similar events have changed (e.g., due to the thermodynamic effects of climate change). As such, this

¹² A statistical distribution used to model exceedances about a specified threshold level.

¹³ A statistical distribution used to model the extremes of blocks of data of fixed lengths, such as a season or a year.

approach conditions on a particular synoptic situation (or sequences of situations) although studies have also diagnosed the frequency of circulation states in order to determine if these may explain or counteract any change in extreme events when conditioned (e.g., Cattiaux et al., 2010; see discussion in Chapter 2).

Cattiaux et al. (2010) analyze the synoptic situation of the winter of 2009/2010 in Europe and find that it was less cold than would have been expected based on temperatures from days in earlier winters with similar synoptic situations, particularly given how extreme some of the daily circulation indices were in the winter of 2009/2010. They used several indicators for circulation (e.g., NAO [North Atlantic Oscillation] index and blocking frequency) and selected atmospheric flow analogues for a period around each winter day of the winter in question from the past 61 years. The composite average temperature for these analogues, which were based on prior years, was significantly colder than the 2009/2010 winter mean temperature for most stations (see Figure 3.3). Subtracting the global warming trend from the 2009/2010 winter temperatures yielded similar temperatures to those of the analogues, and no trend was found in synthetic winter temperatures derived from the analogue situations, suggesting that the observed trend is not explained by changes in circulation.

The uncertainties in observation-based analyses are considerable, but different and complementary to the uncertainties in attribution approaches that rely strongly on climate models to estimate the difference between present conditions and those that would have occurred without human influences.

METHODS BASED ON CLIMATE AND WEATHER MODELS

In nearly all attribution studies of extreme events, climate and weather models are an indispensable tool. While the specific type and configuration of the model depends on the type of extreme event being studied, most studies use some version of a global atmospheric model. Some may also use one or more coupled climate models (e.g., from the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5 [CMIP5] modeling project) or a model that is constructed specifically to represent a particular type of phenomenon, such as tropical cyclones. Such models represent important atmospheric processes including the transport of heat, moisture, and momentum by winds, the interaction of solar and infrared radiation with atmospheric gases and clouds, the exchange of heat and moisture between the atmosphere and the land or ocean surface, and many more. The advantages of using climate and weather models include the ability to utilize specific input conditions (e.g., sea surface temperature, levels of atmospheric CO₂ or aerosols) and to compare results between simulations using different input conditions, generally for the factual (currently observable) world as it exists in the context of climate change, and hypothetical counterfactual worlds without climate change, to assess changes in event frequency. It is also necessary and useful to repeat the simulation many times, for example, by making small random perturbations to the initial conditions, in order to generate a larger sample of simulations and thus obtain better estimates of some of the uncertainties and sensitivities involved in event attribution.



FIGURE 3.3 Example of an analysis using observational circulation analogues, investigating the unusually cold winter conditions in Europe in 2010. In the top figure, panel (a) shows observations of winter 2010 European temperatures; panel (b) shows an average of winters with similar daily circulation over the 2nd half of the 20th century (analog); and panel (c) shows the difference between both. The time series (bottom figure) analyzes the (averaged over all European stations) winter 2010 anomaly of daily mean temperature of -1.3°C (indicated by a dashed line) in the context of the historical record and analogues. It shows normalized 1949-2010 time series of observed (black line) and analog mean temperature anomalies (gray line), illustrating the warming of observed winters relative to analogue winters (red segments: positive observed–analog differences). SOURCE Cattiaux et al., 2010.

Model simulations are well suited to provide quantitative estimates of the degree to which extreme event frequencies or magnitudes in the factual world differ from what would have happened in a world unperturbed by human emissions of greenhouse gases (and other forcing factors; see Chapter 2 for a discussion of framing). However, it is essential that any models used for event attribution are able to simulate extreme events reasonably similar to the one that is analyzed. The models should also be carefully evaluated to assess if they correctly reproduce the statistics of extreme events, the specific weather situation leading to events, and local feedbacks that may strengthen events (see Zhang et al., 2014, 2015) It is important to note that evaluating the ability of models to simulate particularly rare events remains a challenge. Reliable simulation of non-extreme events does not necessarily indicate that a model will reliably simulate extreme events. This section describes some specific types or configurations of models and how they have been used in extreme event attribution studies.

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

Coupled Climate Models

Many studies use coupled climate models, such as the models that participated in CMIP5 (Taylor et al., 2012). Such models incorporate interactive representations of the atmosphere, ocean, sea ice, and the land surface and often also include representations of the carbon cycle. CMIP5 and similar earlier experiments are coordinated efforts of modeling groups around the world to provide simulations with global climate models using several scenarios of relevance to extreme event attribution. Some simulations of the recent past (typically 1850-2005) use only estimates of natural forcing such as changes in solar radiation and volcanic eruptions (CMIP5-NAT). Others are run using only anthropogenic forcing (CMIP5-ANT), or only greenhouse gas changes (CMIP5-GHG, as distinct from anthropogenic forcing that also includes, for example, changes in sulfate aerosol distributions). The most realistic simulations of historic global climate change are usually those that include all of the above (CMIP5-ALL). For simulations covering periods after 2005, extreme event attribution studies usually draw from one or more of the four scenarios of future greenhouse gas concentrations known as Representative Concentration Pathways or RCPs (note that differences between scenarios only emerge later in the 21st century, so the scenario choice has little influence for the period between 2006 and the present). Some modeling groups have provided as many as 40 simulations of the 21st century. Pre-industrial control simulations, many several hundred years long, are sometimes used to define the counterfactual world (e.g., Sun et al., 2014), while in other cases CMIP5-NAT simulations are used for this purpose (e.g., King et al., 2015).

Coupled climate models can be used to assess the changes in the likelihood of breaking current regional average monthly or seasonal temperature or rainfall records. The chances of breaking an existing record is compared in the simulated current climate with the chances in the counterfactual world and used to provide a lookup table of the FAR values for whenever a new record is set (Lewis et al., 2014).

Studies using coupled models would typically be considered unconditional attribution studies¹⁴ (see Chapter 2) unless the study specifically attempted to control for some feature of the state of the climate system. In the CMIP5 models, SSTs from a given year do not correspond to those observed in that year. Therefore, studies that condition on an observed SST anomaly pattern (conditional attribution; see Chapter 2 and discussion below) do not use CMIP5 outputs. However, they may use the atmospheric components of coupled models that participated in CMIP5, or higher-resolution atmospheric models that are most closely related to weather prediction models.

It is also possible to use coupled models for conditional attribution studies, such as for El Niño years by selecting specific years that have the same phase of El Niño as observed (Lewis and Karoly, 2013).

CMIP5 is most suitable for studying extremes with large spatial scale (e.g., heat waves, droughts, and cold events), though other types of studies have also used CMIP5. CMIP5 simulations have two key advantages over atmosphere-only simulations: the inclusion of the oceans, and the large number of simulations already available, which can

¹⁴ Although they normally include conditioning on natural external forcing of climate, such as volcanic activity and variations in solar output: this has not been a significant issue since event attribution was proposed simply because we have not seen an explosive volcanic eruption on a scale likely to significantly impact the statistics of weather events. However this will of course happen eventually.

be used to generate more robust statistics. For example, large multi-model ensembles, on the order of 100 simulations or more, have been used for studies detecting human influence on the frequency of record high central England temperatures, such as occurred in 2014 (King et al., 2015), for study of the California drought (Seager et al., 2015), and for studies of the record warm summer in eastern China in 2013 (Sun et al., 2014).

Atmosphere-Only Models Using Observed SSTs

A second type of model simulation uses an atmospheric general circulation model (GCM) in which the observed historical evolution of SSTs and sea ice extent is specified. These are often called "AMIP" runs,¹⁵ and are usually coupled to a land model. Specific patterns of SSTs and greenhouse gases (or other boundary conditions) can be imposed, exerting a degree of conditioning on the results that is not present in CMIP simulations. Atmosphere-only model studies are most valuable when the coupling between the ocean and atmosphere is primarily one-way, that is, when feedbacks of the atmosphere to the ocean can be neglected for the purposes of the phenomenon being studied. The number of ensemble members in such studies can vary from a relatively small number of runs for analysis of large-scale events (order 10s of runs, e.g., Funk et al., 2013; Wilcox et al., 2015) to others using large ensembles with 100 or more simulations (e.g., Christidis and Stott, 2012). In some cases, atmospheric model ensemble simulations may consist of many thousands of model runs (e.g., Otto et al., 2015c; Pall et al., 2011; Schaller et al., 2016). Such studies are often facilitated by the climateprediction.net/weather@home infrastructure (see Box 3.4). Two common features of studies that use very large ensembles is that they are often restricted to a single model, and they use a large number of short simulations (e.g., less than a year to perhaps a decade) in contrast to a smaller number of multi-decade or longer simulations.

Three types of perturbations are relevant for generating ensemble members: initial condition, model physics, and SSTs. Initial condition ensembles (the model is run with a variety of slightly different initial conditions at the start) are used in almost all modelbased event attribution studies (including unconditional studies using ensembles such as CMIP5) to provide the replication needed to quantify the frequency of events or distribution of event magnitudes. One approach to producing such ensembles is to perturb initial condition using next-day differences from a separate simulation (e.g., see Massey et al., 2014).

Perturbed physics experiments are not generally used in attribution studies primarily because with a prescribed-SST design, perturbations that do not significantly degrade the model climatology have also been found to have relatively little impact on variables of interest—but could be. The opportunity for this kind of perturbation arises because processes in the models that occur at scales smaller than the resolved scale are normally approximated using information from resolved-scale fields (e.g., temperature, geopotential, winds). These approximations involve adjustable parameters with values determined from empirical studies and are usually fixed for all model runs. Atmospheric convection, which occurs on spatial scales of a few kilometers, is an example of the type

¹⁵ Originally referring to the Atmospheric Model Intercomparison Project, a specific experiment using observed SSTs from 1979 to 1993 (Gates, 1992)

of process that must be parameterized in models that have resolutions that are too coarse to allow convection to be well-simulated on the explicit model grid. In perturbed physics experiments, these parameters are varied across a range of plausible values. Simulations using particular parameter combinations are evaluated both to determine the realism of the simulated climate compared with observed (20th century) climate, and to span a range of uncertainty in future climate or climate parameters, such as the climate sensitivity (Stainforth et al., 2005).

For attribution experiments, SST perturbations of the counterfactual world are sometimes used as well. Instead of simply using control simulations as in CMIP5, experiments using fixed SSTs include "counterfactual" SSTs in which an estimate of the anthropogenic contribution to modern SST patterns is subtracted from the observed SSTs (e.g., Pall et al., 2011). Perturbations to the SST patterns are done to assess sensitivity or quantify uncertainty in event attribution results to the choice of the counterfactual SST. Different climate models generate different patterns of SST changes in response to human influences, for example, because they exhibit different aerosol forcing or cloud feedbacks to warming. The choice of different SST patterns to be removed matters in practice, and this uncertainty is discussed below (e.g., see Figure 3.4). Studies using multiple estimates of counterfactual SSTs have employed both global atmospheric models (e.g., Feser et al., 2015a; Massey et al., 2014; Pall et al., 2011; Rupp et al., 2012) and a regional climate model (discussed further in the next subsection) that is nested within a global atmospheric model (e.g., Bergaoui et al., 2015; Black et al., 2015; King et al., 2015).

Studies Conditioning on Seasonal Forecasts

On the seasonal timescale, Hoerling et al. (2013), studying the 2011 Texas drought, use the NOAA Climate Forecast System (CFS) initialized at 6-hourly intervals starting 1 June 2011, with CO₂ concentrations set at either 1988 or modern values, for a total of 240 runs and also additional ensembles of 15 and 24 runs started on 1 June of each summer between 1981 and 2011. Hence they explore the impact of the increase in CO₂ concentrations since 1988 conditioned on that component of climate variability that was predictable on a seasonal timescale. The Weather@Home contribution to the near-real-time attribution studies in the World Weather Attribution project also uses an ensemble of seasonal forecast SSTs (from the UK Met Office GLOSEA5 forecast system) to define present-day conditions prior to subtracting a range of signals of anthropogenic warming. In both of these cases, the definition of "present day conditions" in the conditioning of attribution statements is restricted to the component of present-day weather that is predictable on a seasonal timescale. In many cases, this may be more consistent with the expectations of stakeholders interpreting attribution statements than conditioning on SSTs precisely as observed.

Downscaling

Some types of extreme events are not well simulated by global models, either coupled or atmosphere-only, often because these models are not run at sufficiently high

spatial resolution. Additional models, embedded within a global model to provide largescale environmental conditions, may be used to represent these events better. Since these models are meant to represent finer scales than the global models in which they are embedded, such methods can be collectively termed "downscaling." One example is a high-resolution regional atmospheric model that runs on a subset of the global domain and is forced at the lateral boundaries by the global model (e.g., Marthews et al., 2015). Other downscaling models may be designed especially to capture a specific event type. For example, Emanuel (2006) embeds an efficient, idealized tropical cyclone model within large-scale fields obtained from global models. Other downscaling methods are statistical, not involving any dynamic model at all. Examples include environmental indices used to predict the genesis of tropical cyclones (Emanuel and Nolan, 2004; Tippett et al., 2011) or of tornadoes (Brooks et al., 2003; Diffenbaugh et al., 2013; Tippett et al., 2012; Trapp et al., 2007). These indices are derived from statistical analysis, using observations, of spatio-temporal relationships between large-scale variables and the extreme event in question. As with any other kind of model, it is important to test such specialized models — independently, and in combination with the global climate model as used in any attribution study — in order to determine model adequacy.

Highly Conditioned Simulations

The studies just discussed constrain the state by specifying SST anomaly patterns (or the component thereof that is predictable on a seasonal timescale) for factual and counterfactual world simulations. As discussed in Chapter 2, some approaches provide much stronger constraints on the current state of the climate system than conditioning on SST patterns, corresponding to different framings of the attribution question. Such highly conditioned studies, which are fewer and less well developed than the types discussed above, constrain the initial conditions closely to observed, and perform forecast-type simulations.

Some of these highly conditioned studies use ensembles of forecast simulations in order to improve estimates of uncertainty. Two types of forecasts have been undertaken: weather-type forecasts, over time periods of days, and seasonal forecasts over a period of a few months. In the first case, the model must be initialized within the predictability window, that is, only a few days in advance of the event, so that the model may actually simulate the development of the event from the beginning. For example, Meredith et al. (2015), who studied the floods that affected the Black Sea town of Krymsk in July, 2012, use a triply nested configuration of the Weather Research and Forecasting model, initialized at 6-hourly intervals over a 30-hour period (hence 6 runs) for two different SST forcings, for a total of 12 runs. Another recent example is Lackmann (2015), who use a nested modelling approach to study Hurricane Sandy.

Closely related to the forecasting approach, Hannart et al. (2015a) recently proposed using a data assimilation system for event attribution. The idea is to define events in a highly specific fashion such that the probability of the event is very small in both the factual and counterfactual worlds, which implies that the probability of sufficient causation (Hannart et al., 2015b) is also very small. Such definitions are possible for variables such as temperature, precipitation, and the central pressure of storm systems

that are measured on continuous scales, and where differentiation between minutely different values is at least possible, in principle. For example, the probability of an event defined in terms of maximum temperature that lies within a narrow range of an observed value, $T_{max,obs} - \epsilon < T_{max} < T_{max,obs} + \epsilon$ where $\epsilon > 0$, converges to zero as ϵ approaches zero for all values of $T_{max,obs}$ even though the probably density function $f(T_{max,obs}) > 0$ for all physically plausible values of $T_{max,obs}$.¹⁶ Under these conditions the FAR, which Hannart et al (2015b) relates to the probability of necessary causation, converges to one minus the ratio of probability density functions in the two worlds for the variable defining the event. A data assimilation system (such as an Ensemble Kalman Filter based system of the type used at many weather forecasting centers) can then be used to estimate these probability density functions.

Development of this idea is currently in its very preliminary stages, but it suggests a path towards operational event attribution that exploits current operational weather forecasting capabilities. It would, however, be restricted to sharply focused event definitions that are based on quantities that are assimilated in numerical weather prediction systems.

UNCERTAINTIES IN MODEL-BASED STUDIES

Many event attribution methods and analyses rely on estimating event probabilities or distributions of event magnitudes from model simulations. As a result, confidence in attribution results necessarily depends on the skill of the model in simulating the event type under analysis in both of the scenarios. This dependence is well-known in the event attribution community (e.g., Christidis et al., 2013b), but emphasis on assessing models varies across attribution studies and may be little recognized amongst stakeholders, policymakers, and the general public.

Model quality with regard to event attribution requires careful thought. Christidis et al. (2013b) contrast the ability of a model to accurately represent the climatology (i.e., the distribution of weather over time) in terms of frequency and climatological features of the event of interest with the model's predictive skill. They argue that robust event attribution is possible even when only the climatology is well represented. The quality of the model(s) in representing an event or the climatology of an event class is best assessed using the factual simulations, since these are expected to correspond most closely to the observed climate. However, even then only limited information is available from observations for extreme events. For instance, Stott et al. (2004) considered whether the model's inter-annual variability corresponded to that of the observations, while Pall et al. (2011) considered the model's quality with respect to dynamic features, and Christidis et al. (2013b) considered the reliability of hindcasts.

Such evaluations are necessary, but they are not a sufficient demonstration of model quality. The quantitative correspondence of the statistics of variables such as temperature and precipitation between model output and observations does not necessarily imply that the mechanisms that produce variability and extremes are well

¹⁶ Note that the relationship between the probability of the event $T_{max,obs} - \epsilon < T_{max} < T_{max,obs} + \epsilon$ and the probability density function $f(T_{max})$ is given by $P(T_{max,obs} - \epsilon < T_{max} < T_{max,obs} + \epsilon) = \int_{T_{max,obs} - \epsilon}^{T_{max,obs} + \epsilon} f(t) dt$.

represented in the model. Thus, assessment of the model needs to go beyond a quantitative comparison that accounts for sampling uncertainty and must assess key processes that lead to or exacerbate the event.

The quality of a model under the counterfactual scenario may be difficult to evaluate. A counterfactual scenario that describes the present-day climate, absent the influence of anthropogenic forcing but accounting for contemporaneous volcanic and solar forcing, does not exist, and thus its quality is not directly assessable by comparison against observations that have been made under exactly those forcing conditions. In this case, quality can only be determined from the evaluation of model performance under other forcing scenarios for which observational data are available.

Such assessment includes the evaluation of model quality for the factual world with anthropogenic forcing over the past several decades, and may be based on instrumental data for time periods before extensive anthropogenic influence and possibly using paleo-climate reconstructions of earlier periods. Also, knowledge of fundamental climate science and of model structure can provide an understanding of what kinds of events may or may not be well characterized by models in terms of the variables that are used to define the events, dependence on circulation patterns, dependence on SSTs, spatial scales, and temporal scales.

As discussed in Chapter 2, a key decision in the framing of a model-based event attribution study is the degree of conditioning that is imposed on the model. The optimal choice of both conditioning and model will depend on the question being addressed and the event under consideration.

Unconditional Attribution

At one level, the most comprehensive and most easily interpretable kind of attribution is unconditional. For this, a model must be global and coupled to a dynamic ocean. It must then be run for sufficiently long periods to reliably determine the statistics of the extreme in question—the rarer the extreme, the longer this needs to be. Those two constraints will limit the spatial resolution and the degree of complexity of the model that can be used. In general, at present, models that can be run in this mode will be something like CMIP5-class models (e.g., King et al., 2015; Knutson et al., 2014). The challenging part of this kind of attribution is supporting the assumption that the model is a reliable mimic of reality. Given the known capabilities (and deficiencies) of this class of model, which have been comprehensively assessed in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) reports, this requirement has implications in terms of which kinds of extreme events can be addressed.

Most coupled models exhibit substantial biases in mean climate and variability relative to observations, especially at the regional scale, so some bias correction will almost certainly be required, and the validity of this must be established. Typically, model output is bias corrected by computing anomalies, either by subtracting or dividing by some climatological mean and potentially adjusting the variance (e.g., Sippel and Otto, 2014). A further intervention requiring even stronger assumptions entails adjustments to quantiles to make the distribution of the model output correspond better to that of the observations (e.g., Edwards et al., 2014). The argument for such adjustments is that a model may represent long-term climate change reasonably but be offset in terms of

the magnitudes of variables of interest (e.g., Bindoff et al., 2013). Such adjustments should ideally be founded in physical arguments, since it is not clear what type of evaluation against observations could be done to give confidence to estimated changes in probability or magnitude in such circumstances. Also, it should be recognized that the bias adjustments rely on observations that may be uncertain for a variety of reasons in and of themselves. Sources of observational bias and uncertainty are multiple and include insufficient or changing instrumental coverage; bias from sources such as poor placement of the instrument; inhomogeneity arising for a variety of reasons including changes in exposure, instrument, observing protocol, and location in the case of in situ observations and, for example, orbital drift in the case of satellite data; and uncertainty associated with gridding and analysis procedures (see previous section on observational approaches).

Temperature extremes can probably be addressed with some degree of confidence using CMIP5-class models, although there may be challenges for heat extremes where land-atmosphere coupling provides a strong feedback. In contrast, droughts would be somewhat more challenging as they depend on precipitation over land, which models generally find challenging, as well as on the land surface and its feedbacks (Seneviratne et al., 2010). To the extent that both phenomena depend on atmospheric blocking and storm track dynamics, however, these models are unlikely to be fully reliable since they continue to exhibit deficiencies in these phenomena (Flato et al., 2013). Moreover, events such as large intense storms may not be addressable with such models, since most do not adequately simulate such events (e.g., Seiler and Zwiers, 2015b). In general, such models should only be used to address extremes that are under a strong thermodynamic control. If dynamic processes are the dominant feature of the event, as would be the case for an explosive extratropical storm or a tropical cyclone, then model uncertainty needs to be addressed, and this may be extremely challenging. The effects of dynamic and thermodynamic processes may also be difficult to disentangle, for example, as in a flooding event, because dynamic processes may control the circulation that transports and converges the moisture that produced the flood, while thermodynamic processes may determine the amount of moisture that was actually transported to the drainage basin where the flooding occurred.

Multi-model ensembles can be used for event attribution either in a sensitivity analysis framework, repeating the analysis for each model, or by averaging across models in some fashion. While a multi-model ensemble may have less bias than any single model, both when representing the mean state (e.g., Flato et al., 2013; Gleckler et al., 2008) and indices of moderate extremes (e.g., Sillmann et al., 2013a), even results averaged across models may be biased relative to the true earth system because of shared inadequacies in their representation of the system. An example is the general equatorward bias in the North Atlantic storm track (Zappa et al., 2013b). In addition, the fact that model ensembles are generally ensembles of opportunity, with some models being closely related (see Knutti et al., 2013) further complicates the issue. In general, as discussed further below (see Uncertainty Quantification), model bias is difficult to quantify, particularly for extremes for which large observational uncertainty hinders the ability to compare to the truth (Kharin et al., 2007, 2013) and even more so for the counterfactual scenario.

Conditional Attribution

In conditional attribution analyses, model quality should ideally be assessed conditionally: Does the model accurately represent the climatology given the forcings and the conditioning factors, and does it produce extremes similar to the observed event for similar reasons?

Conditioning on Patterns of Sea Surface Temperatures

The first level of conditioning is by SST anomaly pattern. Because the SST pattern is imposed, an atmospheric model can be used. This has two practical benefits: First, model biases associated with the ocean state will be mitigated, and second, because only the atmosphere and land surface are simulated, the model can be run for longer periods of time to quantify more extreme statistics, at higher spatial resolution, or include more complete representations of the land-surface or key model components.

In general, models that can be run in this mode may be something like seasonalforecast or previous-generation weather-prediction models, which might have better representations of storm track dynamics and moist processes than CMIP5-class models, although the atmospheric components of CMIP5-class models are also often used. Because biases are usually reduced when specifying the ocean state and with potentially better representations of relevant processes, it might be possible to more confidently address some types of drought. Extratropical cyclones may also be addressable at some level. However, it is unlikely that it would be possible to perform reliable event attribution on tropical storms and intense convective precipitation with such models, even if resolution and the representation of moist processes are somewhat better than for CMIP5 models. Although dynamically driven extremes may be reasonably well represented in such models, the dynamic response of the atmosphere to climate change remains uncertain. This uncertainty must be addressed in any attribution study, which at a minimum argues for using more than one model, although this is often not sufficient (see the section on Uncertainty Quantification, below).

Additional uncertainties arise in studies that condition on the SST patterns. One issue is the uncertainty that is associated with estimating the counterfactual ocean state. This uncertainty arises because such studies condition on the ocean state in the factual (i.e., currently observable) world and therefore condition on a feature of that world, but one needs a corresponding ocean state in the counterfactual world. Nevertheless, studies that use atmospheric models often use multiple estimates of the ocean warming due to human influences and results, particularly in studies of precipitation, and can be surprisingly sensitive to this (see Otto et al., 2015b; Pall et al., 2011; Figure 3.4). The uncertainty associated with estimating the counterfactual ocean state is driven by the uncertainty in estimating the anthropogenic component of the factual world SSTs, which is performed using regression based detection and attribution formalisms (e.g.,


FIGURE 3.4 Sensitivity of change in the occurrence frequency of extremely high river runoff in England and Wales for autumn 2000 using different climate models to characterize and remove the human influence on sea surface temperature from a counterfactual world. This figure illustrates that while present condition runoff return periods tend to be more frequent than those in any such counterfactual world, the occurrence frequencies in a counterfactual world depend on the model used to create it. Blue is the modeled return time for 2000 runoff (identical in each panel) against occurrence frequency, while colored dots show the return times in a counterfactual world, constructed by removing the pattern of human influence on SSTs from four different climate models: HadCM3 (brown, a), GFDL (purple, b), PCM (pink, c) and MIROC (orange, d). The horizontal black line on each panel corresponds to the highest daily runoff observed during these two months. SOURCE: Pall et al., 2011.

Hegerl and Zwiers, 2011). A second issue is that the attribution statement comparing the factual and counterfactual worlds depends on the conditioning in this setting; as discussed in Chapter 2, such a conditional analysis does not account for differences in the likelihood of the conditional SST anomaly pattern in the two worlds. Finally, little work has been done to date to understand how attribution statements vary across different possible ocean states, in particular different modes of variability (e.g., whether conditional attribution statements would differ markedly under El Niño or La Niña conditions).

One strategy for addressing extremes at smaller scales within this framework is to use regional models embedded within global models (see the section on Downscaling, above). This is a useful strategy for events that are driven by large-scale circulation and can improve the representation of precipitation extremes, particularly when associated with orographic influences. Nevertheless, uncertainties will remain and the gridpoint scale of such a model still cannot be reliably compared to the local scales at which extreme convective events are experienced (Westra et al., 2014).

Chapter 3: Methods of Event Attribution

Other kinds of conditioning on large-scale aspects of the climate state, such as soil-moisture anomalies, sea-ice extent, or stratospheric circulation, would be subject to similar considerations.

Conditioning on the Features of an Event

The options change yet again for conditioning on the space and time scale of a single large storm event such as one of the named European winter storms or a tropical cyclone, which can be done with data assimilation and/or short-term forecasts. In this case a high-resolution weather forecast model with a detailed representation of topography, and perhaps even with explicit convection, can be used because the simulations need only be performed for a few days or weeks at most. Thus, tropical storms and severe precipitation events can be studied (see e.g., Lackmann, 2015; Meredith et al., 2015), but tornadoes remain a challenge. Since the factual simulation can now be directly compared with the observed event, in all its relevant details, evaluation of whether the model is fit-for-purpose can be performed at a level that is not possible in frameworks that are more weakly constrained by observations (i.e., less strongly conditioned). Nevertheless, the description of the counterfactual remains a challenge since it is necessary to determine the anthropogenic component of the thermodynamic conditions relevant for the event; this introduces uncertainties comparable to those of determining the counterfactual ocean state in atmosphere-only model simulations, as discussed above.

In general, uncertainties that result from model skill limitations are difficult to describe precisely and are circumstance specific; these uncertainties are discussed further below.

UNCERTAINTY QUANTIFICATION

Uncertainty arises from many sources; some of this uncertainty is amenable to statistical characterization, while other aspects are difficult to quantify. Sampling uncertainty is the inherent uncertainty from trying to quantify the intensity and frequency of extreme weather or climate events using datasets of limited size from either observations or model ensembles. Additional uncertainties arise from the use of models in event attribution.

Quantifying Sampling Uncertainty

Sampling uncertainty arises from using a dataset of limited size to estimate event probabilities or distributions of event magnitudes, either an observational dataset or an ensemble of model simulations. In the context of event attribution, the main source of sampling uncertainty is the chaotic unforced variability that is a pervasive feature of the climate system and that is simulated to various extents by climate models, even when run without any type of time-varying natural or anthropogenic external forcing. This can include substantial contributions from the low-frequency natural variability of the climate system (Box 3.1), including the effects of long-term oscillations that may confound the

BOX 3.1 Unforced Natural Variability

Natural variability includes both the response to natural external forcings such as volcanic eruptions and the unforced, chaotic variability that occurs continually in the climate system (also known as internal variability). We experience some of that variability as weather, but it also occurs on much longer time scales, resulting in extended periods that may be cooler, warmer, dryer or wetter than average. Such low-frequency internal variations at decadal-to-multidecadal timescales represent a major challenge in the attribution of extreme events to anthropogenic climate change. Over these timescales these variations can dominate externally forced changes (Deser et al., 2014; Hawkins and Sutton, 2009) by producing temporarily large trends in key climate variables. The decadal and multidecadal trends associated with internal variations impact not only the mean values over periods of decades, but also their distributions in space and time, including the tails of the distributions and hence the frequencies of extreme events (Sardeshmukh et al., 2015).

The following are examples of the impacts of low-frequency natural variability on extreme events of the type addressed in this report. First, by one definition, the occurrence of heat waves in the United States peaked in the Dust Bowl decade of the 1930s, and the record frequencies of heat waves during that decade have yet to be exceeded (Peterson et al., 2013a; Figure 3.5). These heat waves occurred during a period of rapid global warming over the period 1900 to 1950 that probably had a human component on the global scale (Hegerl, 2007) as well as a natural variability component, but it was also a period of anomalous circulation and strong variability (see Bindoff et al., 2013). Second, hurricane activity in the North Atlantic displays multidecadal variability associated with low-frequency variations in Atlantic Ocean sea surface temperatures (Camargo et al., 2013), although human-caused greenhouse gas increases and particulate pollution have also been implicated in recent hurricane trends in the North Atlantic (Booth et al., 2012). Third, the North Pacific and adjacent land areas are influenced by multidecadal variations in temperature and precipitation associated with the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (Dai, 2013). The latter has a longer timescale than the El Niño/Southern Oscillation, although the connections between these two modes of ocean-atmosphere variability are still being investigated (Wang et al., 2014). Both of these large-scale climate oscillations have been linked to variations in the risk of intense precipitation over North America (e.g., Fuentes-Franco et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2010). Observationally derived annual probabilities of extreme events (or their inverses, return periods) may be misleading if the available record length is too short to adequately reflect the full range of variation from low frequency natural variability (e.g., Jain and Lall, 2001) or if the underlying statistical methodology does not account for the presence of such variability.

In model-based attribution studies, the use of large ensembles of simulations can enable averaging that removes much of the unforced natural variability. Thus externally forced signals may be more prominent in unconditional attribution studies. However, when attribution of extreme events is conditioned on observed SSTs (for which there is only one historical realization), unforced natural variability may impact conclusions about likelihoods. In the case of a counterfactual SST state, for example, the counterfactual climate would have its own natural variability that might or might not be comparable to that of the present climate, with implications for the likelihoods of SST anomalies of a particular magnitude in the two climates. Finally, anticipation of future changes in extreme events over the next decade or two, the timescales of interest for many risk assessments (e.g., by insurers), must consider the role of natural variability in the likelihood of particular types of events.

Chapter 3: Methods of Event Attribution



FIGURE 3.5 Time series of decadal average values of heat wave (red bars) and cold wave (blue bars) indices over various regions of the United States; the average for the entire United States is shown at the lower left. These indices are a normalized (to an average value of 1.0) metric of the number of extreme temperature events for spells of 4-day duration. An event is considered extreme if the average temperature exceeds the threshold for a 1-in-5 year recurrence. The horizontal labels give the beginning year of the decade. Recent decades tend to show an increase in the number of heat waves and a decrease in the number of cold waves but over the long-term, the drought years of the 1930s stand out as having the most heat waves. SOURCE: Peterson et al., 2013a.

effects of human-induced changes in analyses based on short observational records. Observational uncertainty in the actual state of the climate system caused by datasets of limited size and by errors in measurements can also contribute to sampling uncertainty. Such uncertainty is represented in ensemble observational datasets such as HadCRUT4 (Morice et al., 2012) and ensemble reanalyses such as the 20th Century Reanalysis (Compo et al., 2011).

Quantifying uncertainty because of limited sampling can be addressed using well established statistical techniques and could be done from either a frequentist or a Bayesian perspective (Box 3.2). The simplest approach is to use the empirical probability, namely to calculate the proportion of times that the event (often defined based on a given variable exceeding a threshold) occurred. The uncertainty from the difference between this empirical probability and the true underlying probability can be estimated using a variety of standard techniques (Fagerland et al., 2015). With limited data and when attempting to quantify small probabilities in the tail of a distribution, extreme value methods can be helpful in reducing statistical variability (Coles, 2001; Kharin and Zwiers, 2005). One difficulty that can arise is when the estimated p_1 or p_0 is 0, which can result in difficulty in quantifying sampling uncertainty in estimates of RR or FAR as well as FAR values that become uninformative because they saturate near 1 (see Chapter 2). There are statistical techniques that can estimate a one-sided uncertainty interval in such situations (Hansen et al., 2014b), but these have not been part of common practice in event attribution analyses.

In modeling studies, uncertainty from natural variability is accounted for in analyses that use coupled models. Such model simulations sample over the state of the

climate system and, if run for sufficiently long or with sufficiently large ensembles, should, in principle, represent the full distribution of natural variability as a component of sampling uncertainty. However, for a representative sample, very long time series may be needed (Wittenberg et al., 2014), and models may not capture dynamics in response to forcing or teleconnections well.

As discussed earlier, observation-based approaches that avoid the use of models often compare a recent time period intended to represent the world under anthropogenic influence to a historical time period (e.g., the early or mid-20th century) with weaker anthropogenic influences (e.g., Hansen et al., 2014b; King et al., 2015; van Oldenborgh et al., 2014) as proxies for the factual and counterfactual scenarios. Sampling uncertainty considerations discussed above apply to estimating probabilities for both time periods. For extreme events, one generally needs adequate replication over time, requiring a long time period, to reduce uncertainty, and uncertainty is often high because of a paucity of data. However, a statistical bias may arise when using data from long time periods because the climate is not stationary over that period, though some statistical techniques are able to account for some aspects of non-stationarity (King et al., 2015; van Oldenborgh et al., 2015). In addition, uncertainty can be high because the length of the time period under consideration may not represent the full range of natural variability. In the face of natural variability that includes decadal-scale variability that will not be wellsampled in most observational samples, it will be difficult to even adequately quantify the uncertainty.

A technical concern with the statistical analyses in the event attribution literature is that studies often mix frequentist and Bayesian perspectives (Box 3.2) and methodologies without a clearly defined probabilistic framework. In particular, analyses often use the well-established bootstrap technique to quantify uncertainty in quantities such as FAR and RR (Stone and Allen, 2005; Christidis et al., 2013b; Pall et al., 2011). The bootstrap is a technique that estimates the sampling distribution of a statistic (Davison and Hinkley, 1997), such as an empirical probability, p. In other words it quantifies the variability of p (around the true p) that would occur in repeated analyses with statistically equivalent samples of data; this is the "repeated sampling" discussed in Box 3.2. In the most straightforward approach to the bootstrap, this involves resampling with replacement from the data, for example, resampling from the ensemble members in a model-based attribution analysis. This sampling distribution can then be used to estimate a standard error or confidence interval. This is a frequentist approach because the sampling distribution is the probability density function (PDF) of the statistic, p, not the PDF of the true value, p. In the frequentist approach, p is not random and therefore cannot have a distribution. Necessarily, only a Bayesian approach can provide a PDF for the true value of the quantity of interest, such as p, FAR, or RR based on the available observational or modeling data.

However, event attribution analyses generally plot the sampling distribution and carry out calculations with it that are presented and interpreted in a Bayesian framework. An early example of this is Stott et al. (2004), who report PDFs (they also call these normalized likelihoods) for return probability and FAR, where these PDFs are based on the bootstrap and are actually sampling distributions. This interpretation of a sampling distribution as a PDF for the quantity of interest (i.e., as a Bayesian posterior distribution) is akin to the common statistical misinterpretation that a hypothesis test provides a

Chapter 3: Methods of Event Attribution

probability that the null hypothesis is true. In certain simple circumstances, the numerical results from interpreting the sampling distribution as a Bayesian posterior coincide with the Bayesian posterior distribution that would have been computed from implementing a Bayesian approach to the problem (Gelman et al., 2013). However, there is no statistical result that shows that this is in general the case, so use of the bootstrap to compute results that are then interpreted in a Bayesian fashion is not in general justified by statistical theory. Rather than carrying out a frequentist analysis and giving it a Bayesian interpretation, an analysis that seeks to provide a PDF for a quantity such as FAR or RR should use the Bayesian framework with a stated prior distribution and determine the resulting posterior distribution rather than using the bootstrap. This would require the analyst to specify a prior distribution, which can be difficult to decide upon and may be subjective. A frequentist alternative that will often be straightforward to implement is to report a confidence interval calculated using standard statistical methods, such as the bootstrap.

Quantifying Uncertainty in Model-Based Analyses

In studies based on model output, one can quantify sampling uncertainty as described in the previous section, and one can reduce sampling uncertainty as much as desired by using larger ensembles, limited only by computational time and resources. However, uncertainty from using a model (or models) to approximate the climate system is difficult to quantify or to reduce, although there is a large body of literature on uncertainty quantification for deterministic models (Santer et al., 2003; see also some of the discussion in Uncertainties in Model Based Studies, above). In particular, all models have biases in representing the climate system that carry over into bias in estimated event probabilities, even for events for which a model is carefully evaluated before its use for event attribution. As discussed further below, bias may be reduced but will not be avoided entirely by using multiple models.

The following sources of uncertainty affect estimates of event probabilities and magnitudes in model-based analyses (Hawkins and Sutton, 2009):

- *Boundary condition uncertainty* (sometimes called scenario uncertainty): This includes aspects of the system that are fixed in the model and therefore not simulated by the model. For example, depending on the model details, this can include some aspects of land surface characteristics.
- *Model uncertainty*: This is the uncertainty from the inability of any model to fully represent the system, including uncertainty that arises from the need to parameterize (approximate) the representation of sub-grid scale processes. The nature of this uncertainty will vary with the type of model that is used for event attribution (e.g., ranging from global coupled models, to nested regional climate models, to very high resolution convection permitting models).

BOX 3.2 Frequentist Versus Bayesian Approaches to Statistics¹⁷

Both the frequentist and Bayesian approaches to statistics attempt to use data to estimate quantities of interest and to quantify our uncertainty in making such estimates, but the approaches differ in how probability is used. Frequentists use probability only to model certain processes that relate to how data are collected and are broadly described as "sampling." Bayesians use probability more widely to model sampling as well as other kinds of uncertainty and variability. Both approaches then use well-established principles to calculate estimates of the quantity of interest and uncertainty bounds on those estimates.

The easiest way to appreciate the differences between the two approaches is to first consider a simple example that is unrelated to climate science. Thus imagine that we are interested in the average height h in inches of all adult males in the United States.

A Bayesian statistician would begin with a "prior distribution," meaning a probability distribution that describes what we know about *h* before collecting any data. Some prior information is available: *h* is certainly between 60 and 84 inches, and more likely near the middle of this range. A reasonable way to describe this knowledge might be to use a bell-shaped curve that gradually rises from a value of zero for values of *h* greater than 60, reaches a peak at 72 inches, and then gradually declines again until again becoming zero at 84 inches. The curve is drawn so that the area under the curve is one, indicating that the true value of *h* has to be somewhere between 60 and 84, and the peak at 72 indicates our prior belief that this is the most likely value of *h*. After collecting some data (e.g., the heights of a random sample of U.S. adult males), the Bayesian would use established techniques to update this prior distribution in light of the data to get a new probability distribution for *h* called the posterior distribution. The posterior distribution, the Bayesian can make a statement such as P(70≤h≤74)=0.95—that is, there is a 95% chance that the average height of all males in the United States lies between 70 and 74 inches.

Frequentists do not allow themselves to make such statements. For a frequentist, h is simply an unknown constant that could in principle be known (such as by measuring the heights of all adult males at a given time). To the frequentist, the probability statement above is

• *Parametric uncertainty*: This represents uncertainty in the appropriate values for parameters in the climate model. Parametric uncertainty could be considered to be one component of model uncertainty.

In addition there are additional sources of uncertainty in conditional analyses:

- *Counterfactual boundary condition uncertainty*: For the counterfactual scenario, there is uncertainty in boundary conditions such as the SSTs in atmosphere-only model simulations.
- *Conditioning uncertainty*: This is the uncertainty that arises because conditional results pertain directly only to the state of the system that is conditioned on, such as the SST state in atmosphere-only models. As discussed in Chapter 2, conditional attribution inherently ignores changes in the likelihood of the conditioning state and whether the attribution result would differ when conditioning on other possible states of the system.

¹⁷ Adapted from https://www.quora.com/What-is-the-difference-between-Bayesian-and-frequentist-statisticians

Chapter 3: Methods of Event Attribution

meaningless because *h* is a fixed value and they only make probability statements that describe what happens with repeated sampling. An example of an acceptable probability statement for a frequentist would be $P(70 \le H \le 74)=0.65$, where *H* is the height of a randomly drawn individual from the population of adult males in the United States. Such a statement would tell us that 65% of U.S. males have heights between 70 and 74 inches. We might judge from this that the average height *h* also lies in this range, but a frequentist would not assign a probability to that judgment. However, he or she might give a confidence interval for *h*. In this case, the end points of such an interval are constructed from the heights of a random sample of males in such a way that, if the sampling process were repeated, the interval would cover *h* with a specified probability, such as 90%. That is, if the sampling process were repeated 100 times, and if a 90% confidence interval were calculated each time, then we would expect approximately 90 out of the 100 of the confidence intervals to include the unknown constant *h*. The confidence level and the length of this interval together give an indication of the precision of the estimate of *h* that is obtained from the available sample.

The sampling variability that is described by frequentists can arise in a number of ways. In the example above, it originates from the process of randomly selecting individuals from the U.S. population of adult males. In climate science, it can arise from observing different periods in the evolution of a weather or climate process that exhibits chaotic variability (e.g., 30-year temperature trends calculated from different 30-year periods would almost surely be different even if there were no external influences on the climate), by selecting different periods from a single climate or weather model simulation, or using different simulations from the same climate or weather model that have been started from different samples drawn in statistically equivalent ways, whereas a Bayesian will also use additional knowledge that is described in the form of probability distributions that quantify what is known or judged to be more or less likely given the available understanding before gathering further data. This can include descriptions of uncertainties, such as model and parametric uncertainty, that may rely on expert judgment (to greater or lesser extents in different situations) to describe the relative likelihoods of different possibilities.

Standard statistical analysis is not well suited to deal with these sources of uncertainty, and these uncertainties have not been broadly addressed in the large majority of studies, although some studies have addressed limited aspects of model uncertainty. One approach that can help to characterize the parametric uncertainty component of model uncertainty is the use of perturbed physics ensembles (PPEs) to sample from parameter distributions (e.g., Christidis et al., 2013b). The use of multimodel ensembles can help to characterize model uncertainty, as done in studies using the CMIP5 archive. In addition, some studies have done event attribution with atmosphere-only models using multiple SST patterns meant to quantify the uncertainty related to the state of the system under natural forcings (Christidis et al., 2013a; Pall et al., 2011).

Some studies account for these types of uncertainties by using methods that involve drawing samples. For example, in a PPE, one draws multiple parameter samples and runs a model simulation for each draw of the parameters. In a multi-model ensemble, the simulations available can be viewed as drawing a sample from the space of models. However, interpretation of such a sample based on an ensemble of opportunity of climate models, such as those that participated in CMIP3 or CMIP5, remains a challenging topic (Annan and Hargreaves, 2010; Rougier et al., 2013). Estimation of event probabilities (and derived quantities such as FAR or RR) and uncertainties then proceeds by treating

the variability induced by varying the parameters or using multiple models as sampling variability from a frequentist perspective.

While implementation of such a procedure is straightforward computationally, the statistical framework for the interpretation of the results remains underdeveloped and requires careful thought and further research. Such analyses are not easily interpreted from a frequentist statistical perspective because they combine uncertainty from conceptually different sources (e.g., chaotic variability generated spontaneously by the climate system versus deliberate investigator imposed variations of parameter values versus the sequence of difficult to characterize decisions that are made in constructing a given CMIP5 climate model). However, they might be considered as Bayesian analyses that sample from prior distributions over parameters and/or models (Tebaldi et al., 2005), although this interpretation may require some alteration to the details of the statistical analysis. Finally, it is important to recognize that while a Bayesian analysis quantifies the uncertainty for the given prior distribution (e.g., over parameters or models), results depend on that prior distribution, and the prior distribution may be difficult to characterize.

Such analyses, either frequentist or Bayesian, do not eliminate or quantify statistical bias from systematic differences between model results and the real climate system (see Box 3.3). Since observations are not available to assess the quality of model-based estimates of p_0 , and will often be inadequate to assess estimates of p_1 , it is not possible to determine whether estimates of p_1 , p_0 , RR, and FAR are unbiased estimates of their real-world counterparts. Viewed from a Bayesian perspective, the prior distribution over parameters or models is not updated based on observed data as in a standard Bayesian analysis.

This concern about statistical bias can be stated in another way in the context of multi-model analyses. Agreement among models in estimates of p_1 , p_0 , RR and FAR may be considered a necessary, but not sufficient, condition for confidence in an attribution statement since agreement does not limit the possibility of inadequacies and unknown errors that are common amongst models.

In light of the difficulties that arise in trying to quantify overall uncertainty in modelbased analyses, one alternative to formal uncertainty quantification is simple sensitivity analysis that assesses how sensitive the results are to choices such as model or parameter values. For example, there is work in the statistics literature that attempts to quantify the extent to which a potential source of bias could change the conclusions of an analysis (e.g., VanderWeele and Arah, 2011). Alternatively, analyses could make use of observations to weight parameter values and models based on a comparison of factual world simulations to observations. However, choosing the metric on which to judge the skill of different models remains difficult, and rankings of models can vary widely depending on the metric and outcome under consideration (e.g., Flato et al., 2013; Gleckler et al., 2008). Furthermore, such a weighting assumes that it also holds in the counterfactual world. As yet, there has been limited success in identifying "emergent constraints" (e.g., Bracegirdle and Stephenson, 2012; Hall and Qu, 2006) that use observations to identify models that will perform similarly under future forcing, and similar difficulties can be expected when considering model performance in the counterfactual world.

Chapter 3: Methods of Event Attribution

BOX 3.3 Bias versus Variance

In considering the frequentist statistical properties of a statistical procedure, statisticians distinguish bias from variance. Bias is the systematic difference between the true quantity and data-based estimates of that quantity that is present across repeated studies with statistically equivalent samples of data. Variance is the variability of the estimates across repeated studies. In principle it is straightforward (though not necessarily practical) to reduce variance by increasing the sample size. In contrast, bias is hard to quantify and to reduce in either frequentist or Bayesian analyses, particularly if it is fundamentally related to the manner in which the data are collected. For example, if there is no limit on computing resources, then the variance of a model-based estimate of RR can be reduced to any specified small level by generating sufficiently large ensembles of the factual and counterfactual simulations from that model. But because the estimate is from a model that inherently has limitations, it will nevertheless be biased relative to the true RR. Because one cannot carry out a controlled experiment by drawing samples of real Earth systems, it will be difficult to avoid bias.

In summary, given the complicated nature of the various sources of uncertainty in model-based analyses, efforts at uncertainty quantification in event attribution analyses mix frequentist and Bayesian ideas and may not carefully define the statistical framework being used. The lack of a defined statistical framework makes it difficult to evaluate the uncertainty statements, yet such evaluation is a critical component of the overall evaluation of event attribution methods. As with operational weather forecasting, it is important to evaluate not just the best estimate in the attribution statement but also the uncertainty stated for that estimate.

THE USE OF MULTIPLE METHODS

Any study on event attribution will be influenced by the way the event is selected and framed, the way uncertainties are estimated and communicated, and the extent to which the model is suitable for purpose. However, it is clear that satisfyingly addressing uncertainties in all these aspects is difficult if not impossible. In the absence of being able to do so, some studies have started using multiple, different methods to estimate human influences on a given event. King et al. (2015) use an observations-only detection method to estimate changes in return period of an unusually warm year in Central England temperature, in comparison with a CMIP5 modeling-based approach. The latter approach uses climate model simulations, selecting models that reasonably simulate the variability of Central England temperature, and compares the probability of an anomalously hot year between simulations with natural forcings only and those that include anthropogenic forcings. Results were not identical but were comparable, and the authors chose to communicate the conservative result. However, while unusually hot years are an interesting test bed, they pose greatly reduced difficulties compared to other types of extremes. Hence multi-approach papers for non-temperature extremes in particular are recommended.

There are also a variety of papers analyzing similar events in the BAMS reports (Herring, 2014; Herring et al., 2015b), such as multiple analyses of the California drought (Funk et al., 2014 Swain et al., 2014; Wang and Schubert, 2014). The case of the

California drought illustrates that careful analysis of contradictory results in particular is required and that using a single study may provide incomplete information: Swain et al. (2014) show that the atmospheric conditions, such as the anomolous ridge that contributed to the drought may have been made more likely due to global warming (at least in CMIP5 models). Thermodynamic changes such as more available water vapor may counteract human influences on circulation (Wang and Schubert, 2014), which means human influences on California precipitation are unclear (all three papers).

Bringing multiple studies together, when there is robust scientific understanding, helps separate results that are reasonably robust from those that are more sensitive to framing and approach.

RAPID ATTRIBUTION AND OPERATIONALIZATION

The media, public, and decision makers increasingly ask for results from event attribution studies during or directly following an extreme event. To meet this need, some groups are developing rapid and/or operational event attribution systems to provide attribution assessments on faster timescales than the typical research mode timescale, which can often take years (Box 3.4).

Efforts to develop rapid event attribution (hours to days) are often being developed in a research setting by university based groups and because they tend to operate in a reactionary mode, analyze events that draw interest and that fall within their capabilities.

While some groups are working to provide attribution statements on rapid timescales, a key focus of operational attribution is to provide attribution assessments on seasonal timescales. Operational attribution is defined as a regular activity with well-established protocols to systematically evaluate the causes of extreme events based on predefined and tested methods. It would provide results on a range of time scales: during and immediately following an event, monthly or seasonally, and for publication in annual assessments (Stott et al., 2015). Such results would be supported by subsequent in-depth study of key events and regular updates on the performance of the event attribution system. By utilizing predetermined, objective, event selection criteria, selection bias (Chapter 2) would be minimized, helping stakeholders understand how individual events fit into the broader picture of climate change (Stott et al., 2015). The nascent efforts to operationalize event attribution employ many of the methods discussed in this chapter.

Objective approaches to compare and contrast the analyses among multiple different research groups based on agreed event selection criteria are yet to be developed, although the annual BAMS special issues on event attribution (Herring, 2014; Herring et al., 2015b; Peterson et al., 2012, 2013b), could be considered an initial step in the ongoing operationalization of event attribution.

Groups engaging in various near-operational and rapid event attribution efforts acknowledge that careful consideration must be given to the assessment of uncertainties and communication of the results. As discussed in Chapter 2, the ways in which the research questions are framed can influence the outcomes and results of event attribution analyses. The time constraints associated with rapid attribution may affect framing and methodological choices by limiting analyses to approaches that can be undertaken quickly. Examples of possible limitations are: reliance on a primarily observationally

Chapter 3: Methods of Event Attribution

based approach and possibly on station data that has not yet been quality-controlled; inability to assess the robustness of model-based results through reliance on single models with specified SSTs or "off the shelf" global model runs from an ensemble of opportunity; and insufficient time to investigate causal mechanisms, or to evaluate the model for the particular extreme events. Providing robust attribution statements on very short timelines is therefore difficult and results are likely to be less robust. This has to be balanced against the need for timely information. Hence it is important to follow up on any rapid attribution with studies that are not subject to such limitations in order to evaluate and improve the reliability.

Clearly communicating key messages to stakeholders about the methods and framing choices as well as the associated uncertainties and probabilities is critical to ensuring successful operational services. Furthermore, an important component of an operational system would be the use of methods to routinely evaluate the reliability of the event attribution assessments in much the same way that objective skill scores are an important aspect of the monitoring and evaluation of the performance of seasonal forecasting systems. Additionally, such systems should have rigorous approaches to managing and implementing system improvements, again akin to the methods used to continually improve models and data assimilation systems in operational weather prediction centers.

GUIDANCE FOR INCREASING THE ROBUSTNESS OF EVENT ATTRIBUTION

There is no single best method or set of assumptions for event attribution as these depend heavily on the framing of the question and the amount of time that is available to respond to the question. Time constraints may themselves affect framing and methodological choices by limiting analyses to approaches that can be undertaken quickly (e.g., van Oldenborgh et al., 2015). This could mean relying primarily on observations, or using conditioned or highly-conditioned modeling approaches that can be undertaken with computationally fast dynamic models, or using unconditional approaches based only on available simulations, such as the CMIP5 ensemble of historical climate change simulations.

Assessment of model quality in relation to the event or event class of interest is critical for enhancing confidence in event attribution studies. Different event types pose different requirements for model fidelity. In general, larger-scale and longer-timescale events should be representable in global models, although representation of land-surface processes may be important for drought and heat waves and may lead to biases in event amplitude, for example, in some models (e.g., Hanlon et al., 2013). Smaller-scale and shorter-timescale events may require high-resolution models, which generally will be regional and could either be embedded within a global model or run in weather-forecast mode; they could also be based on a well-performing downscaling tool. Community-developed standards could help to encourage careful assessment.

For extremely rare meteorological events (e.g., Hurricane Sandy), the combination of rarity and spatial scale makes an unconditional attribution approach challenging from a modeling perspective. In this case, following the event itself in a highly conditional manner, either through short-term forecasts or through data

BOX 3.4

Examples of Rapid and/or Near-Operational Event Attribution Efforts

A brief summary of the main groups engaging in the development of operational and/or rapid attribution systems is included below.

EUCLEIA

The EUropean CLimate and weather Events: Interpretation and Attribution project, or EUCLEIA, is a 3-year project funded by the European Union that studies the attribution of weather and climate risks, primarily for Europe. The project aims to "provide well-verified assessments of the extent to which weather-related risks have changed due to human influences on climate" and to "identify those types of weather events where the science is still too uncertain to make a robust assessment of attributable risk." ¹⁸

A key deliverable of this project is an operational attribution system based on HadGEM-A,¹⁹ which will run on a seasonal cycle, delivering attribution assessments for each season together with estimated uncertainty. A component of the project in its pre-operational phase is to test developing capability to assess specific weather and climate events, using test cases of heat waves, cold spells, droughts, floods, and storm surges that are being conducted. An early example is the exploration of the role of atmospheric circulation and climate change in the extreme rainfall in the United Kingdom during the winter of 2013-2014 (Christidis and Stott, 2015). EUCLEIA is working closely with stakeholders to derive the requirements for this operational system and involves social scientists as well as natural scientists in order to better obtain insights from the stakeholder perspective.

EUCLEIA also collaborates with Weather@home and World Weather Attribution, whose efforts are described below.

World Weather Attribution²⁰

World Weather Attribution, or WWA, is an international effort coordinated by Climate Central²¹ designed to sharpen and accelerate the ability of the scientific community to not only analyze, but also communicate the possible influence of climate change on extreme weather events. The project relies on a range of approaches described in this chapter, including observationally based approaches, the use of existing ensembles of climate change simulations such as those produced for CMIP5, and the generation of very large ensembles with the weather@home infrastructure. In the latter case, WWA uses the weather@home experimental design, but replaces the observed SSTs with seasonal forecasts in order to predict the probability of extreme events under current climate conditions one month ahead. The counterfactual world is simulated as in other weather@home experiments. The intent is to shorten the response time of attribution studies following an event, to almost real-time response, and also to restrict the

assimilation, allows the use of high-resolution modeling tools capable of representing the event with great fidelity. However, when discussing results of such studies this conditioning needs to be clearly communicated as it strongly constrains the types of statements that can be made. In particular the change in probability of event occurrence (measured for example by FAR or RR) cannot be assessed by this method, and this could

¹⁸ See http://eucleia.eu/

¹⁹ A coupled Earth System Model that was used by the Met Office Hadley Centre for the CMIP5 centennial simulations.

²⁰ See http://www.climatecentral.org/wwa

²¹ See http://www.climatecentral.org/

conditioning of attribution statements on to that component of observed natural variability that is predictable on these timescales, since this is more consistent with the level of conditioning of these statements expected by stakeholders (see discussion of the role of conditioning in attribution statements). WWA is also coordinating with the international disaster response community through its partnership with the Red Cross/Red Crescent Climate Centre.²²

Weather@home²³

Weather@home is a project within climate*prediction*.net, a climate modelling project that uses the computing capacity available in desktop computers of volunteers in the general public. Climate*prediction*.net is based at the University of Oxford in the Environmental Change Institute and the Oxford e-Research Centre. Using the computing resources provided by volunteers through the climate*prediction*.net distributed computing network, weather@home runs very large ensembles of simulations with the UK Met Office's HadAM3P global atmosphere-only model to investigate how the odds of extreme weather events change due to anthropogenic climate change, other external forcings and natural variability. Depending upon the problem that is being investigated, the system can also be configured to dynamically downscale the output from HadAM3P by nesting the HadRM3P²⁴ regional model nested in the output from the global model.

For example, to investigate the 2013 heat waves and drought in Australia and New Zealand, weather@home is using their distributed computing power to run two experiments: representing 2013 as observed using sea surface temperature (SST) observations from December 2012 through November 2013 and present day atmospheric gas concentrations, and the counterfactual world of 2013 obtained by removing the modeled SST patterns of anthropogenic forcing from the observed 2012/2013 SSTs.²⁵

While weather@home is not aiming at doing its own rapid attribution system; they are a crucial partner in WWA and as such provide real-time attribution.

Weather Risk Attribution Forecast²⁶

The Weather Risk Attribution Forecast (WRAF) is a collaboration of the University of Cape Town, the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, and the University of Botswana, which provides the first real-time product to examine whether and how greenhouse gas emissions have contributed to our weather. The WRAF is a product, based on HadAM3-N48²⁷ and HadAM3P-N96²⁸ models, run in parallel with the seasonal forecast produced by the Climate Systems Analysis Group (CSAG) at the University of Cape Town. The attribution forecasts are issued monthly, and are available online: http://www.csag.uct.ac.za/~daithi/forecast/index.html for each month since January 2009. Preliminary forecasts are generated one month in advance; the final (hind-cast) version is issued 2-3 months later when observed SSTs become available and are integrated into the model simulations.

²² See http://www.ifrc.org/.

²³ See http://www.climateprediction.net/weatherathome/.

²⁴ A high-resolution, regional configuration of HadAM3 (atmosphere-only model) with improved physics.

²⁵ See http://www.climateprediction.net/weatherathome/australia-new-zealand-heat-waves/experiment-setup/.

²⁶ See http://www.csag.uct.ac.za/~daithi/forecast/.

²⁷ A dynamic model of the atmosphere produced by the U.K. Met Office Hadley Centre. It solves equations describing the evolution of the atmospheric state on a polar grid with a spatial resolution of 3.75 degrees in longitude and 2.5 degrees latitude with 19 vertical levels.

²⁸ A dynamic model of the atmosphere produced by the U.K. Met Office Hadley Centre. It is a modified version of HadAM3 that runs at a higher spatial resolution (1.875x1.25 degrees) and uses different methods of estimating the effects of small-scale processes.

serve either to counteract or amplify the changes in event magnitude or other properties that are attributed.

In almost all cases, event attribution questions relate to differences in the probability of a given event class or in the distribution of event magnitudes, and questions should be answered in the context of explanations about sources of uncertainty. Different approaches and levels of conditioning may help to control the sources of uncertainty, with greater amounts of conditioning being expected to improve signal-to-noise ratios. Nevertheless, uncertainty can never be fully eliminated. Thus statistical methods are required in all cases, including those when the analysis is highly conditioned on specific features of the circumstances surrounding an event, to properly account for uncontrolled variability and uncertainty. Statistics plays a key role in framing, designing, and interpreting event attribution studies.

Uncertainty in event attribution results needs to be estimated as much as possible and clearly communicated. Uncertainty emerges from a number of different sources. In the context of event attribution, the main source of sampling uncertainty is the chaotic unforced variability that is a pervasive feature of the climate system and that is simulated to various extents by climate models, even when run without any type of time-varying natural or anthropogenic external forcing. This can include substantial contributions from the low-frequency natural variability of the climate system, including the effects of longterm oscillations that may confound the diagnosis of the effects of human-induced changes in analyses based on short observational records. There are well-established statistical procedures for accounting for sampling uncertainty induced by limited sample sizes in observations and in initial condition model ensembles. In contrast, quantifying uncertainty from using models to represent the climate system is difficult, and there are not well-established statistical procedures available for use in the event attribution context. In some cases, results from methods that are designed explicitly to account for sampling variability have been given a Bayesian interpretation without establishing the framework within which such an interpretation would have meaning. In contrast, standard frequentist analysis or explicit implementation of Bayesian methods stand on firm statistical footing. The statistical framework for the interpretation of analyses that sample from parameter, model, and initial/boundary condition distributions is not yet well defined and needs further development. While a full quantification of uncertainty is desirable, it may be difficult to quantify the effect of many sources of uncertainty in a falsifiable way, and thus sensitivity analyses may offer the best practical path forward.

Event attribution results, particularly for local events, or such events that are strongly influenced by climate dynamics and its changes, are subject to substantial uncertainty and hinge on assumptions made when selecting a modeling setup and using statistical tools to quantify uncertainty. Given that these choices and the representation of uncertainties can be highly technical, communicating results of event attribution to the broader public in a way that does not overstate the result or fails to sufficiently highlight the assumptions involved in the analysis is difficult.

Chapter 4: Attribution of Individual Classes of Extreme Events

The scientific issues and challenges associated with extreme event attribution vary greatly from one event type to another. This chapter considers event types one at a time, focusing first on issues associated with event definition. Such issues may be conceptual or associated with limitations of the available observations. As background to attribution studies of single events of each type, prior knowledge is also reviewed. This includes research on patterns or trends in historical observations, as well as projections of future change using climate models. Though not strictly attribution, this broader context is relevant to the statement of task in that any scientifically responsible attribution studies, but by all aspects of existing scientific understanding of the relationship between the extreme event type in question and climate change. Existing attribution studies on single extreme events are also reviewed as part of this background. The number of studies varies widely; for some event types there are few or even no such studies. For each category, advances that might be possible in the near future are considered.

The event types considered here do not represent all possible event types influenced by climate factors, and moreover, some examples are of events defined not solely by atmospheric or meteorological quantities like temperature. The section on extreme precipitation, a meteorological event, considers only precipitation itself, not flooding, as the defining characteristic. The section on drought focuses on meteorological drought (primarily precipitation deficit) and hydrological drought, which are consequences of atmospheric factors. Wildfires are not, strictly speaking, meteorological events at all, but are—like other extreme events discussed here—of great societal concern, and the likelihood and extent of wildfires can be influenced by climatic factors. These choices about how and whether to include non-meteorological factors in our assessment of attribution are subjective and reflect committee judgment, available literature, and expertise. The committee recognizes that there are many additional events and other natural hazards that may be impacted by climate change (e.g., sea level rise, landslides, coral bleaching, etc.) that could be discussed in the context of event attribution.

EXTREME HEAT EVENTS

Event Type Definition

Heat events have been defined over a variety of timescales in the literature, from as little as a day to at least a year. This report distinguishes between temperature anomalies of short duration (days, heat events) and those of longer duration (weeks and longer, warm anomalies). Because temperature is a continuous variable, the spatial extent of a given heat event or warm anomaly is somewhat subjectively defined and can change through time as the event unfolds. Typically, a latitude-longitude box is used but

sometimes single stations (e.g., King et al., 2015) or political boundaries (e.g., Texas or Korea) are used. While a large majority of studies focus on heat events over land, some (e.g., Funk et al., 2013; Kam et al., 2015) have looked at warm SST anomalies over periods of seasons to years.

The impacts of heat events and warm anomalies (e.g., on human health) can be exacerbated by high dewpoints, and also by high nighttime temperatures (which in turn are more likely if dewpoints are high; e.g., Gershunov and Guirguis, 2012). Conversely, the amplitudes of the warm anomalies themselves can be increased by land-atmosphere feedbacks if moisture is low—hence the connection between drought and warm anomalies, covered below in the section on drought. In addition to their direct impacts, warm anomalies over both land and ocean can contribute to other types of extreme events (e.g., droughts or wildfires).

Prior Knowledge and Overview of Attribution Studies

The IPCC Fifth Assessment Report (Hartmann et al., 2013) noted that "A large amount of evidence continues to support the conclusion that most global land areas analyzed have experienced significant warming of both maximum and minimum temperature extremes since about 1950 ... " and concludes that "It is ... very likely that human influence has contributed to observed global scale changes in the frequency and intensity of daily temperature extremes since the mid-20th century, and *likely* that human influence has more than doubled the probability of occurrence of heat waves in some locations" (Figure 4.1). They also note that minimum temperatures have increased more than maximum temperatures, and maps of changes show statistically significant increases in two indices of extreme temperatures in almost every land area since 1950: the 90th percentile of daily minimum temperatures, and the 90th percentile of daily maximum temperatures. For the region of North and Central America (lumped for purposes of simplicity in a table), they assess changes in heat waves and warm events as "Medium confidence: increases in more regions than decreases but 1930s dominates longer term trends in the USA." The U.S. National Climate Assessment corroborates and provides additional detail: "Heat waves have generally become more frequent across the U.S. in recent decades, with western regions (including Alaska) setting records for numbers of these events in the 2000s.... Most other regions in the country had their highest number of short-duration heat waves in the 1930s" (Walsh et al., 2014). Regarding future projections, in the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, Collins et al., 2013 stated that: "It is also very likely that heat waves, defined as spells of days with temperature above a threshold determined from historical climatology, will occur with a higher frequency and duration."

For northern hemisphere land areas, numerous studies have examined different aspects of trends in extreme temperatures. Horton et al. (2015), for example, relate trends in extreme temperatures to atmospheric circulation changes over the 1979-2013 period, and Abatzoglou and Redmond (2007) explain the asymmetry in seasonal warming (1958-2006) between the eastern and western United States as a consequence of changes in

Chapter 4: Attribution of Individual Classes of Extreme Events



FIGURE 4.1 This figure shows a time series of the annual maximum nighttime temperature averaged over the European Region. Temperatures are plotted as anomalies, or deviations from normal (in this case, 1961-1990), in degree Kelvin (K). Observed temperatures are represented by the black lines (OBS) and are based on Caesar et al. (2006; updated). The orange lines (ALL) come from model simulation (Martin et al., 2006). Both observations and model output show an increasing trend in nighttime temperature anomalies over time. The horizontal dotted lines denote the uncertainty range (5-95%) due to natural climate variability. SOURCE: Stott et al., 2011.

atmospheric circulation. Peterson et al. (2013a) note the decadal changes in heat waves in 9 U.S. regions, defined as collections of states, for each decade since the 1900s, where a heat event is defined as a 4-day period exceeding the 5-year return period value for the period 1895-2010 (Figure 3.5). The 1930s remains the decade with the most heat waves, a curious fact that may be partly explained by the types of circulation changes noted by Horton et al. (2015) and Abatzoglou and Redmond (2007) for more recent periods. They note that even on these spatial scales, natural variability can dominate over anthropogenic warming to date.

For northern hemisphere land areas, numerous studies have examined different aspects of trends in extreme temperatures. Horton et al. (2015), for example, relate trends in extreme temperatures to atmospheric circulation changes over the 1979-2013 period, and Abatzoglou and Redmond (2007) explain the asymmetry in seasonal warming (1958-2006) between the eastern and western United States as a consequence of changes in atmospheric circulation. Peterson et al. (2013a) note the decadal changes in heat waves in 9 U.S. regions, defined as collections of states, for each decade since the 1900s, where a heat event is defined as a 4-day period exceeding the 5-year return period value for the period 1895-2010 (Figure 3.5). The 1930s remains the decade with the most heat waves,

a curious fact that may be partly explained by the types of circulation changes noted by Horton et al. (2015) and Abatzoglou and Redmond (2007) for more recent periods. They note that even on these spatial scales, natural variability can dominate over anthropogenic warming to date.

Heat events are arguably the extreme weather events for which attribution studies are most straightforward and have the longest history. Public and scientific interest in extreme event attribution increased rapidly after the 2003 European heat wave, which was associated with tens of thousands of excess deaths and prompted the seminal paper by Stott et al. (2004), whose methods form the groundwork for much subsequent work in this field (e.g., fraction of attributable risk). Of the events covered in the annual Explaining Extreme Events special issue of BAMS, the largest share (e.g., 8 out of 32 for 2014) of events are heat events or warm anomalies. This may reflect the greater likelihood of successful attribution of heat waves, compared to other event types, and to human-induced climate change using existing models and data (see discussion of selection bias in Chapter 2).

Most attribution studies of heat events and warm anomalies include an assessment of the trend in the temperature statistic used to define the event and an indication of how extreme the event was in the context of the observed record. Many studies also compare the magnitude with a distribution from long CMIP5 runs—in some cases, from long simulations with constant 19th century radiative forcing and in some cases from simulations using observed radiative forcing (i.e., CMIP5-ALL). For example, the European annual mean temperature in 2014 was shown to be far outside the distribution of CMIP5 20th century simulations even with observed forcing (Kam et al., 2015).

Most recent studies calculate FAR, and some also estimate the uncertainty in FAR, for example by bootstrapping subsets from natural ensembles using 10 GCMs (King et al., 2015). Some studies also explore how the results depend on event definition: for example, Black et al. (2015) examine the January 2014 heat events in Adelaide and Melbourne, Australia, using definitions of heat wave with durations ranging from 1 to 5 days. Some studies also compute return periods for different thresholds (e.g., Christidis et al., 2015) or the risk ratio (e.g., Hannart et al., 2015b).

A number of studies used very large ensembles (i.e., bigger than available from CMIP5) from either a global (e.g., Rupp et al., 2012; Massey et al. 2014) or regional (Black et al., 2015; King et al., 2015; Figure 4.2) atmospheric model. In these studies, changes in FAR, risk ratio, and/or return period are calculated using an approach (Chapter 3) that estimates the anthropogenic contribution to modern SSTs and subtracts that from the observed SSTs, typically with SST patterns from at least a few global coupled climate models used to estimate the anthropogenic contribution. Other approaches to estimating the counterfactual include using early 20th century or pre-industrial control (e.g., Black et al., 2015).



FIGURE 4.2 The single very hot days in Melbourne still show a large spread in FAR values despite the higher frequency of such events under both the "natural" and "all forcings" climate scenarios, compared with the counterfactual. This figure shows FAR and the corresponding increase in likelihood calculated for Adelaide (blue) and Melbourne (black) heat waves of different durations. The temperature threshold used to define heat waves was 42°C for Adelaide and 41°C for Melbourne. Ten "natural" ensembles are aggregated (black symbols) in order to calculate a best estimate of FAR, while each of the "natural" ensembles is considered separately (white symbols) in order to better sample the possible range of FAR values and estimate uncertainties. SOURCE: Black et al., 2015.

On the Horizon

Simulations of heat events and warm anomalies may benefit from improvements in land surface schemes in global and regional models. Few studies include an evaluation of models' ability to simulate the important statistical properties of the event of interest. While Trenberth et al. (2015) do not include heat events among their examples of a highly conditioned approach, this approach clearly could be applied to heat events, starting perhaps with one of the most impactful events like the Russian heat wave of 2010. Heat events and warm anomalies may be the best candidates for assessing the reliability and robustness of attribution methods because the direct thermodynamic effects on this type of extreme event are generally more straightforward than, for example, heavy rainfall.



FIGURE 4.3 The frozen Great Lakes during February 2014 (NASA image). Cold outbreaks ranging from days to seasons still occur, but their frequencies and magnitudes are decreasing.

EXTREME COLD EVENTS

Event Type Definition

Extreme cold events are generally described in terms of temperature, although wind, snow and ice can compound the impacts of an extreme cold event (Figure 4.3). The actual temperatures that characterize a cold event vary regionally and seasonally, but the temperatures during such an event will be in the cold tail of the probability distribution of temperatures for a location or region and time of year. The event definitions are most often based on daily temperatures, although multiday or longer averages have also been used. The criteria can be either an absolute temperature threshold (e.g., 0°C, 0°F, -20°C), often arbitrarily chosen, or a percentile value such as the 1-percentile or the 10-percentile criterion used in the Expert Team on Climate Change Detection and Indices (ETCCDI) ClimDEX database (Sillmann et al., 2013a, 2013b). Duration and intensity are other metrics of an extreme cold event. Metrics of duration can be the length of time (e.g., number of days) that a certain minimum threshold of temperature is exceeded or the time for which the multiday average temperature is below a prescribed threshold, while the intensity is often measured by the lowest temperature attained. In some instances, the severity of a cold event has been quantified as the product of the event duration and intensity.

Prior Knowledge and Overview of Attribution Studies

Extreme cold events are driven by a combination of thermodynamics (cold air mass formation) and dynamics (the large-scale circulation, advection). Horton et al. (2015) have used self-organizing maps derived from atmospheric reanalyses to show that both factors have played roles in recent changes in extreme cold events. In particular, increasing trends in northerly flow have led to an increasing trend in winter cold extremes over central Asia.

The research to date indicates that extreme cold events are less frequent and severe than in previous decades, although interannual variability is still large enough to allow extreme cold events such as occurred in North America in 2014 and Europe in 2012. Even over 60-year periods, trends in the coldest temperature of the year are not compellingly positive over Europe and the United States (van Oldenborgh et al., 2015, Fig. 4b). The increases in cold extreme daily minimum temperatures (i.e., warming) are generally greater than the increases in extreme daily maximum temperatures, and there is no indication of increased variability of daily or monthly winter temperatures over the United States (Kunkel et al., 2015; Screen et al., 2015b). A similar warming of the coldest temperatures over other land areas of the world emerged from Sillmann et al.'s (2013a; 2013b) analysis of the ETCCDI indices for 1948-2005 in four different atmospheric reanalyses and 31 CMIP5 models. The tendency for cold extremes to warm by more than hot extremes is also apparent in Collins et al.'s (2013) Figures 12.13 and 12.14 as well as the U.S. National Climate Assessment's Figure 2.20 (Melillo et al., 2014).

The general expectation is that cold events defined relative to fixed temperature thresholds should become less frequent and less severe as the climate warms on the global scale. However, it is possible for them to increase in frequency or intensity regionally for periods of time (e.g., due to increases in the intensity of cold air advection from polar to lower-latitude regions).

Extreme cold events in eastern North America have characterized a few recent winters (2014, 2012), but such events are less frequent and their actual temperatures less extreme in the past few decades than in earlier decades of the 20th century (van Oldenborgh et al., 2015; Wolter et al., 2015). In an analysis of observational data, van Oldenborgh et al. (2015) find that the return times of the lowest minimum temperatures of 2014 in the Midwestern United States ranged from 6 to 44 years in the present climate, but only from 3 to 7 years in the climate of the 1950s; return times of the cold winter-averaged temperatures were also greater in the present climate than in the 1950s. Decreases in cold wave events of four-day duration had the lowest frequency during the 2001-2010 decade in all eight subregions of the United States examined by Peterson et al. (2013a), although the decade of the 1980s had the highest frequencies nationally. However, 20-year return values of the daily minimum temperatures warmed over the entire contiguous United States during the 1950-2007 period, by as much as 3° and 4°C in much of the West (Peterson et al., 2013a).

There is a notable absence of conditional attribution studies pertaining to extreme cold events. However, observational studies provide evidence of a general decrease in the frequency of occurrence of extreme cold temperatures over the past few decades in most land areas of the world (Hartmann et al., 2013; Kharin et al., 2013). Kharin et al. show that the trends of extreme cold ETCCDI indices are comparable in atmospheric

reanalyses and CMIP5 historical simulations in which external forcing was historical. In this respect, external forcing (including its anthropogenic component) is implicated in the decreasing frequency of observed cold extremes. The reduction of cold extremes has been detected and attributed in extreme seasonal and annual temperatures (Christidis et al., 2012; Stott et al., 2013) as well as in the ETCCDI metrics of cold daily extremes (Morak et al., 2013; Zwiers et al., 2011). Attribution studies by Kharin et al. (2013) and others have drawn upon comparisons of observational data with climate model simulations driven by natural and anthropogenic forcing.

More recently, Wolter et al. (2015) also find decreasing frequencies of extreme cold events, in this case events affecting the Upper Midwest of the United States, in CMIP5 models and an ensemble of Community Earth System Model (CESM) simulations driven by historical forcing. The decreased frequency of cold extreme arises primarily from the underlying increase of the mean temperature, not from decreased variability (Screen et al., 2015b; Trenary et al., 2015; Wolter et al., 2015). Gao et al. (2015) show that decreases in temperature variance account for generally less than 20% of the projected 21st-century decreases in extreme cold temperatures over North America; the mean warming accounts for most of the remainder . The fact that underlying warming has moderated cold extremes has also been shown using daily circulation analogs for the European cold events of 2010 (Cattiaux et al., 2010).

Several recent attribution studies have examined extreme cold events in the context of retreating Arctic sea ice. By prescribing reduced Arctic sea ice cover but historically observed ocean temperatures outside of the Arctic in two different global climate models, Screen et al. (2015b, 2015a) find that ice loss is associated with decreased likelihood of extreme cold events (as well as decreased variability of temperature) over nearly the entire Northern Hemisphere land areas. The exception is the central Asian region, where the probability of extreme cold events increases with ice loss, in agreement with earlier studies (Inoue et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2014; Mori et al., 2014). For the rest of the hemisphere, the underlying warming dominates the trend of extreme cold events, implying that thermodynamically-induced changes dominate dynamicallyinduced variations, such as the jet stream. While some studies do point to influences of sea ice change on large-scale dynamics (Francis and Vavrus, 2015; Jaiser et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2014; Peings and Magnusdottir, 2014), the signals remain embedded in the noise of natural variability (Barnes et al., 2014) and, from the perspective of extreme cold events, are overwhelmed by the underlying warming. Additional attempts to link Arctic warming with an amplified jet stream and cold winters in middle latitudes have been made by Francis and Vavrus (2012, 2015).

On the Horizon

While the observational network is sufficiently dense to capture extreme cold events over most land areas (except possibly Antarctica), there have been few evaluations of the ability of models to simulate the frequency and intensity of these events. Sillmann et al. (2011) and Whan et al. (2016) show that some climate models are able to capture the linkage between atmospheric blocking and cold events over Europe and North America, respectively. However, more comprehensive assessments are needed of models' ability to simulate cold temperatures for the right reasons. The lowest temperatures are

often reached under clear-sky calm conditions characterized by strong near-surface temperature inversions. Limited vertical resolution is likely to impact model simulation of temperatures in such situations. It is also apparent from the studies cited above that atmospheric blocking events must be well simulated if models are to simulate extreme cold events realistically. Finally, decadal and even longer trends in cold extremes can be impacted by multi-decadal variability in the climate system (e.g., the Atlantic Multidecadal Oscillation [AMO] and the Pacific Decadal Oscillation [PDO]), which models must simulate in order to capture the temporal spectrum of extreme cold events.

With regard to a possible role of sea ice loss and Arctic amplification, mechanistic linkages are still an active area of research. Such linkages may contribute to cold events in some areas, particularly central Asia, but the dynamic mechanisms underlying such linkages need to be established. Hypothesis-driven model experiments are needed to identify any dynamic mechanisms linking Arctic changes with mid-latitude extreme events.

Finally, impact-relevant metrics of extreme cold events need to be developed for use in attribution studies. In a climate with polar amplified warming, increased equatorward flow will likely be required if cold air advection is to cause any hypothetical increase of extreme cold events in middle latitudes. In such cases, the extreme cold temperatures will be associated with winds to a greater extent than in the past, which in turn will contribute to more extreme wind chill values. Metrics such as the wind chill index are just starting to be used in cold-event attribution studies (Gao et al., 2015).

DROUGHTS

Event Type Definition

Droughts are complex phenomena involving various combinations of atmospheric inputs (chiefly precipitation, but also temperature), storage terms like soil moisture and snowpack, and responses of the human and natural system on a variety of timescales. In addition, there are several types of drought (Wilhite and Glantz, 1985), including meteorological drought (lower than expected precipitation over an extended period), hydrological drought (depletion of surface or subsurface water supply), agricultural drought (aspects of meteorological drought or hydrological drought that have impacts on agriculture, like reduced crop yield), and socioeconomic drought (effects on the supply of economic goods like hydroelectric power). In this report, we focus on meteorological drought and hydrologic drought.

Droughts are driven by multiple factors including precipitation deficits, feedbacks associated with soil moisture and evapotranspiration, and large-scale dynamics associated with ocean, land, and air temperatures. Droughts can occur across broad regions up to continental scale, but can also have dramatically different implications for communities that are in close proximity to each other. The same drought can change in location and intensity from month to month in dramatic ways, as can be seen in the maps produced by the National Integrated Drought Information System (NIDIS) and the U.S. Drought Monitor. Further, anthropogenic climate change has been shown to affect drought differently in different seasons and in different regions, particularly in the varied ways that reduced snowpack affects surface flows.

As Redmond (2002) points out, drought may be better defined as "insufficient water to meet needs." Thus, a holistic view of droughts encompasses both meteorological and hydrologic factors, on the "supply" side and terrestrial ecosystems, human consumption, and losses on the "demand" side, as well as infrastructure for water delivery, policies that affect water use, flexibility in addressing local shortfalls, etc. Since event selection for extreme event attribution is often driven by the magnitude of the impacts rather than the magnitude of the atmospheric driver, such considerations can be important in framing a drought attribution study. Similar holistic considerations apply to other extreme event types, to varying degrees.

One reason that attributing both extreme flooding and extreme droughts to anthropogenic climate change is particularly difficult is that changes in the hydrologic cycle are both causes of the event (a climatic driver) and consequences of the event (with water supply availability and flooding being literally "downstream" from the changes in precipitation). Another is that land-use decisions and investments in water-related infrastructure for hydroelectric power generation, flood control, and water supply have dramatically changed the natural hydrology within watersheds and have usually decreased—but sometimes increased—the risks associated with extreme events. It is therefore often quite challenging to attribute the impacts of droughts and floods to extreme events in the same way that it is possible to attribute changes in the intensity of precipitation (which is "upstream" from the drought or flood).

As an illustration of the complexity of defining and assessing drought, consider some of the hydrologic contributing factors to drought. Redmond (2002) refers to a "snow drought"-that is, for locations like much of the western United States that receive a majority of precipitation as snowfall and where summer precipitation is typically quite low, a deficit in winter snow can lead to summer drought. Bumbaco and Mote (2010) take the concept further, providing specific examples of when low winter precipitation or in some cases high winter or spring temperature ends up producing unusually low snowmelt for the dry summer period. Because there are so few observations, especially long records, of soil moisture, many studies use an index of drought computed from monthly observations of precipitation and/or temperature, like soil moisture computed in a hydrologic model, the Standardized Precipitation Index, or the Palmer Drought Severity Index (Funk et al., 2013). The simplicity of the latter makes it attractive to use in largescale drought assessments, but may also bias results—especially in the context of climate change. Thus, assessment of change in drought characteristics should consider including several indices, with specific consideration of their particular limitations (Seneviratne et al., 2012; Sheffield et al., 2012).

Prior Knowledge and Overview of Attribution Studies

The IPCC Special Report on Extremes (Seneviratne et al., 2012) noted that on a global scale, and owing in part to the variety of ways to define drought, there were not enough direct observations of drought-like conditions to conclude that there were robust global trends, but some regions of the world have experienced more intense and longer droughts. The IPCC Fifth Assessment Report (Hartmann et al., 2013) notes that some studies find an increase in the percentage of global land area in drought since 1950, but interannual and decadal-scale variability is high, and the results depend on datasets and

methods used. The attribution section assigns low confidence to attributing changes in drought over global land areas since the mid-20th century due to observational uncertainties and again high variability (Bindoff et al., 2013). Also, results differ depending on whether drought is defined as a rainfall deficit, or using hydrological variables like evaporation, many of which are affected by warming (see e.g., Seneviratne et al., 2010). However, some regional attribution studies are available. For example, Barnett et al. (2009) suggest that human influence has affected the hydrology of the western United States, considering snowpack and seasonal streamflow. Because temperature plays a role in determining evaporation, snowpack, soil moisture, and indirectly streamflow, attribution of hydrological drought may be more robust than strictly meteorological drought, which is more strongly influenced by precipitation. It may also be the case that attribution for some specific droughts may be more straightforward than reaching broad conclusions about the role of anthropogenic climate change in droughts globally because some of the specific regional factors that cause varying responses of drought to climate may be better understood in particular locations and times than others.

Regarding projections of future drought over the 21st century due to human influence, the IPCC Special Report on Extremes expressed "*medium confidence* that droughts will intensify in the 21st century in some seasons and areas, due to reduced precipitation and/or increased evapotranspiration. This applies to regions including southern Europe and the Mediterranean region, central Europe, central North America, Central America and Mexico, northeast Brazil, and southern Africa" (Seneviratne et al., 2012). Low confidence was expressed elsewhere due to disagreement between different projections, resulting both from different models and different indices of drought. Additional uncertainties result from soil moisture limitations on evapotranspiration, the impact of CO2 concentrations on plant transpiration, observational uncertainties relevant to interpretation of historical trends, and process representation in current land models (e.g., Greve et al., 2014; Sheffield et al., 2012; Trenberth et al., 2014).

Many drought-related attribution studies (e.g., Funk et al., 2015; Hoerling et al., 2013; Wilcox et al., 2015) use a similar approach to those for heat: comparing CMIP5 runs from the preindustrial control, natural-only 20th century, and anthropogenic forcings. Some (e.g., Barlow and Hoell, 2015; Hoerling et al., 2013) use SST-conditioned runs, that is, atmosphere-only model simulations using observed SSTs, often compared with a counterfactual to compute FAR. A few also use an approach closer to seasonal forecasting, which somewhat resembles a highly-conditioned approach: Hoerling et al. (2013) use an 80-member ensemble with the operational GFS model for Oct 2009-September 2011 to study the Texas drought of 2011, and Funk et al. (2015) also use GFS to study the east African drought of 2012.

With both global and regional models, numerous papers have used very large ensembles of simulations generated on the climateprediction.net platform. For example, Bergaoui et al. (2015) looked at drought in the Southern Levant (approximately Israel) using the Hadley HADAM3P global model and counterfactual SSTs generated from 11 GCMs; Marthews et al. (2015) use the regional model HadRM3P to study drought in east Africa; Rupp et al. (2012) use the HADAM3P global model to study heat and drought over Texas.

There are other studies using large ensembles that do not use climateprediction.net. Seager et al. (2015) draw on simulations with observed SSTs to April 2014 made by 7 research groups, with a total of 150 GCM simulations. Their focus is more on diagnosing teleconnections to specific SST anomalies, however, than on attribution to human-induced climate change. Shiogama et al. (2013b) use a 100-member ensemble of MIROC5 to study drought in the south Amazon region.

As might be expected given the ambiguity of results concerning the trends in fraction of global area affected by drought (Hartmann et al., 2013), attribution studies do not always find strong influence of anthropogenic climate change. Some recent studies of the Colorado River anticipate dramatic impacts on river flows associated with changes in temperature (Vano et al., 2012, 2014). Meanwhile, no anthropogenic contribution was specifically identified in a recent study of Eastern Brazil's recent drought; rather, it was linked to a natural but unusual excursion of the South Atlantic Convergence Zone (Otto et al., 2015b). Several other studies (viz., Barlow and Hoell, 2015; McBride et al., 2015; Wilcox et al., 2015) found uncertain changes in likelihood and strength (see also Herring et al., 2015a, for summary tables). Shiogama et al. (2013a) note that their results were sensitive to bias correction.

While most attribution studies of drought focus on precipitation deficits, others have taken a more expansive approach. Funk et al. (2015) run a hydrologic model over eastern Africa and discuss changes in soil moisture and evapotranspiration, though they do not conduct attribution on those variables. Marthews et al. (2015), also studying east African drought, compute return periods for precipitation, specific humidity, and both shortwave and longwave radiative fluxes.

While drought is acknowledged to be a complex phenomenon due to the many physical processes involved and the broad range of societal factors that influence its occurrence and intensity, some aspects of drought are influenced by temperature in ways that are better understood, and thus more amenable to attribution than others. In particular, temperature exacerbates hydrological drought in some regions by increasing surface evaporation, so that increasing temperature causes an increasing risk of hydrological drought even if precipitation does not change (e.g., Diffenbaugh et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2015).

On the Horizon

Because drought is caused by multiple factors at different scales and contexts, an area that needs further work is understanding the dominant factors that have historically been causes of drought in specific regions and watersheds. For example, for much of the United States, the drought of record is still the 1930s Dust Bowl era, which in turn might have been exceeded by droughts early in the last millennium (e.g., Herweijer et al., 2007). Though there are anthropogenic links to changes in atmospheric circulation patterns (and associated anomalies in precipitation and temperature) in different seasons of the year and in different regions of the globe, the multiple interacting causes of individual droughts are not well understood. It may be possible to disentangle some of these components of drought and perform attribution studies in this context. Other possible future efforts that remain largely unexplored include using a combination of large ensemble and full hydrologic model simulations for attribution, decomposing

droughts into circulation components and thermodynamic components (as suggested by Trenberth et al., 2015). Another challenge in the attribution of drought relates to its linkage to climate variability (e.g., SST anomalies in different basins) on seasonal-to-decadal time scales. Given that understanding is lacking on how different climate modes change as a result of anthropogenic climate change, our ability to understand drought response related to changes in climate variability is limited. Because droughts (like many other extremes) can lead to shifts in water management and policy, water managers and policymakers alike often ask the attribution question, alongside more immediate questions like predicting the end of a current drought; and these demands are likely to continue.

The ongoing California drought has been the subject of a large and rapidly growing number of studies, often reaching apparently contradictory conclusions. For example, Cheng et al. (2016) distinguish between the response of shallow (<10cm) and deep (>1m) soil moisture and estimate little effect of anthropogenic warming on drought risk because of competing influences of rising precipitation and rising temperature. By contrast, Diffenbaugh et al. (2015) find that warming alone increases drought risk in California, using a modified drought severity index. It will be an important challenge for future workers to develop a systematic approach to synthesizing all these different studies.

WILDFIRES

Event Type Definition

Although wildfires are not meteorological events, their likelihood and extent can be influenced by climatic factors. Wildfires are often large and rapidly spreading fires affecting forests, shrub areas and/or grasslands. Wildfires occur in many areas of the world, especially those with extensive forests and grasslands (Romero-Lankao et al., 2014). While most wildfires are started by lightning, a substantial number are started by humans, especially near populated areas. The most common metric of wildfires is the area burned, either by a single wildfire or by all wildfires during a fire season in a particular region.

Attribution of wildfire trends and extreme events is complicated by (1) the role of humans in ignitions, fire suppression, and management of forests and other biomes (Gauthier et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2014); (2) the importance of lightning, hence small-scale thunderstorms, in igniting large fire outbreaks; (3) the importance of larger-scale weather in the wildfire spread and growth into major events (specifically, winds and humidity for fire spread, and rain for extinguishing a fire outbreak; Abatzoglou and Kolden, 2011); and (4) the health of the forest (e.g., a white pine bark beetle infestation). Thus, attribution studies need to consider three time/space scales: (1) individual large fires, which are controlled primarily by short-term weather patterns; (2) regional-scale within-season extreme fire periods, which are driven by seasonal weather patterns; and (3) large fire seasons, which are regional-scale events resulting from climate teleconnections associated with persistent blocking ridges that cause extended fire seasons (with delayed season-ending rains). Pre-season preconditioning of soils and vegetation can play a role on all three timescales.

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

Prior Knowledge and Overview of Attribution Studies

Analysis of wildfire trends and extremes is limited by the availability of consistent data records. For example, fire surveillance methods have improved in recent decades; the area actually burned by a fire can be less than the area within the fire perimeter; and some metrics of fire activity include only large fires. There has been an overall increase in the area burned in the United States over the past several decades (Figure 4.4). The increase is especially apparent in the West. Trends are less apparent in Canada, where the area burned by large fires increased from the 1960s to the 1980s and 1990s, after which there has not been an increase (Krezek-Hanes et al., 2011). Globally, however, fire weather season lengths showed significant increases during 1979-2013 across more than 25% of the Earth's vegetated surface, resulting in a 19% increase in the global mean fire weather season length (Jolly et al., 2015).

Periods of unstable atmospheric conditions result in high winds, rapid fire growth, extreme fire behavior, and convective storms that provide lightning for ignitions. Because climate models do not explicitly include lightning (or explicit formulations of convective storms), atmospheric stability and rain rate have been used to construct indices of lightning activity derived from model output. In an application of this approach to the output of a set of global climate models, Romps et al. (2014) project an increase in lightning strikes over the contiguous United States by 12% (+/-5%) per °C of global warming, or about 50% over this century.

Wildfires are closely associated with heat and drought, so some of the attribution issues pertaining to extreme wildfires and their likelihoods are covered in the preceding subsections on heat and drought. One of the earliest attribution studies showed that the increase of wildfire burn areas in Canada during 1959-1999 was consistent with anthropogenic summer warming (Gillett et al., 2004).

In addition to the controls by climate and weather (highlighted above), the availability of fuels and hence the state of the vegetation affects individual fires, as well as overall fire season severity. Attribution studies have generally used climate model output in conjunction with vegetation models or with metrics of fire risk derived from model-simulated precipitation and temperature. An example of the latter is recent study by Yoon et al. (2015), who use ensembles of historical and future (RCP 8.5) simulations by the CESM model to show that an increase in fire risk in California is attributable to climate change. Beginning in the 1990s, the later part of the historical simulation, a clear separation emerges between fire risks driven by only natural variability (the counterfactual climate, a long pre-industrial simulation) and by anthropogenic climate forcing (Yoon et al., 2015, Fig. 2.2). These results indicate that an increase in fire risk in

California is attributable to climate change, consistent with the occurrence since 2010 of several of the most severe fire years on record in California since 2010.

Similar model-derived results have been obtained for the broader western United States (Luo et al., 2013; Yue et al., 2013), Alaska (Mann et al., 2012) and for Canada (Flannigan et al., 2015). In the latter study, each degree of warming was found to require a precipitation increase of 15% to offset the temperature-driven decrease of the moisture content of fine surface fuels.

Chapter 4: Attribution of Individual Classes of Extreme Events



FIGURE 4.4 Yearly area burned by large wildfires in the United States, 1984-2013, color-coded by level of damage caused to the landscape—a measure of wildfire severity. SOURCE: U.S. EPA's "Climate Change Indicators in the United States." Data source: MTBS (Monitoring Trends in Burn Severity), a multi-agency partnership, http://www.mtbs.gov/index.html.

On the Horizon

Climate warming has resulted in longer fire seasons, consistent with the recent observed increase in severe fire years in the western United States and Alaska, as well as Brazil, eastern Africa, and parts of Eurasia (Jolly et al., 2015). What is less clear is how climate warming is driving changes in the atmospheric circulation and its teleconnections, resulting in persistent areas of high pressure that lead to large fire years on regional scales. Similarly, it is unclear how climate warming is regulating the shorterterm weather patterns that control extreme fire periods during which fires expand rapidly. Counterfactual model experiments are needed to address the role of climate warming in severe fire years regionally and in shorter episodes of rapid fire expansion.

Finally, there is lack of compelling evidence of an influence of climate warming on the formation of convective storms that result in lightning ignitions. While climate and weather conditions (temperature, wind, humidity) determine the rate of wildfire growth, ignitions—primarily by lightning in some areas, but predominantly by humans in others—are a prerequisite for wildfires. In view of the model-based projections of increases in lightning activity and fire season length, there is a need for attribution studies of severe fire years on a regional basis using the large ensemble methods and conditional methods discussed earlier. Such studies could use climate model output in conjunction with vegetation-fire modules that are being developed for inclusion in earth system models. However, large fires are almost always smaller than the grid cells of today's earth system models, so subgrid-cell variability will need to be represented in land-

surface modules that are either run offline or coupled to coarser-resolution atmospheric models.

EXTREME RAINFALL

Event Type Definition

An extreme rainfall event is defined as one in which precipitation over some specified time period exceeds some threshold, either at a point (i.e., as measured by a single rain gauge), or in an average over some spatial region.

In practice, the definition of an extreme rainfall event varies widely. Time periods of interest can vary from hourly to monthly. The choice of threshold is also quite variable. Some studies use fixed absolute thresholds (e.g., 25.4 mm or 1 inch/day), while others use a fixed percentile based on the distribution at a given location, in order to capture variations in what "extreme" means in practice in different regions. Some studies do not use thresholds at all. For example, some studies use annual or seasonal maxima (e.g., 24-hour precipitation accumulation). This is also the approach that is used to develop the intensity duration frequency (IDF) curves for extreme precipitation that are used in engineering practice.

Extreme precipitation can typically be traced to forcing associated with strong vertical motion and significant water vapor (Westra et al., 2014). Extreme precipitation is associated with an array of meteorological processes including tropical cyclones, extratropical cyclones, monsoons, atmospheric rivers, and localized convection (Kunkel et al., 2013).

Changes in extreme rainfall can be quantified using empirically defined metrics such as trends in the frequency with which some specified threshold is exceeded. Alternatively, statistical methods rooted in extreme value theory (Coles, 2001) can be used, allowing return levels for the most extreme events to be quantified (Kunkel et al., 2013).

Attribution of regional precipitation extremes is more challenging than that of temperature extremes (Bhend and Whetton, 2013; van Oldenborgh et al., 2013). Numerical models, as a rule, do not simulate precipitation as well as they do temperature, because of the smaller space and time scales of the precipitation field and the strong reliance on parameterizations of convection and other physical processes in all but the highest-resolution models. Kendon et al. (2014) argue that convection permitting models on the order of 1.5 km horizontal resolution are necessary to resolve convective processes associated with certain types of events. The salient lesson is caution is required with extreme rainfall analysis of lower resolution models.

Prior Knowledge and Overview of Attribution Studies

More intense and more frequent extreme precipitation events have long been projected in a warming climate (Hartmann et al., 2013; Hirsch and Archfield, 2015). An array of studies continues to provide strong support for upward trends in the intensity and frequency of extreme precipitation events (Seneviratne et al., 2012; Kunkel et al., 2013).

Wuebbles et al. (2014) project that such trends will continue and that heavy precipitation in simulations in CMIP5 may be underestimates relative to observed trends. Regarding the recent historical record, Hartmann et al. (2013) state: "It is *likely* that since about 1950 the number of heavy precipitation events over land has increased in more regions than it has decreased. *Confidence* is *highest* for North America and Europe where there have been *likely* increases in either the frequency or intensity of heavy precipitation with some seasonal and/or regional variation. It is very likely that there have been trends towards heavier precipitation events in central North America. With respect to future projections, Kirtman et al. (2013) state: "The frequency and intensity of heavy precipitation events over land will *likely* increase on average in the near term. However, this trend will not be apparent in all regions because of natural variability and possible influences of anthropogenic aerosols."

Global atmospheric water vapor concentrations are robustly expected to increase with temperature at a rate of around 6-7% per degree Celsius, approximately consistent with the saturation value as determined by the Clausius-Clapeyron relation, because observed and projected changes in relative humidity are small (e.g., Held and Soden, 2006; Wright et al., 2010). Global mean rainfall values cannot increase at this rate because of global energy budget constraints (e.g., Held and Soden 2006). Extreme rainfall events are not subject to these constraints, and a simple hypothesis is that the intensity of such events should increase at the rate that water vapor does (Allen and Ingram, 2002). This would be the case if the atmospheric circulation (including the strength of convective updrafts) were to remain constant in amplitude and structure. Dean et al. (2013) conclude that moisture availability was 1% to 5% higher for an extreme precipitation event in New Zealand because of anthropogenic greenhouse gases. They also conclude that the number of synoptic events with ample moisture for extreme rain events increased. Integrated Water Vapor Transport (IWVT) associated with Atmospheric Rivers (ARs) has also been shown to increase using CMIP-5 models under RCP8.5 (Warner et al., 2015). This led to increased mean and extreme winter precipitation along the west coast of the United States.

Analysis of trends in extremes thus sometimes focuses on whether trends in either models or observations are less than, equal to, or greater than that expected from Clausius-Clapeyron (e.g., Lenderink and Van Meijgaard, 2008; O'Gorman and Schneider, 2009; Singleton and Toumi, 2013). This is useful in that it separates the relatively well-understood role of increasing specific humidity from the much less well-understood role of changes in updraft strength or vertical structure, focusing attention on possible physics behind the latter to the extent it is found to be important.

Consistent with this expectation, Kunkel et al. (2013) note that trends in the mean are less than those in the extreme values. Wuebbles et al. (2014) summarize key findings using the extreme precipitation index (EPI) and note an upward trend in the both intensity and frequency of extreme precipitation events in United States. A number of other studies have noted statistically significant increases in the frequency of occurrence or intensity of extreme precipitation events with durations ranging from hours to several days in various parts of the world (Donat et al., 2013; Krishnamurthy et al., 2009; Mann and Emanuel, 2006; Westra et al., 2013)

Westra et al. (2013), using land-based data, find that annual maxima of one-day precipitation have increased significantly, with a central estimate of roughly 7% per 1-

degree C temperature rise. Herring et al. (2014) cite a number closer to 5.3% per 1-degree C temperature rise, though within the uncertainty range of Westra et al. (2013). Janssen et al. (2014) update previous EPI-based studies and evaluated climate model simulations using Representative Concentration Pathways. Their results find increasing trends in extreme precipitation over the continental United States. Zhang et al. (2013) conclude that increases in Northern Hemisphere precipitation extremes since 1951 can be partially attributed to human influence on the climate (Zhang et al., 2013), estimating a sensitivity of 5% per degree C in intensity. Their findings suggest that 1-in-20 year events in the 1950s are trending towards becoming 1-in-15 year events, which translates to a FAR of 25% and a RR of 1.33.

Most approaches to attribution of regional precipitation extremes have utilized ensembles of global models, a specific model in conjunction with a long historical record, or non-parametric statistical analyses of observational climate datasets.

Hoerling et al. (2014), using NASA Goddard Earth Observing System Model, Version 5 (GEOS-5) simulations, conclude that the extreme 5-day rainfall in northeast Colorado (2013) could not be conclusively linked to anthropogenic climate change. In fact, they argue that such events may have become less frequent in that region. By contrast, they did note that Sillman et al. (2013a; 2013b) show increases in 5-day rainfall intensities for the globe and in the overall averages by the end of the 21st century. The strength of Hoerling et al.'s simulations lies in the 1-degree model simulations available over a significant period of the record (1871-2013), which allow for robust statistical analysis and characterization of the tails of the distribution. However, model uncertainty itself is not addressed, nor is the dynamic mechanism for the simulated weakening of precipitation extremes in northeast Colorado identified or its robustness assessed.

Knutson et al. (2014) analyze seasonal precipitation extremes in the regions of the United States in 2013, using Global Historical Climate Network data in combination with CMIP5 output to perform attribution to external forcing (natural and anthropogenic combined). They find a role for external forcing in some of the observed extremes, and "some suggestion of increased risk attributable to anthropogenic forcing," but are not able to clearly distinguish anthropogenic from natural forcing as their study design did not separate these. Otto et al. (2015c) use very large ensemble or regional-scale models in a probabilistic event attribution study in the United Kingdom. Their results are somewhat conflicting in terms of whether anthropogenic forcing contributed to extreme summer precipitation events. They find that the risk of an extreme rainfall event doubled in July because of anthropogenic forcing but not in the other summer months. The authors suggest that the Clausius-Clapeyron relationship governs the July results but that unresolved dynamic processes are likely playing some role as well.

On the Horizon

Most of the attribution studies related to precipitation extremes have been conducted with a limited number of models or limited simulation samples. Larger multimodel ensembles would increase confidence. Heterogeneity issues in surface observations needs to continue to be addressed also. Though convective parameterization continues to be a challenge of modeling studies addressing precipitation, increasing computer power and model spatial resolution should mitigate this limitation.

As the data record of satellite-based precipitation estimates lengthens, they may become viable for trend detection and attribution studies for extreme precipitation. Satellite-based studies are emerging as particularly useful for assessing regional and global extremes, particularly over the oceans and poorly instrumented regions (Lockhoff et al., 2014, Pombo et al., 2015). The Global Precipitation Measurement (GPM) mission and other capabilities will be beneficial in the coming years to decades (Hou et al., 2014).

As stated by Otto et al. (2015c), it will be critical that future studies better understand and resolve the multiple meteorological causes of heavy precipitation in order to better grasp causality and attribution. This statement will be relevant to any future attribution studies on extreme rainfall events.

EXTRATROPICAL CYCLONES

Event Type Definition

The term "extratropical cyclone" refers to the migratory frontal cyclones of middle and high latitudes, which are embedded within the large-scale westerly flow and thus move from west to east. There is not a unique operational definition, though a number of features are commonly agreed to be important. Extratropical cyclones derive their energy from the horizontal temperature contrasts in the extratropical atmosphere, through the process of baroclinic instability, and often contain fronts, though they may also be strengthened by latent heat release. Extratropical cyclones can also arise as tropical cyclones lose their axisymmetry and other tropical features in the process of extratropical transition. Studies generally define extratropical cyclone intensities either by minimum surface pressure (converted to sea level) or by maximum lower-tropospheric vorticity.

The impacts of extratropical cyclones are generally felt through frontal precipitation, storm surges, or windstorms; the latter are often concentrated in so-called "sting jets" embedded within the synoptic system. Storm surges warrant special treatment because they also depend on tidal variations and on sea-level rise, not just on the storm itself.

Prior Knowledge and Overview of Attribution Studies

Statistics of observed events exhibit pronounced multi-decadal variability, often linked with large-scale circulation patterns such as the NAO (North Atlantic Oscillation). Although trends are sometimes reported in the literature, they are highly sensitive to the period chosen and to how the storms are defined. Assessments of historical centennial timescale changes have to be based largely on reanalyses, which may contain long term heterogeneities (Krueger et al., 2013). As a result there is no consensus on attributed trends in observations, at least in the northern hemisphere. A recent comprehensive review for the North Atlantic and northwest Europe is provided by Feser et al. (2015b), and for the U.S. East Coast by Colle et al. (2015).

The expected effect of human-induced climate change on extratropical cyclones is unclear because there are competing factors: The reduction in pole-to-equator

temperature gradient expected from polar amplification would tend to weaken cyclones, but the increase in moisture would tend to strengthen them, as would the increase in upper tropospheric temperature gradient (O'Gorman, 2010). Although the IPCC AR4 concluded that cyclones would be expected to strengthen, this was based on a study (Lambert and Fyfe, 2006) that used minimum surface pressure as the index; the overall expected decrease in surface pressure at higher latitudes thus induced a trend which was not actually related to cyclone intensity. In the AR5 future projections of extratropical cyclones were found to be uncertain (Christensen et al., 2013).

Moreover the storm-track positions could change location in the future. Zappa et al. (2013b) find an overall intensification of the wintertime storm track over northern Europe in the CMIP5 models and a weakening of the Mediterranean storm track, but the confidence in this projection remains uncertain as the relevant physical processes are not yet understood. Seiler and Zwiers (2015b, a) find that explosive cyclones, "rapidly intensifying low pressure systems with severe wind speeds and heavy precipitation," tend to shift poleward in the northern hemisphere, decrease in frequency due to weakening baroclinicity, and increase slightly in intensity. Hoskins and Woollings (2015) discuss the various physical mechanisms that have been proposed for driving anthropogenic circulation changes at midlatitudes and their link to weather extremes and conclude that there is substantial uncertainty concerning what can be expected in the future.

Human influence appears to be stronger in the southern hemisphere, where it has been exerted through stratospheric ozone depletion. Model-based attribution studies have found an ozone depletion influence on southern hemispheric extratropical cyclones and associated extreme precipitation, evident most clearly in a poleward shift in the storm track (Grise et al., 2014; Kang et al., 2013).

Yang et al. (2015) use a seasonal prediction system to assess the drivers of the extreme storminess over central United States and Canada in winter 2013/2014; they found no evidence of a human influence, but a FAR in the range 33-75% due to the multiyear anomalous tropical Pacific winds.

Marciano et al. (2015) run a weather model to simulate observed individual wintertime extratropical cyclone events along the U.S. East Coast in present-day and project future thermodynamic environments, and find increases in precipitation, cyclone intensity, and low-level jet strength resulting from the increased latent heat heating. However this was for the future; there was no assessment of the human influence so far. For storm surges, the contribution from sea level rise has been estimated under the highly conditioned assumption of no change in storminess; Lopeman et al. (2015) perform such a study for Hurricane Sandy (2012; technically an extratropical cyclone at landfall), while Colle et al. (2015) discuss longer-term changes in New York City. In both cases, the anthropogenic contribution to past storm surges was estimated to be small, but predicted to become a substantial factor (in terms of decreases in return periods) over the course of this century.

Since extratropical cyclones are defined as discrete events rather than extreme values of continuous time series, observation-based methods for attribution using extreme value theory may not apply as straightforwardly to extratropical cyclones as to some other event types. However, both van Oldenborgh et al. (2015) and Wild et al. (2015) use observational analysis to challenge the suggestion (e.g., Huntingford et al., 2014) that the

intense storminess over the UK in winter 2013/2014 was driven by anomalously warm Pacific SSTs, which might have an anthropogenic component.

On the Horizon

Trzeciak et al. (2014) suggest that although current global climate models generally under-represent the intensity of extratropical cyclones due to insufficient latent heat release, once the horizontal resolution is finer than about 100 km they should be adequate, and that the systematic biases will then mainly involve storm track location. Seiler and Zwiers (2015b) found that resolution is not correlated with explosive storm intensity across the CMIP5 ensemble, but note that competing effects of vertical resolution and model physics inhibit strong interpretation of that result. Horizontal resolution has been found to be important in sensitivity studies with single models (e.g., Jung et al., 2006) and idealized simulations of extratropical cyclones have been shown to be limited by resolution and dissipation at typical climate model resolutions (Polvani et al., 2004). Thus it may still be the case that resolution is a factor limiting analyses of storm intensity, and that improvements in resolution will be beneficial to future attribution studies. Zappa et al. (2013a) showed that the location biases (features simulated with some fidelity but occurring in the wrong location) in CMIP5 models are generally very severe in the North Atlantic. As a result, typically the model biases in storm count at specific locations are several times larger than the change expected under RCP8.5 at the end of the century. Experience with medium-range and seasonal prediction systems have shown that these biases tend to be alleviated with higher spatial resolution, however. Thus it is currently feasible to run global models with a reasonable representation of extratropical cyclones. The main issue for event attribution is then to assess whether simulated anthropogenic changes in the large-scale circulation that affect the storm tracks are credible. Without a robust physical understanding of the processes controlling such changes, or a clear signature in observations, this will be a challenge (Hoskins and Woollings, 2015).

Any attribution of the impacts of extratropical cyclones—frontal precipitation, storm surges, or windstorms—would likely have to downscale the synoptic situation in some credible manner, which for the foreseeable future will require a highly conditioned framework.

EXTREME SNOW AND ICE STORMS

Event Type Definition

Severe winter weather includes snow and ice (freezing rain) storms, often accompanied by wind. While there are no universal criteria for defining extreme snow or ice storms, the National Weather Service typically issues heavy snow warnings for expected accumulations of 6 inches in 12 hours (or 8 inches in 24 hours) and ice storm warnings for expected ice accumulations of ¹/₄ inch or more. Impacts of a snow or ice storm are compounded by wind as well as by the population of the area impacted by the storm. Region-specific impact indices have been developed, for example, the Northeast
(U.S.) Snowfall Impact Scale (NESIS), which combines snowfall amounts and the number of people residing in the affected area. The absence of universal metrics for assessing heavy snow and ice events complicates the analysis of trends and attribution studies. In addition, snowfall measurements are known to suffer from heterogeneities such as gauge undercatch, and data on snow depth are of limited value for determining the snowfall from a single storm, as compaction and drifting are common with winter snow events. Lack of in situ measurements hinders the analysis of extreme snow and ice events in sparsely populated areas.

Prior Knowledge and Overview of Attribution Studies

Overall snow cover has decreased in the Northern Hemisphere, due in part to higher temperatures that shorten the time snow is on the ground (Derksen and Brown, 2012). However, few studies have addressed trends in heavy snow and ice events, especially over regional and larger spatial scales. For the entire Northern Hemisphere, the summary in the preceding section (Extratropical cyclones) showed that there is mixed evidence for trends in the frequency and intensity of cold-season storms, regardless of whether they produce snow and/or freezing rain. Several studies of overall storm frequencies also indicate a northward shift in the primary tracks during winter (Seiler and Zwiers, 2015b, a; Wang et al., 2013). Theory suggests that for the coldest climates, the occurrence of extreme snowfalls should increase with warming due to increasing atmospheric water vapor, while for warmer climates it should decrease due to decreased frequency of sub-freezing temperatures, though by less than mean snowfall decreases (O'Gorman, 2014).

Over the century timescale, data from 1900 to the early 2000s show no significant trend in the percentage of the United States experiencing seasonal snowfall totals in the upper (or lower) 10 percentiles defined from the record as a whole (Kunkel et al., 2009). However, when the top 100 snowstorms (defined on the basis of snowfall amount and areal coverage) are evaluated for various regions of the United States, there are substantial increases in the frequencies of occurrence from 1901-1960 to 1961-2013 in the northern regions (Northern Plains, Upper Midwest, Ohio Valley and Northeast) but not in the southern regions of the United States (Figure 4.5).

To the committee's knowledge, recent analyses of the frequencies of ice storms in the United States are lacking. Earlier studies of the number of freezing rain days (regardless of amount or intensity) showed no evidence of systematic trends in freezing rain occurrences over the United States during the latter half of the 20th century (Changnon and Karl, 2003; Houston and Changnon, 2006). However, there are indications of increases in ice storms in the North Atlantic subarctic (Hansen et al., 2014a).

In view of the data limitations and the ambiguities in event definition, it is not surprising that there have been few attribution studies of global or regional trends in observations of extreme snow and ice events. However, there have been several attribution studies of particular events, conditioned on initial conditions in the atmosphere. Edwards et al. (2014) simulate the western South Dakota blizzard of October 2013, finding no difference in accumulated snowfall (snow water equivalent) between pre-industrial counterfactual runs and modern-day simulations. Anel at al. (2014) use an



FIGURE 4.5 Decadal frequency of top 100 snowstorms in subregions of the United States from 1901 to 2013: (a) Ohio Valley and the Northeast, (b) Southeast and South, (c) Upper Midwest and Northern Plains. Shaded bars in the 2010s represent snowstorms occurring from October 2010 through April 2013, when the paper was submitted. source: Lawrimore et al., 2014.

ensemble of model simulations of recent winters to conclude that heavier-than-normal snowfall seasons in the Spanish Pyrenees are not directly attributable to anthropogenic forcing. Wang et al. (2015b) show that Himalayan blizzards such as the October 2014event have an increased likelihood of occurrence when tropical cyclones from the Bay of Bengal interact with stronger extra-tropical systems, and inferred an "increased possibility" of such circumstances in future. In an earlier study conditioned on sea surface temperatures, Barsugli et al. (1999) find that the major ice storm of 1998 in the northeastern United States and eastern Canada was simulated more accurately when observed El Niño ocean temperature anomalies in the tropical Pacific were prescribed. With the possible exception of tropical cyclone connection in the study by Wang et al. (2015b), none of the event attribution studies point to anthropogenic climate change as a major factor in the heavy snow events. However, the sample of case studies of extreme snow events examined to date is too small to rule out possible anthropogenic warming effects . While trends in freezing rain events in the northern middle latitudes are prime candidates for effects of anthropogenic warming (Cheng et al., 2011; Klima and Morgan, 2015), systematic analyses of observed trends in freezing rain events have yet to be performed.

On the Horizon

Attribution of extreme snow and ice events suffers from a similar challenge as some other extreme event types in that the events are strongly governed by the atmospheric circulation, for which externally forced changes are uncertain. For this reason, attribution of extreme snow and ice storm events may benefit from an emphasis on the thermodynamic state during particular events, as argued by Trenberth et al. (2015). Conditional attribution studies of snow and ice storms have lagged behind similar studies for other event types.

The databases underlying assessments of heavy snow and icing events have major deficiencies that hinder trend detection as well as attribution studies. It is likely that events are missed and/or their severity underestimated. The construction of databases suitable for attribution studies merits consideration and action in the observing community.

Finally, recent cold winters and heavy snow events in the northern United States have raised public awareness of this type of event. The number of high-impact events in the northeastern United States, as measured by the population-weighted NESIS index, increased abruptly in the 2006-2015 period. This apparent abrupt increase, as well as the need to distinguish changes in drivers from changes in impacts, makes clarification of the role of anthropogenic climate change in snowstorms affecting the northern United States a high priority.

Chapter 4: Attribution of Individual Classes of Extreme Events

TROPICAL CYCLONES

Event Type Definition

NOAA defines a tropical cyclone as "A warm-core non-frontal synoptic-scale cyclone, originating over tropical or subtropical waters, with organized deep convection and a closed surface wind circulation about a well-defined center." In each region of the globe which is prone to tropical cyclones, a Regional Specialized Meteorological Center, under the World Meteorological Organization (WMO), determines when a given system is a tropical cyclone and determines its intensity from available observations.

The intensity of a tropical cyclone is conventionally understood to indicate its maximum sustained wind speed. This is only a loose guide to the potential severity of a given storm's impacts, however, as hazards associated with cyclones include both coastal and freshwater flooding as well as winds. A specific tropical cyclone event might also be defined for attribution purposes by storm surge, precipitation, storm size, economic damage, or other variables. For some of these quantities, observations are inadequate.

Maximum sustained wind speed itself is determined largely from satellite images, with in situ observations used where available. Uncertainties are significant (e.g., Knaff et al., 2010; Landsea and Franklin, 2013; Velden et al., 2006; Figure 4.6) and may be greater for other variables, such as storm surge in regions where automated tide gauges are not available.

Even with good observations, the severity of an event may be very different in different variables. A storm may have weak winds, for example, but still cause a major disaster due to precipitation, storm surge, or high vulnerability. Attribution studies, similarly, may reach different conclusions depending on which variable is considered, without necessarily implying any contradiction.

To the committee's knowledge, purely observation-based methods have not been used to perform event attribution studies on tropical cyclones. Methods that rely on extreme value theory (e.g., van Oldenborgh et al., 2015) are not practical for tropical cyclones. These methods rely on the existence of a continuous time series for the variable of interest, while tropical cyclones are rare events that do not provide such time series. Many studies (as discussed below) look for trends in tropical cyclone statistics, but these have for the most part been inconclusive even on regional or global scales.

Prior Knowledge and Overview of Attribution Studies

Many studies have examined whether long-term trends exist in tropical cyclone statistics. Assessment of these trends is difficult due to the shortness of observational records in many basins; large natural variability, including at low frequencies, which may obscure any longer-term trends; and changes in observing systems and practices over time, which introduce heterogeneities into the observations even in those basins which do have relatively long-term records. Synthesis studies typically find that long-term trends cannot be clearly detected in tropical cyclone numbers, intensities, or integrated measures of activity, using specified thresholds of statistical significance against a null hypothesis of zero trend (e.g., IPCC, 2014; Knutson et al., 2010; Walsh et al., 2015). An exception may be the frequency of the most intense storms.



FIGURE 4.6 The Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) on NASA's Aqua satellite acquired this image of Cyclone Chapala (04A) approaching the Arabian Peninsula on October 30, 2015 (it made landfall in early November 2015). Only two tropical cyclones have hit the Peninsula since reliable records started in 1979. At the time of this image, the tropical cyclone had sustained winds between 130 and 135 knots (150-155 miles or 240-250 kilometers per hour) and significant wave heights of 38 feet. SOURCE: NASA.

http://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/NaturalHazards/view.php?id=86899.

Some studies find marginally significant increases in the frequency of category 4 and 5 storms (e.g., Elsner et al., 2008; Emanuel, 2006; Kossin et al., 2013), while others find yet greater significance by, for example detecting a temporal pattern of increase that more closely matches estimates of greenhouse gas-driven change, rather than a pure linear trend (Holland and Bruyere, 2014). In some regions, there are clear trends in recent decades; the Atlantic, where data are of highest quality, stands out (e.g., Emanuel, 2006). However, the attribution of these trends to specific causes remains debated, with some attributing them to natural variability, and others to reductions in anthropogenic aerosol forcing (Mann and Emanuel, 2006). Kossin et al. (2014) find a robust increase, both in the global and hemispheric means and in most individual basins, in the average latitude at which storms reach their maximum intensities.

There is little model-based research addressing the question of whether an anthropogenic influence is already present in long-term TC statistics. There is a large literature addressing how tropical cyclones may change in future climates. Some of these studies use the same global climate models as used for overall climate change assessment (e.g., Camargo, 2013), but these are generally viewed as inadequate, as their spatial

resolutions are too low to produce good simulations of tropical cyclones. The field has advanced greatly in recent years due to the existence of higher-resolution global atmospheric models (e.g., Yoshimura and Sugi, 2005; Zhao et al., 2009), as well as innovative downscaling techniques which combine higher-resolution regional or idealized models of tropical cyclones with global models of climate change (Emanuel, 2006), or statistical refinement techniques to address the limitations on cyclone intensity posed by limited resolution (Zhao and Held, 2010).

Based in large part on these new models, broad consensus has emerged as to the expected future trends and their levels of certainty (e.g., IPCC, 2013; Knutson et al., 2010; Walsh et al., 2015). Tropical cyclones are projected to become more intense as the climate warms. There is considerable confidence in this conclusion, as it is found in a wide range of numerical models and also justified by theoretical understanding, particularly because there is a well-established body of theory for the maximum potential intensity of tropical cyclones (e.g., Bryan and Rotunno, 2009; Emanuel, 1986, 1988; Holland, 1997). The rate of intensification per degree of global mean surface warming remains quantitatively uncertain. However, because maximum potential intensities are projected to rise (e.g., Camargo, 2013), future observations of tropical cyclones with intensities significantly higher than those observed in the past would be consistent with expectations in a warming climate and attribution studies for such storms would have a firm basis in physical understanding.

The global frequency of tropical cyclone formation is projected to decrease (Camargo et al., 2014; Knutson et al., 2008, 2010; Seneviratne et al., 2012; Walsh et al., 2015), but there is less confidence in this conclusion than in the increase in intensity; some credible models produce increases in frequency (Emanuel, 2013). The uncertainty is still greater in projections of tropical cyclone frequency in individual basins. Changes in the frequency of the most intense storms are related to changes in both the frequency of all storms and the average storm intensity, and thus are less certain than the intensity changes alone since reduced frequency and increased intensity have opposing effects ; Christensen et al. (2013) state that the frequency of the most intense storms "will more likely than not increase substantially in some basins under projected 21st century warming." Precipitation in tropical cyclones is expected to increase, because of the increased water vapor content of the atmosphere, similarly to other extreme precipitation events; Christensen et al. (2013) express "medium confidence" in this projection. While there are only a few projections of changes in storm surge itself, total coastal flood depths, relative to fixed elevations, are confidently projected to increase as a consequence of sea level rise (e.g., Hoffman et al., 2010; Woodruff et al., 2013). Coastal flood risk due to storm surge is projected to increase due to both sea level rise and tropical cyclone intensity change, though the influence of the latter is more model-dependent (e.g., Emanuel, 2008; Lin et al., 2012).

To the committee's knowledge, attribution studies of single tropical cyclones using large ensemble simulations (without conditioning on event occurrence), for example, as needed to calculate a FAR, have not been performed. Murakami et al. (2015), however, executed a study of this kind with a global high-resolution model to perform attribution on a single tropical cyclone season as a whole.

The highly-conditioned method has been used in a few recent studies of individual tropical cyclones. Trenberth and Fasullo (2007) and Wang et al. (2015a)

estimate the role of climate change in the rainfall produced by pairs of individual storms in the United States and Taiwan. Lackmann (2015) simulate Hurricane Sandy (2012) in a high-resolution regional model nested into large-scale climate fields obtained from coupled simulations representing conditions in 1900, 2012, and 2100. Irish et al. (2014) consider the influence of anthropogenic climate change on the flooding due to Hurricane Katrina (2005), including an estimate of the potential anthropogenic influence on the hurricane's intensity as well as the role of sea level rise in increasing the total water depth relative to a fixed benchmark. All these studies find modest increases in their respective measures of event intensity due to warming. The highly-conditioned approach may be particularly attractive for tropical cyclone studies because large-ensemble approaches have not yet been practical, while a range of tools exists for modeling individual storms and their impacts.

On the Horizon

Though not practical in the past, large-ensemble attribution studies of individual tropical cyclones are becoming technically possible. High-resolution global models now exist which simulate tropical cyclones reasonably well (e.g., Shaevitz et al., 2014) and could be used for this purpose; the challenge is the high computational cost per simulation year as well as the large number of years required for statistical significance. Downscaling methods, whether statistical, dynamic, or hybrid (e.g., Emanuel, 2006) can be much less computationally expensive and could be used today for such studies (e.g., Takayabu et al., 2015). These methods typically require specified SST and so would be conditional on a given SST scenario as well as greenhouse gas increases. In addition to this, model quality requirements, and other issues typical of other extreme events, the lack of consensus on the significance of observed trends in TC statistics would pose an additional challenge to the interpretation of such studies for tropical cyclones. As one of the difficulties in trend detection studies is the sample size in the presence of large lowfrequency natural variability, however, model-based attribution studies would have an advantage to the extent that they could generate larger sample sizes than those available from observations.

SEVERE CONVECTIVE STORMS

Event Type Definition

Severe convective storms are those that produce strong winds, hail, tornadoes, extensive lightning, or heavy precipitation. Usually these storms occur over land. The term "convection" in meteorology refers to strong vertical motion—updrafts and downdrafts—driven by buoyancy in the atmosphere. In practice, the term "severe" is typically applied when some variables exceed specified thresholds, e.g., wind speeds greater than 25 m/s or hailstones larger than 2 cm (Doswell III, 2001). The term "hazardous convective weather" has also been used (e.g., Tippett et al., 2015).

Severe convective storms are small in both spatial extent and temporal duration compared to many other extreme weather events. The most extreme hazards, such as

tornadoes and large hail, are particularly localized and not well resolved by conventional meteorological observations. As a consequence, reports by amateur observers on the ground form the longest and most direct observational data sets, at least in the United States. In much of the world, good long-term report data do not exist, and where they do their formats are generally not uniform from country to country. Even within the United States, there are considerable heterogeneities in space and time. The intensities of tornadoes are generally assessed not by direct observation but by surveys of damage on the ground after the fact. This also requires human judgment, introducing additional inhomogeneity. It is possible to assess some aspects of severe convective storm weather from radar and other remote sensing observations, and new data sets are being developed which may allow these observations to be used for climate purposes, but these do not yet have records comparable in length to observer reports.

Based on both physical understanding and empiricism, there is some knowledge of what large-scale environmental conditions are favorable to the formation of severe convective storms. Vertical instability to buoyant ascent-associated with unusually warm humid near-surface air and cool air aloft (e.g., as measured by convective available potential energy [CAPE])—is required to form strong updrafts and downdrafts, while vertical wind shear enables those to organize into the larger convective storms that generate hail, tornadoes and other hazards (e.g., Brooks, 2013; Brooks et al., 2003). CAPE, shear, and other relevant environmental variables are better observed and have more homogeneous long-term records (both in direct observations and in observationbased assimilation data sets such as reanalysis) than do severe convective storms themselves, so many climate studies focus on these large-scale variables. One limitation of this approach is that the associations between these variables and the storms are partly empirical and thus might change as climate does. Also, the occurrence of severe weather is by no means guaranteed by a favorable large-scale environment but requires initiation by a pre-existing disturbance of some kind, a process which appears less predictable and whose dependence on climate is not well understood.

Prior Knowledge and Overview of Attribution Studies

Detection of trends is difficult due to data heterogeneities. In the United States, observations of both tornadoes and hail show significant increases over the latter half of the 20th century, but these are widely understood to be artifacts of increased frequency of reporting rather than actual meteorological trends (e.g., Brooks and Dotzek, 2007). Environmental variables predictive of tornado formation, for example, do not show the trends that tornadoes themselves do (Tippett et al., 2015). Studies of trends in the United States find different results depending on the time period and spatial region chosen, but there is no broad agreement on the detection of long-term trends in overall severe convective storm activity such as might be related to anthropogenic climate change. There are some consistent indications in the literature of increased year-to-year variability, as well as concentration of activity in fewer outbreaks of larger magnitude (Sander et al., 2013; Tippett, 2014), but no clear connection between this and climate change.

Several studies have used climate model projections to estimate the effect of greenhouse gas increases on future severe convective storm (SCS) activity in the United

States. Due to the impossibility of adequately simulating severe convection in lowresolution climate models, these studies all focus on changes in large-scale environmental variables associated with SCS activity (e.g., CAPE and vertical wind shear) rather than in the storms themselves, a form of statistical downscaling.

These studies show that the climate models project conflicting signals for the two primary predictors of SCS activity over the U.S. plains, where storm activity is greatest in the current climate (e.g., Trapp et al., 2007). Convective instability increases in a warming climate, but wind shear decreases. Changes in storms will depend on which of these dominates the other. Studies to date suggest that instability wins, such that SCS activity will increase (Diffenbaugh et al., 2013; Trapp et al., 2009). This conclusion could be sensitive to the details of the environmental index chosen, given that the two effects are competing. The limited number of such studies is presumably the reason why recent reports do not include detailed assessments of future projections of SCS activity. The IPCC Special Report on Extremes (Seneviratne et al., 2012) did consider hail distinctly from other precipitation extremes, finding that "Confidence is still low for hail projections particularly due to a lack of hail-specific modelling studies, and a lack of agreement among the few available studies."

Highly conditioned approaches are feasible for SCS today, using either environmental indices or small-domain, high-resolution models forced by environmental conditions derived from larger-scale ones, as has been done earlier for tropical cyclones (Knutson and Tuleya, 2004; a small number of studies have already been done using this methodology for future scenarios (Gensini and Mote, 2015; Trapp and Hoogewind, 2016).

The committee is not aware of any attribution studies of any kind for individual SCS events, whether single storms or outbreaks consisting of multiple storms.

On the Horizon

Attribution studies of SCS events are technically feasible, but require steps beyond those necessary for some other types of events due to their fine spatial and time scales. A large ensemble approach to attribution can probably only be done for environmental indices predictive of SCS activity, rather than the SCS activity itself. This additional statistical downscaling step would add another layer of uncertainty to the interpretation. As computing power increases, convection-permitting models can be used, allowing some degree of direct representation of SCS activity. For the most severe manifestations, such as tornadoes, explicit simulation in global or regional model attribution studies is probably not feasible in the near future.

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR ATTRIBUTION OF INDIVIDUAL CLASSES OF EXTREME EVENTS

Attribution is much more feasible for some events than others. The existing literature largely reflects this variability, with the most straightforwardly attributable event types having significant numbers of studies and the least having few or none. The difficulty of performing attribution on a given event type is a function of the space and

time scales of the event type; the adequacy of observations to resolve the event (and the availability of those observations over a long-term historical record); the ability of climate models to simulate the event; and the simplicity of that event type's physical relationship to anthropogenic climate change.

Extreme heat and cold events are the simplest events on which to perform attribution, and the ones for which the most mature literature exists. They are wellresolved by available observations, relatively well-simulated in models; and their relationship to global warming-though not without its complexities-is straightforward compared to that of some other event types. Tornadoes (and more broadly, severe convective storms) are arguably the most difficult events to attribute, and accordingly no studies have been performed. These events are poorly observed, cannot be simulated in climate models at present, and have a complex and subtle relation to climate change, with competing factors tending to drive the response in opposite directions. The other event types lie in between. Droughts are more complex than heat and cold events, and thus more challenging targets for attribution. As large-scale events, however, droughts are still more straightforward in their meteorological aspects (i.e., leaving aside nonmeteorological components of drought including land use, water management decisions etc.) than some other event types. While the non-meteorological aspects of droughts can render them complex, the role of increasing temperature in exacerbating hydrological drought through increased evaporation is more straightforward, and increases confidence in attribution results that hinge on that mechanism. Tropical cyclones are among the more challenging event types, though somewhat more tractable than tornadoes due to their larger scales and better observations. Extratropical cyclones, extreme precipitation events, and snow and ice storms are in between these extremes. Wildfires present unique challenges due to the fact that they are not fundamentally meteorological events, and are difficult to classify on this spectrum. The committee assessed their confidence in event attribution capabilities for different classes of extremes, as illustrated in Figure 4.7 and Table 4.1. Figure 4.7 schematically depicts the committee's assessment of the state of attribution science for specific event types along two axes.

In all cases of event attribution, observations are critical, and at the same time improvement depends to some extent on improvement in numerical models. This need is most acute for those with the smallest space and time scales. To some extent increasing computer power, allowing higher resolution, will facilitate progress.

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.





Understanding of effect of climate change on event type

FIGURE 4.7 Schematic depiction of this report's assessment of the state of attribution science for different event types. The horizontal position of each event type reflects an assessment of the level of understanding of the effect of climate change on the event type, and corresponds to the right-most column of Table 4.1. The vertical position of each event type indicates an assessment of scientific confidence in current capabilities for attribution of specific events to anthropogenic climate change for that event type (assuming the attribution is carried out following the recommendations in this report), and draws upon all three columns of Table S.1. A position below the 1:1 line indicates an assessment that there is potential for improvement in attribution capability through technical progress alone (such as improved modeling, or the recovery of additional historical data), which would move the symbol upward. A position above the 1:1 line is not possible because this would indicate confident attribution in the absence of adequate understanding. In all cases, there is potential to increase event attribution confidence by overcoming remaining challenges that limit the current level of understanding. See Box 4.1 for further details and caveats about this figure.

TABLE 4.1 This table, along with Figure 4.7, provides an overall assessment of the state of event attribution science for different event types. In each category of extreme event, the committee has provided an estimate of confidence (high, medium, and low) in the capabilities of climate models to simulate an event class, the quality and length of the observational record from a climate perspective, and understanding of the physical mechanisms that lead to changes in extremes as a result of climate change. The entries in the table, which are presented in approximate order of overall confidence as displayed in Figure 4.7, are based on the available literature and are the product of committee deliberation and judgement. Additional supporting information for each category can be found in the text of Chapter 4. The assessments of climate model capabilities apply to models with spatial resolutions (100km or coarser) that are representative of the large majority of models participating in CMIP5. Individual global and regional models operating at higher resolutions may have better capabilities for some event types, but in these cases, confidence may still be limited due to an inability to assess model-related uncertainty. The assessments of the observational record apply only to those parts of the world for which data are available and are freely exchanged for research. Most long records rely on in-situ observations, and these are not globally complete for any of the event types listed in this table, although coverage is generally reasonable for the more densely populated parts of North America and its adjacent ocean regions.

| • = high • = medium \bigcirc = low | Capabilities of Climate Models to simulate event class | Quality/Length of the observational record | Understanding of physical mechanisms that lead to changes in extremes as a result of climate change |
|--|--|--|---|
| Extreme cold events | • | • | • |
| Extreme heat events | • | • | • |
| Droughts | ο | ο | ο |
| Extreme rainfall | ο | ο | ο |
| Extreme snow and ice storms | ο | 0 | 0 |
| Tropical cyclones | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| Extratropical cyclones | ο | 0 | 0 |
| Wildfires | 0 | ο | 0 |
| Severe convective storms | 0 | 0 | 0 |

BOX 4.1 Additional Detail for Figure 4.7 and Table 4.1

Figure 4.7 and Table 4.1 should be interpreted qualitatively rather than quantitatively. The position of each event type in this space is the result of committee judgment, and is therefore subjective. The relative positions of event types that are close to each other, in particular, can all be debated. Below is a brief justification for each event type's position.

Extreme cold events: These are broadly similar to heat events with some differences. There is perhaps even greater confidence in the attribution of long-term change in cold extremes to human influence than for hot extremes. Land surface feedbacks may be less important, and observed trends in minimum temperatures are stronger than those in maxima, and there are theoretical reasons for expecting a decrease in variance as the pole-to-equator temperature gradient weakens. The impact of selection bias is particularly important here as warming reduces the number of events likely to be targeted for attribution.

Extreme heat events: Climate models represent heat events well compared to many other event types, and observations characterize events and trends similarly well. Long term change in hot extremes has been attributed to human influence on the climate system. Some challenges remain due to land surface feedbacks and understanding of low-frequency variability.

Droughts: Observations and global models capture precipitation deficits better than some other extreme event types. Difficulties stem from land-surface feedbacks, lack of soil moisture observations, the role of low-frequency variability, the complexity of defining drought for the purpose of attribution, and the role of non-meteorological factors in causing drought. The relatively high placement of drought along both axes in the figure reflects the well-understood role of warming in hydrological drought via increased surface evaporation, reduced snow accumulation, and increased snowmelt.

Extreme rainfall: Climate models have some capability, though model physics and resolution are limiting. There is a strong physical basis for expecting a climate change influence, and observed trends are broadly consistent with that expectation. Because extreme rainfall events are small-scale and occur on weather timescales, the overall climate change signal includes many such events, increasing the robustness of the signal.

Extreme snow and ice storms: Few attribution studies have been performed. Physical bases of climate change influences are well understood individually but event attribution is made difficult due to the complexity of influences in combination (increasing water vapor increases potential snow and freezing rain amounts, but increasing temperature decreases likelihood of freezing). Observations are also inadequate for extreme snow and ice storms.

Tropical cyclones: Most climate models have inadequate resolution for attribution studies, though specialized higher-resolution models are better and improving quickly. Few attribution studies of individual storms have yet been performed. There is considerable physical understanding of some aspects; tropical cyclone intensity and precipitation are confidently expected to increase with warming. Detection of trends in observations is challenging due to lowfrequency variability as well as inhomogeneity and shortness of records.

Extratropical cyclones: Climate models can simulate the events to some extent, though resolution and physics may still be limiting in many models, particularly in their ability to resolve the most extreme local manifestations of the storms such as strong winds and heavy precipitation. Detection of trends in observations, robustness of projections, and physical understanding of climate change influences are all weak. Few attribution studies have been performed.

Wildfires: Few attribution studies have been performed. Observations are problematic, and typical climate models do not include all the physical processes, especially variations in fuel properties. Wildfire process understanding also remains limited, particularly on the macro scale that is relevant to assessing the influence of climate on fire. While it is very likely that warming

Severe Convective Storms (SCS): The committee is not aware of any attribution studies. Observations of both individual events and trends are problematic. Climate models do not resolve the events, and some phenomena (e.g., tornadoes) are not resolved even by the highest-resolution models in use for operational weather forecasting. Physical understanding of the events' relation to climate change is limited. Statistical or dynamic downscaling offer promise of improvement.

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

Chapter 5: Conclusions

In the past decade, the field of extreme event attribution has made great strides in understanding and explaining extreme events in the context of climate change. However, this is still an emerging science and thus continued research is required to increase the reliability of event attribution results, particularly for event types that are presently poorly understood. The need for improved understanding is coming at a time when there is increasing inquiry by the public, policymakers, and practitioners about the relations between specific weather events and climate change (e.g., the question "Is it caused or affected by climate change"). Advances in the field will depend not only on addressing scientific problems specific to attribution, but also on advances in the basic underlying science, including observations, weather and climate modeling, statistical methodology, and theoretical understanding of extreme events and their relation to climate.

This chapter builds on the information presented in the preceding chapters to provide guidance for framing questions about event attribution and approaches to ensuring robustness and reliability of event attribution studies and information. The committee also recommends future research that would improve extreme event attribution capabilities and discusses the future of event attribution in an operational context.

ASSESSMENT OF CURRENT CAPABILITIES

Event attribution is more reliable when based on sound physical principles, consistent evidence from observations, and numerical models that can replicate the event. The ability to attribute the causes of some extreme event types has advanced rapidly since the emergence of event attribution science a little over a decade ago, while attribution of other event types remains challenging. In general, confidence in attribution results is strongest for extreme event types that:

- have a long-term historical record of observations to place the event in an appropriate historical context;
- are simulated adequately in climate models; and
- are either purely meteorological in nature (i.e., the nature of the event is not strongly influenced by the built infrastructure, resource management actions, etc.) or occur in circumstances where these confounding factors can be carefully and reliably considered.

Non-meteorological factors confound observational records and can limit the accuracy of model simulations of extreme events. Drought and wildfire are examples of events for which non-meteorological factors can be especially challenging in attribution studies.

Furthermore, confidence in attribution results that indicate an influence from anthropogenic climate change is strongest when:

• there is an understood and robustly simulated physical mechanism that relates a given class of extreme events to long-term anthropogenic climate changes such as global-scale temperature increase or increases in water content of a warmer atmosphere.

Confidence in attribution findings of anthropogenic influence is greatest for those extreme events that are related to an aspect of temperature, such as the observed long-term warming of the regional or global climate, where there is little doubt that human activities have caused an observed change. For example, a warmer atmosphere is associated with higher evapotranspiration rates and heavier precipitation events through changes in the air's capacity to absorb moisture. However, atmospheric circulation and dynamics play some role, which is different for different event types. Changes in atmospheric circulation and dynamics are generally less directly controlled by temperature, less robustly simulated by climate models, and less well understood. Event attribution can be further complicated by the existence of other factors that contribute to the severity of impacts.

Confidence in attribution analyses of specific extreme events is highest for extreme heat and cold events, followed by hydrological drought and heavy precipitation. There is little or no confidence in the attribution of severe convective storms and extratropical cyclones. Confidence in the attribution of specific events generally increases with our understanding of the effect of climate change in the event type. However, the gap between this understanding and confidence in attribution of specific events varies among event types.

Attribution of events to anthropogenic climate change may be complicated by low frequency natural variability, which influences the frequencies of extreme events on decadal to multidecadal timescales. The Pacific Decadal Oscillation and Atlantic Multidecadal Oscillation are examples of such variability. Characterization of these influences is uncertain, because the observed record is too short to do so reliably, and also too short to assess if climate models simulate these modes of variability correctly.

PRESENTING AND INTERPRETING EXTREME EVENT ATTRIBUTION STUDIES

There is no single best method or set of assumptions for event attribution, as these depend heavily on the framing of the question and the amount of time available to answer it. Time constraints may themselves affect framing and methodological choices by limiting analyses to approaches that can be undertaken quickly.

A definitive answer to the commonly asked question of whether climate change "caused" a particular event to occur cannot usually be provided in a deterministic sense, because natural variability almost always plays a role. Many conditions must align to set up a particular event. Extreme events are generally influenced by a specific weather situation, and all events occur in a climate system that has been changed by human influences. Event attribution studies generally estimate how

Chapter 5: Conclusions

the intensity or frequency of an event or class of events has been altered by climate change (or by another factor, such as low-frequency natural variability).

Statements about attribution are sensitive to the way the questions are posed and the context within which they are posed. For example, when defining an event, choices must be made about defining the duration of the event (when did it begin and when did it end) and the geographic area it impacted, but this may not be straightforward for some events (e.g., heat waves). Furthermore, different physical variables may be studied (e.g., drought might be characterized by a period with insufficient precipitation, excessively dry soil, or reduced stream flow) and different metrics can be used to determine how extreme an event was (e.g., frequency, magnitude). Whether an observation- or model-based approach is used, and the sorts of observations and/or models available for studying the event, will also constrain the sorts of questions that can be posed.

Attribution studies of individual events should not be used to draw general conclusions about the impact of climate change on extreme events as a whole. Events that have been selected for attribution studies to date are not a representative sample (e.g., events affecting areas with high population and extensive infrastructure will attract the greatest demand for information from stakeholders). Also, events that are becoming less likely because of climate change (e.g., cold extremes) will be studied less often because they occur less often than events whose frequency is increasing because of climate change. Furthermore, attribution of individual events is generally more difficult than characterizing the statistical distribution of events of a given type and its dependence on climate. For all of these reasons, counts of available attribution studies with either positive, negative, or neutral results are not expected to give a reliable indication of the overall importance of human influence on extreme events.

Unambiguous interpretation of an event attribution study is possible only when the assumptions and choices that were made in conducting the study are clearly stated, and uncertainties are carefully estimated. The framing of event attribution questions, which may depend strongly on the intended application of the study results, determine how the event will be studied and can lead to large differences in the interpretation of the results. Event attribution studies presented in the following manner are less likely to be misinterpreted:

- Assumptions about the state of one or more aspects of the climate system at the time of the event (e.g., SST anomalies, atmospheric circulation regimes, specific synoptic situations) are clearly communicated
- Estimates of changes in both magnitude and frequency are provided, with accompanying estimates of uncertainty, so users can understand the estimated degree of change from the different perspectives.
- Estimates of changes in frequency are presented as a risk ratio, that is, in terms of the ratio of the probability of the event in a world with human-caused climate change to its probability in a world without human-caused climate change. Equivalently, one can compare the return periods of the event (i.e., how rarely an event occurs) in the world without climate change to that in the world with climate change

- The impact of assumptions (e.g., of how estimates of changes in magnitude and frequency depend on sea surface temperature anomalies or atmospheric circulation regimes) is discussed.
- Statements of confidence accompany results so users understand the strength of the evidence.

Bringing multiple scientifically appropriate approaches together, including multiple models and multiple studies, helps distinguish results that are robust from those that are much more sensitive to how the question is posed and the approach taken. Utilizing multiple methods to estimate human influences on a given event also partially addresses the challenge of characterizing the many sources of uncertainty in event attribution.

Examples of multiple components that can lead to more robust conclusions include:

- Estimates of event probabilities or effect magnitudes based on an appropriate modeling tool that has been shown to reasonably reproduce the event and its circumstances, such as the dynamic situation leading to the event.
- Reliable observations against which the model has been evaluated and that give an indication of whether the event in question has changed over time in a manner that is consistent with the model-based attribution.
- Assessment of the extent to which the result is consistent with the physical understanding of climate change's influence on the class of events in question.
- Clear communication of remaining uncertainties and assumptions made or conditions imposed on the analysis.

THE PATH FORWARD

Improving Extreme Event Attribution Capabilities

A focused effort to improve understanding of specific aspects of weather and climate extremes could improve the ability to perform extreme event attribution. The World Climate Research Programme (WCRP) has identified climate extremes as one of its grand challenges, suggesting major areas of scientific research, modeling, analysis and observations for WCRP in the next decade. Because extreme event attribution relies on all aspects of the understanding of extremes and their challenges, the committee endorses the recommendations from the white paper: "WCRP Grand Challenge: Understanding and Predicting Weather and Climate Extremes" (Zhang et al., 2014) as necessary to make advances in event attribution. Advances made in understanding the physical mechanisms and in improving the realism of extreme events in weather and climate models will benefit event attribution studies.

The committee recommends that research that specifically aims to improve event attribution capabilities include increasing the understanding of:

- the role of dynamics and thermodynamics in the development of extreme events;
- the model characteristics that are required to reliably reproduce extreme events of different types and scales;

Chapter 5: Conclusions

BOX 5.1

Key Recommendations from the White Paper: "WCRP Grand Challenge: Understanding and Predicting Weather and Climate Extremes"

- substantial advances in modelling (including but not limited to model resolution)
- advances in the understanding of the physical mechanisms leading to extremes
- increased effort to extend the historical observational record, including planned climate quality reanalyses over longer historical periods
- improvements in remote sensing products that extend long enough to document trends and sample extremes
 - changes in natural variability, including the interplay between a changing climate and natural variability, and improved characterization of the skill of models to represent low frequency natural variability in regional climate phenomena and circulation;
 - the various sources of uncertainty that arise from the use of models in event attribution;
 - how different levels of conditioning (i.e., the process of limiting an attribution analysis to particular types of weather or climate situations) lead to apparently different results when studying the same event;
 - the statistical methods used for event attribution, objective criteria for event selection, and development of event attribution evaluation methods;
 - the effects of non-climate causes—such as changes in the built environment (e.g., increasing area of urban impervious surfaces and heat island effects), land cover changes, natural resource management practices (e.g., fire suppression), coastal and river management (e.g., dredging, seawalls), agricultural practices (e.g., tile drainage), and other human activities—in determining the impacts of an extreme event;
 - expected trends in future extreme events to help inform adaptation or mitigation strategies (e.g., calculating changes in return periods to show how the risk from extreme events may change in the future); and
 - the representation of a counterfactual world that reliably characterizes the probability, magnitude, and circumstances of events in the absence of human influence on climate.

Research that is targeted specifically at extreme events, including event attribution could rapidly improve capabilities and lead to more reliable results. In particular, there are opportunities to better coordinate existing research efforts to further accelerate the development of the science and improve and quantify event attribution reliability. Examples of event attribution research coordination include EUropean CLimate and weather Events: Interpretation and Attribution (EUCLEIA), Weather@home, World Weather Attribution (see Box 3.4 for additional information on these), and the International Detection and Attribution Group (IDAG), all of which also coordinate with one another. Furthermore, given that event attribution spans climate and weather, the field would benefit from interdisciplinary research at the interface between the climate, weather and statistical sciences to improve analysis methods. Event

attribution capabilities would be improved with better observational records, both nearreal time and for historical context. Long homogeneous observed records are essential for placing events into a historical context, and evaluating to what extent climate models reliably simulate the effect of decadal climate variability on extremes.

Event attribution could be improved by the development of transparent, community standards for attributing classes of extreme events. Such standards could include an assessment of model quality in relation to the event/event class. Community agreement is needed on when a model represents a given event type well enough for attribution studies to be possible. At present, such standards do not clearly exist, and some model-based attribution studies do not even attempt to assess model adequacy. Such standards are critical for enhancing confidence in event attribution studies. Other examples of necessary community standards include use of multiple lines of evidence, developing a transparent link to a detected change that influences events in question, and clear communication of sensitivities of the result to framing of the event attribution question.

Systematic criteria for selecting events to be analyzed would minimize selection bias and permit systematic evaluation of event attribution performance, which is important for enhancing confidence in attribution results. Studies of a representative sample of extreme events would allow stakeholders to use such studies as a tool for understanding how individual events fit into the broader picture of climate change. Irrespective of the method or related choices, it would be useful to develop a set of objective criteria to guide event selection. A simple example of an objective approach might be to select events based on their rarity in the historical record using a fixed threshold, such as 24-hour precipitation events throughout a given domain that exceed the local 99th percentile of historical precipitation events. It should be noted, however, that even in this case, there are subtleties associated with historical quantile definition that would need to be considered. The development of objective criteria for event selection would both help to reduce selection bias and lead to methodological improvements. A path forward to avoiding selection bias is to perform event attribution on a predefined set of events of several different types that could reasonably be expected to occur in the current climate. This could involve systematic definition of events or consideration of events based on the full historical record and not just current events. One example of such an approach is described in Christidis et al. (2014) who describe a method for precomputing estimates of how human influence has changed the odds of extremely warm regional seasonal mean temperatures based on a formal detection and attribution methodology (Chapter 3). Another example is the approach of trying to identify "gray swan tropical cyclones" (events not seen before, but theoretically possible) before they occur (Lin and Emanuel, 2015).

Event selection criteria is also a prerequisite for the development of a formalized approach to evaluating event attribution results and uncertainty estimates. Such evaluation is important for establishing confidence in event attribution statements. Development of such an approach could be modeled after existing approaches used to evaluate weather forecasts. One possible approach to evaluation would be to use a large sample of objectively selected events on a global scale to evaluate if, on average, model predictions or simulations of extreme events are on target. This could involve seasonal and decadal predictions of the number of events of a certain type based on simulations

Chapter 5: Conclusions

with external drivers only. Events that become more frequent with global warming, as well as events that become less frequent, such as cold spells, would be included in such an approach.

Event Attribution in an Operational Context

As more researchers begin to attempt event attribution, their efforts can benefit from coordination to improve analysis methods and work toward exploring uncertainties across methods and framing. Event attribution can benefit from links to operational numerical weather prediction where available. As discussed in Chapter 3 (also see Box 3.4), some groups are moving toward the development of operational extreme event attribution systems to systematically evaluate the causes of extreme events based on predefined and tested methods. Objective approaches to compare and contrast the analyses among multiple different research groups based on agreed event selection criteria are yet to be developed.

In the committee's view, a successful operational event attribution system would have several key characteristics. First is the development and use of objective event selection criteria to reduce selection bias so stakeholders understand how individual events fit into the broader picture of climate change. Second is the provision of stakeholder information about causal factors within days of an event, followed by updates as more data and analysis results become available. This is analogous to other fields, such as public health and economics, where it is acceptable to revise initial forecasts and analyses as more data becomes available (e.g., Gross Domestic Product estimates, recession start and stop dates, etc.). A third characteristic of a successful event attribution system is clear communication of key messages to stakeholders about the methods and framing choices as well as the associated uncertainties and probabilities. Finally, reliable assessments of performance of the event attribution system are needed. Such assessments could be developed through processes utilizing regular forecasts of event probability and intensity, observations, and skill scores similar to those used routinely in weather forecasting for evaluation. Rigorous approaches to managing and implementing system improvements is also a critical element of these assessments.

Some future event attribution activities could benefit from being linked to an integrated weather-to-climate forecasting effort on a range of timescales. The development of such an activity could be modeled from concepts and practices within the Numerical Weather Prediction (NWP) and seasonal forecasting community. NWP, which dates back to the 1950s, is focused on taking current observations of weather and processing these data with computer models to forecast the future state of weather. A project linking attribution and weather-to-climate forecasting could also build on recent efforts to increase national and international capacity to forecast the likelihood of extreme events at subseasonal-to-seasonal timescales²⁹ (WMO, 2013).

Ultimately the goal would be to provide predictive (probabilistic) forecasts of future extreme events at lead times of days to seasons, or longer, accounting for natural variability and anthropogenic influences. These forecasts would be verified and evaluated utilizing observations, and their routine production would enable the development and

²⁹ Another National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine Committee is studying this topic and will produce a report in the spring of 2016: http://dels.nas.edu/Study-In-Progress/Developing-Research-Agenda/DELS-BASCPR-13-05

application of appropriate skill scores (using appropriate metrics to define and track the skill). The activity would involve rigorous approaches to managing and implementing system enhancements to continually improve models, physical understanding, and observations focused on extreme events.

Correctly done, attribution of extreme weather events can provide an additional line of evidence that demonstrates the changing climate, and its impacts and consequences. An accurate scientific understanding of extreme weather event attribution can be an additional piece of evidence needed to inform decisions on climate change-related actions.

The committee also encourages continued research in event attribution also outside of an operational context to ensure further innovation in the field. This would facilitate better understanding of a breadth of approaches, framings, modelling systems, and the performance of event attribution methods across past events, including in the longer historical context.

- Abatzoglou, J. T. and K. T. Redmond. 2007. Asymmetry between trends in spring and autumn temperature and circulation regimes over western North America. Geophysical Research Letters 34(18). DOI: 10.1029/2007gl030891.
- Abatzoglou, J. T. and C. A. Kolden. 2011. Relative importance of weather and climate on wildfire growth in interior Alaska. International Journal of Wildland Fire 20(4):479-486. DOI: 10.1071/WF10046.
- Alexandersson, H., H. Tuomenvirta, T. Schmith and K. Iden. 2000. Trends of storms in NW Europe derived from an updated pressure data set. Cliamte Research 14:71-73.
- Allen, M. 2003. Liability for climate change. Nature 421(6926):891-892. DOI: 10.1038/421891c.
- Allen, M. R. and W. J. Ingram. 2002. Constraints on future changes in climate and the hydrologic cycle. Nature 419(6903):224-232. DOI: 10.1038/nature01092.
- Allen, M. R. and P. A. Stott. 2003. Estimating signal amplitudes in optimal fingerprinting, part I: theory. Climate Dynamics 21(5-6):477-491. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-003-0313-9.
- Anel, J. A., J. I. Lopez-Moreno, F. E. L. Otto, S. Vicente-Serrano, N. Schaller, N. Massey, S. T. Buisan and M. R. Allen. 2014. The Extreme Snow Accumulation in the Western Spanish Pyrenees during Winter and Spring 2013 [in "Explaining Extremes of 2013 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95(9):S73-S76.
- Angelil, O., D. A. Stone, M. Tadross, F. Tummon, M. Wehner and R. Knutti. 2014. Attribution of extreme weather to anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions: Sensitivity to spatial and temporal scales. Geophysical Research Letters 41(6):2150-2155. DOI: 10.1002/2014gl059234.
- Annan, J. D. and J. C. Hargreaves. 2010. Reliability of the CMIP3 ensemble. Geophysical Research Letters 37. DOI: 10.1029/2009gl041994.
- Bagley, J. E., A. R. Desai, K. J. Harding, P. K. Snyder and J. A. Foley. 2014. Drought and Deforestation: Has Land Cover Change Influenced Recent Precipitation Extremes in the Amazon? Journal of Climate 27(1):345-361. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-12-00369.1.
- Barlow, M. and A. Hoell. 2015. Drought in the Middle East and Central-Southwest Asia during winter 2013/14 [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S71-S76. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00127.1.
- Barnes, E. A., E. Dunn-Sigouin, G. Masato and T. Woollings. 2014. Exploring recent trends in Northern Hemisphere blocking. Geophysical Research Letters 41(2):638-644. DOI: 10.1002/2013GL058745.
- Barsugli, J. J., J. S. Whitaker, A. F. Loughe, P. D. Sardeshmukh and Z. Toth. 1999. The effect of the 1997/98 El Nino on individual large-scale weather events. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 80(7):1399-1411. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0477(1999)080<1399:Teoten>2.0.Co;2.
- Bergaoui, K., D. Mitchell, R. Zaaboul, R. McDonnell, F. Otto and M. Allen. 2015. The contribution of human-induced climate change to the drought of 2014 in the southern Levant region [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S66-S70. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00129.1.
- Bhend, J. and P. Whetton. 2013. Consistency of simulated and observed regional changes in temperature, sea level pressure and precipitation. Climatic Change 118(3-4):799-810. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-012-0691-2.
- Bindoff, N. L., P. A. Stott, K. M. AchutaRao, M. R. Allen, N. Gillett, D. Gutzler, K. Hansingo, G. Hegerl, Y. Hu, S. Jain, I. I. Mokhov, J. Overland, J. Perlwitz, R. Sebbari and X. Zhang. 2013. Detection and Attribution of Climate Change: from Global to Regional. In

Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P. M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

- Black, M. T., D. J. Karoly and A. D. King. 2015. The Contribution of Anthropogenic Forcing to the Adelaide and Melbourne, Australia, Heat Waves of January 2014 [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S145-S148. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00097.1.
- Booth, B. B. B., N. J. Dunstone, P. R. Halloran, T. Andrews and N. Bellouin. 2012. Aerosols implicated as a prime driver of twentieth-century North Atlantic climate variability. Nature 484(7393):228-U110. DOI: 10.1038/nature10946.
- Bracegirdle, T. J. and D. B. Stephenson. 2012. Higher precision estimates of regional polar warming by ensemble regression of climate model projections. Climate Dynamics 39(12):2805-2821. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-012-1330-3.
- Brooks, H. E., J. W. Lee and J. P. Craven. 2003. The spatial distribution of severe thunderstorm and tornado environments from global reanalysis data. Atmospheric Research 67-8:73-94. DOI: 10.1016/S0169-8095(03)00045-0.
- Brooks, H. E. and N. Dotzek. 2007. The spatial distribution of severe convective storms and an analysis of their secular changes. In Climate Extremes and Society. H. F. Diaz and R. Murnane, eds. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Brooks, H. E. 2013. Severe thunderstorms and climate change. Atmospheric Research 123:129-138. DOI: 10.1016/j.atmosres.2012.04.002.
- Bryan, G. H. and R. Rotunno. 2009. The Maximum Intensity of Tropical Cyclones in Axisymmetric Numerical Model Simulations. Monthly Weather Review 137(6):1770-1789. DOI: 10.1175/2008MWR2709.1.
- Bumbaco, K. A. and P. W. Mote. 2010. Three Recent Flavors of Drought in the Pacific Northwest. Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology 49(9):2058-2068. DOI: 10.1175/2010JAMC2423.1.
- Caesar, J., L. Alexander and R. Vose. 2006. Large-scale changes in observed daily maximum and minimum temperatures: Creation and analysis of a new gridded data set. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 111(D5). DOI: 10.1029/2005jd006280.
- Camargo, S. J. 2013. Global and Regional Aspects of Tropical Cyclone Activity in the CMIP5 Models. Journal of Climate 26(24):9880-9902. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-12-00549.1.
- Camargo, S. J., M. F. Ting and Y. Kushnir. 2013. Influence of local and remote SST on North Atlantic tropical cyclone potential intensity. Climate Dynamics 40(5-6):1515-1529. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-012-1536-4.
- Camargo, S. J., M. K. Tippett, A. H. Sobel, G. A. Vecchi and M. Zhao. 2014. Testing the Performance of Tropical Cyclone Genesis Indices in Future Climates Using the HiRAM Model. Journal of Climate 27(24):9171-9196. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-13-00505.1.
- Cardona, O. D., M.K. van Aalst, J. Birkmann, M. Fordham, G. McGregor, R. Perez, R.S. Pulwarty, E.L.F. Schipper, and B.T. Sinh. 2012. Determinants of risk: exposure and vulnerability. In: . In Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Field, C. B., V. Barros, T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, D. J. Dokken, K. L. Ebi, M. D. Mastrandrea, K. J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S. K. Allen, M. Tignor and P. M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Cattiaux, J., R. Vautard, C. Cassou, P. Yiou, V. Masson-Delmotte and F. Codron. 2010. Winter 2010 in Europe: A cold extreme in a warming climate. Geophysical Research Letters 37. DOI: 10.1029/2010gl044613.

- Changnon, S. A. and T. R. Karl. 2003. Temporal and spatial variations of freezing rain in the contiguous United States: 1948-2000. Journal of Applied Meteorology 42(9):1302-1315. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0450(2003)042<1302:Tasvof>2.0.Co;2.
- Cheng, C. S. Q., G. L. Li and H. Auld. 2011. Possible Impacts of Climate Change on Freezing Rain Using Downscaled Future Climate Scenarios: Updated for Eastern Canada. Atmosphere-Ocean 49(1):8-21. DOI: 10.1080/07055900.2011.555728.
- Cheng, L., M. Hoerling, A. AghaKouchak, B. Livneh, X.-W. Quan and J. Eischeid. 2016. How Has Human-Induced Climate Change Affected California Drought Risk? Journal of Climate 29:111-120. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-15-0260.1.
- Christensen, J. H., K. K. Kumar, E. Aldrian, S.-I. An, I. F. A. Cavalcanti, M. d. Castro, W. Dong, P. Goswami, A. Hall, J. K. Kanyanga, A. Kitoh, J. Kossin, N.-C. Lau, J. Renwick, D. B. Stephenson, S.-P. Xie and T. Zhou. 2013. Climate Phenomena and their Relevance for Future Regional Climate Change. In Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Stocker, T. F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P. M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Christidis, N. and P. A. Stott. 2012. Lengthened odds of the cold UK winter of 2010/11 attributable to human influence [In "Explaining Extreme Events of 2011 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 93(7):1060-1062.
- Christidis, N., P. A. Stott, F. W. Zwiers, H. Shiogama and T. Nozawa. 2012. The contribution of anthropogenic forcings to regional changes in temperature during the last decade. Climate Dynamics 39(6):1259-1274. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-011-1184-0.
- Christidis, N., P. A. Stott, D. J. Karoly and A. Ciavarella. 2013a. An attribution study of the heavy rainfall over Eastern Australia in March 2012. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 94(9):S58-S61.
- Christidis, N., P. A. Stott, A. A. Scaife, A. Arribas, G. S. Jones, D. Copsey, J. R. Knight and W. J. Tennant. 2013b. A New HadGEM3-A-Based System for Attribution of Weather- and Climate-Related Extreme Events. Journal of Climate 26(9):2756-2783. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-12-00169.1.
- Christidis, N., P. A. Stott and F. W. Zwiers. 2014. Fast-track attribution assessments based on pre-computed estimates of changes in the odds of warm extremes. Climate Dynamics. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-014-2408-x.
- Christidis, N., G. S. Jones and P. A. Stott. 2015. Dramatically increasing chance of extremely hot summers since the 2003 European heatwave. Nature Climate Change 5(1):46-50. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2468.
- Christidis, N. and P. A. Stott. 2015. Extreme rainfall in the United Kingdom during Winter 2013/14: The role of atmospheric circulation and climate change [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S46-S50. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00094.1.
- Coles, S. 2001. An introduction to statistical modeling of extreme values. London, New York: Springer.
- Colle, B. A., J. F. Booth and E. K. M. Chang. 2015. A Review of Historical and Future Changes of Extratropical Cyclones and Associated Impacts Along the US East Coast. Current Climate Change Reports (Topical Collection on Extreme Events) 1(3):125-143. DOI: 10.1007/s40641-015-0013-7.
- Collins, M. R. K., J. Arblaster, J.-L. Dufresne, T. Fichefet, P. Friedlingstein, X. Gao, W. J. Gutowski, T. Johns, G. Krinner, M. Shongwe, C. Tebaldi, A. J. Weaver and M. Wehner. 2013. Long-term Climate Change: Projections, Commitments and Irreversibility. In Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. T. F.

Stocker, D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P. M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

- Compo, G. P., J. S. Whitaker, P. D. Sardeshmukh, N. Matsui, R. J. Allan, X. Yin, B. E. Gleason, R. S. Vose, G. Rutledge, P. Bessemoulin, S. Bronnimann, M. Brunet, R. I. Crouthamel, A. N. Grant, P. Y. Groisman, P. D. Jones, M. C. Kruk, A. C. Kruger, G. J. Marshall, M. Maugeri, H. Y. Mok, O. Nordli, T. F. Ross, R. M. Trigo, X. L. Wang, S. D. Woodruff and S. J. Worley. 2011. The Twentieth Century Reanalysis Project. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 137(654):1-28. DOI: 10.1002/qj.776.
- Dai, A. G. 2013. The influence of the inter-decadal Pacific oscillation on US precipitation during 1923-2010. Climate Dynamics 41(3-4):633-646. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-012-1446-5.
- Davison, A. C. and D. V. Hinkley. 1997. Bootstrap Methods and their Application. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Dean, S. M., S. Rosier, T. Carey-Smith and P. A. Stott. 2013. The role of climate change in the two-day extreme rainfall in Golden Bay, New Zealand, December 2011 [in "Explaining Extreme Events of 2012 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 94(9):S61-S63.
- Derksen, C. and R. Brown. 2012. Spring snow cover extent reductions in the 2008-2012 period exceeding climate model projections. Geophysical Research Letters 39. DOI: 10.1029/2012gl053387.
- Deser, C., A. S. Phillips, M. A. Alexander and B. V. Smoliak. 2014. Projecting North American Climate over the Next 50 Years: Uncertainty due to Internal Variability. Journal of Climate 27(6):2271-2296. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-13-00451.1.
- Diffenbaugh, N. S., M. Scherer and R. J. Trapp. 2013. Robust increases in severe thunderstorm environments in response to greenhouse forcing. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110(41):16361-16366. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1307758110.
- Diffenbaugh, N. S., D. L. Swain and D. Touma. 2015. Anthropogenic warming has increased drought risk in California. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112(13):3931-3936. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1422385112.
- Dole, R., M. Hoerling, J. Perlwitz, J. Eischeid, P. Pegion, T. Zhang, X. W. Quan, T. Y. Xu and D. Murray. 2011. Was there a basis for anticipating the 2010 Russian heat wave? Geophysical Research Letters 38. DOI: 10.1029/2010gl046582.
- Donat, M. G., L. V. Alexander, H. Yang, I. Durre, R. Vose, R. J. H. Dunn, K. M. Willett, E. Aguilar, M. Brunet, J. Caesar, B. Hewitson, C. Jack, A. M. G. K. Tank, A. C. Kruger, J. Marengo, T. C. Peterson, M. Renom, C. O. Rojas, M. Rusticucci, J. Salinger, A. S. Elrayah, S. S. Sekele, A. K. Srivastava, B. Trewin, C. Villarroel, L. A. Vincent, P. Zhai, X. Zhang and S. Kitching. 2013. Updated analyses of temperature and precipitation extreme indices since the beginning of the twentieth century: The HadEX2 dataset. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 118(5):2098-2118. DOI: 10.1002/jgrd.50150.
- Doswell III, C. A. 2001. Severe Convective Storms—An Overview. In Severe Convective Storms. C. A. Doswell III, eds. Washington, DC: American Meteorological Society.
- Douville, H. 2009. Stratospheric polar vortex influence on Northern Hemisphere winter climate variability. Geophysical Research Letters 36(18). DOI: 10.1029/2009GL039334.
- Downton, M., J. Miller and R. Pielke Jr. 2005. Reanalysis of U.S. National Weather Service Flood Loss Database. Natural Hazards Review 6(1):13-22. DOI: 10.1061/(ASCE)1527-6988(2005)6:1(13).
- Downton, M. W. and R. A. Pielke. 2005. How accurate are disaster loss data? The case of US flood damage. Natural Hazards 35(2):211-228. DOI: 10.1007/s11069-004-4808-4.

- Du, S. Q., P. J. Shi, A. Van Rompaey and J. H. Wen. 2015. Quantifying the impact of impervious surface location on flood peak discharge in urban areas. Natural Hazards 76(3):1457-1471. DOI: 10.1007/s11069-014-1463-2.
- Edwards, L. M., M. J. Bunkers, J. T. Abatzoglou, D. P. Todey and L. E. Parker. 2014. October 2013 Blizzard in Western South Dakota [in "Explaining Extremes of 2013 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95(9):S23-S26.
- Elsner, J. B., J. P. Kossin and T. H. Jagger. 2008. The increasing intensity of the strongest tropical cyclones. Nature 455(7209):92-95. DOI: 10.1038/nature07234.
- Emanuel, K. and D. S. Nolan. 2004. Tropical cyclone activity and the global climate system. Presented at 26th Conference on Hurricanes and Tropical Meteorology Miami, FL.
- Emanuel, K. 2006. Climate and tropical cyclone activity: A new model downscaling approach. Journal of Climate 19(19):4797-4802. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli3908.1.
- Emanuel, K. 2008. The hurricane-climate connection. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 89(5):ES10-ES20. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-89-5-Emanuel.
- Emanuel, K. A. 1986. An Air Sea Interaction Theory for Tropical Cyclones. Part 1: Steady-State Maintenance. Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences 43(6):585-604. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0469(1986)043<0585:Aasitf>2.0.Co;2.
- Emanuel, K. A. 1988. The Maximum Intensity of Hurricanes. Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences 45(7):1143-1155. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0469(1988)045<1143:Tmioh>2.0.Co;2.
- Emanuel, K. A. 2013. Downscaling CMIP5 climate models shows increased tropical cyclone activity over the 21st century. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110(30):12219-12224. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1301293110.
- Ezer, T. and L. P. Atkinson. 2014. Accelerated flooding along the US East Coast: On the impact of sea-level rise, tides, storms, the Gulf Stream, and the North Atlantic Oscillations. Earths Future 2(8):362-382. DOI: 10.1002/2014EF000252.
- Fagerland, M. W., S. Lydersen and P. Laake. 2015. Recommended confidence intervals for two independent binomial proportions. Statistical Methods in Medical Research 24(2):224-254. DOI: 10.1177/0962280211415469.
- Feser, F., M. Barcikowska, S. Haeseler, C. Lefebvre, M. Schubert-Frisius, M. Stendel, H. V. Storch and M. Zahn. 2015a. Hurricane Gonzalo and its extratropical transition to a strong European storm [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S51-S55. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00122.1.
- Feser, F., M. Barcikowska, O. Krueger, F. Schenk, R. Weisse and L. Xia. 2015b. Storminess over the North Atlantic and northwestern Europe - A review. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 141(687):350-382. DOI: 10.1002/qj.2364.
- Fischer, E. M., U. Beyerle and R. Knutti. 2013. Robust spatially aggregated projections of climate extremes. Nature Climate Change 3(12):1033-1038. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2051.
- Flannigan, M. D., B. M. Wotton, G. A. Marshall, W. J. d. Groot, J. Johnston, N. Jurko and A. S. Cantin. 2015. Fuel moisture sensitivity to temperature and precipitation: climate change implications. Climatic Change. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-015-1521-0.
- Flato, G., J. Marotzke, B. Abiodun, P. Braconnot, S. C. Chou, W. Collins, P. Cox, F. Driouech, S. Emori, V. Eyring, C. Forest, P. Gleckler, E. Guilyardi, C. Jakob, V. Kattsov, C. Reason and M. Rummukainen. 2013. Evaluation of climate models. In Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P. M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Francis, J. A. and S. J. Vavrus. 2012. Evidence linking Arctic amplification to extreme weather in mid-latitudes. Geophysical Research Letters 39. DOI: 10.1029/2012gl051000.

- Francis, J. A. and S. J. Vavrus. 2015. Evidence for a wavier jet stream in response to rapid Arctic warming. Environmental Research Letters 10(1). DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/10/1/014005.
- Fuentes-Franco, R., F. Giorgi, E. Coppola and F. Kucharski. 2015. The role of ENSO and PDO in variability of winter precipitation over North America from twenty first century CMIP5 projections. Climate Dynamics. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-015-2767-y.
- Funk, C., G. Husak, J. Michaelsen, S. Shukla, A. Hoell, B. Lyon, M. P. Hoerling, B. Liebmann, T. Zhang, J. Verdin, G. Galu, G. Eilerts and J. Rowland. 2013. Attribution of 2012 and 2003-12 rainfall deficits in eastern Kenya and southern Somalia. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 94(9):S45-S48.
- Funk, C., A. Hoell and D. Stone. 2014. Examining the Contribution of the Observed Global Warming Trend to the California Droughts of 2012/13 and 2013/14 [in Supplement to "Explaining Extremes of 2013 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95(9):S11-S15.
- Funk, C., S. Shukla, A. Hoell and B. Livneh. 2015. Assessing the contributions of East African and West Pacific warming to the 2014 boreal spring East African drought [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S77-S82. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00106.1.
- Gao, Y., L. R. Leung, J. Lu and G. Masato. 2015. Persistent cold air outbreaks over North America in a warming climate. Environmental Research Letters 10(4). DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/10/4/044001.
- Gauthier, S., P. Bernier, T. Kuuluvainen, A. Z. Shvidenko and D. G. Schepaschenko. 2015. Boreal forest health and global change. Science 349(6250):819-822. DOI: 10.1126/science.aaa9092.
- Gelman, A., J. B. Carlin, H. S. Stern, D. B. Dunson, A. Vehtari and D. B. Rubin. 2013. Bayesian data analysis. Third Edition. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Gensini, V. A. and T. L. Mote. 2015. Downscaled estimates of late 21st century severe weather from CCSM3. Climatic Change 129(1-2):307-321. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-014-1320-z.
- Gershunov, A. and K. Guirguis. 2012. California heat waves in the present and future. Geophysical Research Letters 39. DOI: 10.1029/2012gl052979.
- Gillett, N. P., A. J. Weaver, F. W. Zwiers and M. D. Flannigan. 2004. Detecting the effect of climate change on Canadian forest fires. Geophysical Research Letters 31(18). DOI: 10.1029/2004gl020876.
- Gleckler, P. J., K. E. Taylor and C. Doutriaux. 2008. Performance metrics for climate models. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 113(D6). DOI: 10.1029/2007jd008972.
- Greve, P., B. Orlowsky, B. Mueller, J. Sheffield, M. Reichstein and S. I. Seneviratne. 2014. Global assessment of trends in wetting and drying over land. Nature Geoscience 7(10):716-721. DOI: 10.1038/NGEO2247.
- Grise, K. M., S. W. Son, G. J. P. Correa and L. M. Polvani. 2014. The response of extratropical cyclones in the Southern Hemisphere to stratospheric ozone depletion in the 20th century. Atmospheric Science Letters 15(1):29-36. DOI: 10.1002/asl2.458.
- Habeeb, D., J. Vargo and B. Stone. 2015. Rising heat wave trends in large US cities. Natural Hazards 76(3):1651-1665. DOI: 10.1007/s11069-014-1563-z.
- Hall, A. and X. Qu. 2006. Using the current seasonal cycle to constrain snow albedo feedback in future climate change. Geophysical Research Letters 33(3). DOI: 10.1029/2005gl025127.
- Hanlon, H. M., S. Morak and G. C. Hegerl. 2013. Detection and prediction of mean and extreme European summer temperatures with a multimodel ensemble. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 118(17):9631-9641. DOI: 10.1002/jgrd.50703.
- Hannart, A., M. Bocquet, A. Carrassi, M. Ghil, P. Naveau, M. Pulido, J. Ruiz and P. Tandeo. 2015a. DADA: Data Assimilation for the Detection and Attribution of Weather and Climate-related Events. Climatic Change(submitted).

- Hannart, A., J. Pearl, F. E. L. Otto, P. Naveau and M. Ghil. 2015b. Causal counterfactual theory for the attribution of weather and climate-related events. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-14-00034.1.
- Hansen, B. B., K. Isaksen, R. E. Benestad, J. Kohler, A. O. Pedersen, L. E. Loe, S. J. Coulson, J. O. Larsen and O. Varpe. 2014a. Warmer and wetter winters: characteristics and implications of an extreme weather event in the High Arctic. Environmental Research Letters 9(11). DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/9/11/114021.
- Hansen, G., M. Auffhammer and A. R. Solow. 2014b. On the attribution of a single event to climate change. Journal of Climate 27(22):8297-8301. DOI: 10.1175/JCLI-D-14-00399.1.
- Hartmann, D. L., A. M. G. Klein Tank, M. Rusticucci, L. V. Alexander, S. Brönnimann, Y. Charabi, F. J. Dentener, E. J. Dlugokencky, D. R. Easterling, A. Kaplan, B. J. Soden, P. W. Thorne, M. Wild and P. M. Zhai. 2013. Observations: Atmosphere and Surface. In Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P. M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Hawkins, E. and R. Sutton. 2009. The Potential to Narrow Uncertainty in Regional Climate Predictions. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 90(8):1095-1107. DOI: 10.1175/2009BAMS2607.1.
- Hegerl, G. and F. Zwiers. 2011. Use of models in detection and attribution of climate change. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews-Climate Change 2(4):570-591. DOI: 10.1002/wcc.121.
- Hegerl, G. C., O. Hoegh-Guldberg, G. Casassa, M. P. Hoerling, R. S. Kovats, C. Parmesan, D. W. Pierce and P. A. Stott. 2010. Good Practice Guidance Paper on Detection and Attribution Related to Anthropogenic Climate Change. In Meeting Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Expert Meeting on Detection and Attribution of Anthropogenic Climate Change. T. F. Stocker, C. B. Field, D. Qin, V. Barros, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, P. M. Midgley and K. L. Ebi, eds. Bern, Switzerland: IPCC Working Group I Technical Support Unit, University of Bern.
- Hegerl, G. C., F. W. Zwiers, P. Braconnot, N.P. Gillett, Y. Luo, J.A. Marengo Orsini, N. Nicholls, J.E. Penner and P.A. Stott, 2007. Understanding and Attributing Climate Change. In Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K. B. Averyt, M. Tignor and H. L. Miller, eds. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Held, I. M. and B. J. Soden. 2006. Robust responses of the hydrological cycle to global warming. Journal of Climate 19(21):5686-5699. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli3990.1.
- Herring, S. C., M. P. Hoerling, J. P. Kossin, T. C. Peterson and P. A. Stott. 2015a. Summary and broader context [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc., 96 (12), . Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S168-S172. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00210.1.
- Herring, S. C., M. P. Hoerling, J. P. Kossin, T. C. Peterson and P. A. Stott. 2015b. Explaining Extreme Events of 2014 from a Climate Perspective. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S1-S172.
- Herring, S. C., Martin P. Hoerling, Thomas C. Peterson, and Peter A. Stott. 2014. Explaining Extreme Events of 2013 from a Climate Perspective. Special Supplement to the Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society Vol. 95, No. 9, September 2014.

- Herweijer, C., R. Seager, E. R. Cook and J. Emile-Geay. 2007. North American droughts of the last millennium from a gridded network of tree-ring data. Journal of Climate 20(7):1353-1376. DOI: 10.1175/JCLI4042.1.
- Hirsch, R. M. and S. A. Archfield. 2015. Flood trends: Not higher but more often. Nature Climate Change 5:198-199. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2551.
- Hoerling, M., A. Kumar, R. Dole, J. W. Nielsen-Gammon, J. Eischeid, J. Perlwitz, X. W. Quan, T. Zhang, P. Pegion and M. Y. Chen. 2013. Anatomy of an Extreme Event. Journal of Climate 26(9):2811-2832. DOI: 10.1175/jcli-d-12-00270.1.
- Hoerling, M., K. Wolter, J. Perlwitz, X. W. Quan, J. Eischeid, H. L. Wang, S. Schubert, H. Diaz and R. Dole. 2014. Northeast Colorado Extreme Rains Interpreted in a Climate Change Context. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95(9):S15-S18.
- Hoffman, R. N., P. Dailey, S. Hopsch, R. M. Ponte, K. Quinn, E. M. Hill and B. Zachry. 2010. An Estimate of Increases in Storm Surge Risk to Property from Sea Level Rise in the First Half of the Twenty-First Century. Weather Climate and Society 2(4):271-293. DOI: 10.1175/2010WCAS1050.1.
- Holland, G. and C. L. Bruyere. 2014. Recent intense hurricane response to global climate change. Climate Dynamics 42(3-4):617-627. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-013-1713-0.
- Holland, G. J. 1997. The maximum potential intensity of tropical cyclones. Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences 54(21):2519-2541. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0469(1997)054<2519:Tmpiot>2.0.Co;2.
- Horton, D. E., N. C. Johnson, D. Singh, D. L. Swain, B. Rajaratnam and N. S. Diffenbaugh. 2015. Contribution of changes in atmospheric circulation patterns to extreme temperature trends. Nature 522(7557):465-469. DOI: 10.1038/nature14550.
- Hoskins, B. and T. Woollings. 2015. Persistent Extratropical Regimes and Climate Extremes. Current Climate Change Reports (Topical Collection on Extreme Events) 1(3):115-124. DOI: 10.1007/s40641-015-0020-8.
- Hou, A. Y., R. K. Kakar, S. Neeck, A. A. Azarbarzin, C. D. Kummerow, M. Kojima, R. Oki, K. Nakamura and T. Iguchi. 2014. The Global Precipitation Measurement Mission. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95(5):701-+. DOI: 10.1175/Bams-D-13-00164.1.
- Houston, T. G. and S. A. Changnon. 2006. Freezing rain events: a major weather hazard in the conterminous US. Natural Hazards 40(2):485-494. DOI: 10.1007/s11069-006-9006-0.
- Howe, P. D., H. Boudet, A. Leiserowitz and E. W. Maibach. 2014. Mapping the shadow of experience of extreme weather events. Climatic Change 127(2):381-389. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-014-1253-6.
- Huntingford, C., T. Marsh, A. A. Scaife, E. J. Kendon, J. Hannaford, A. L. Kay, M. Lockwood, C. Prudhomme, N. S. Reynard, S. Parry, J. A. Lowe, J. A. Screen, H. C. Ward, M. Roberts, P. A. Stott, V. A. Bell, M. Bailey, A. Jenkins, T. Legg, F. E. L. Otto, N. Massey, N. Schaller, J. Slingo and M. R. Allen. 2014. Potential influences on the United Kingdom's floods of winter 2013/14. Nature Climate Change 4(9):769-777. DOI: 10.1038/Nclimate2314.
- Inoue, J., M. E. Hori and K. Takaya. 2012. The Role of Barents Sea Ice in the Wintertime Cyclone Track and Emergence of a Warm-Arctic Cold-Siberian Anomaly. Journal of Climate 25(7):2561-2568. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-11-00449.1.
- IPCC. 2012. Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. C. B. Field, V. Barros, T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, D. J. Dokken, K. L. Ebi, M. D. Mastrandrea, K. J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S. K. Allen, M. Tignor, and P. M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC, Ed. 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate

Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

- IPCC. 2014. Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Geneva, Switzerland: IPCC.
- Irish, J. L., A. Sleath, M. A. Cialone, T. R. Knutson and R. E. Jensen. 2014. Simulations of Hurricane Katrina (2005) under sea level and climate conditions for 1900. Climatic Change 122(4):635-649. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-013-1011-1.
- Jain, S. and U. Lall. 2001. Floods in a changing climate: Does the past represent the future? Water Resources Research 37(12):3193-3205. DOI: 10.1029/2001wr000495.
- Jaiser, R., K. Dethloff and D. Handorf. 2013. Stratospheric response to Arctic sea ice retreat and associated planetary wave propagation changes. Tellus Series a-Dynamic Meteorology and Oceanography 65. DOI: 10.3402/Tellusa.V65i0.19375.
- Janssen, E., D. J. Wuebbles, K. E. Kunkel, S. C. Olsen and A. Goodman. 2014. Observationaland model-based trends and projections of extreme precipitation over the contiguous United States. Earths Future 2(2):99-113. DOI: 10.1002/2013EF000185.
- Jolly, W. M., M. A. Cochrane, P. H. Freeborn, Z. A. Holden, T. J. Brown, G. J. Williamson and D. M. J. S. Bowman. 2015. Climate-induced variations in global wildfire danger from 1979 to 2013. Nature Communications 6. DOI: 10.1038/Ncomms8537.
- Jung, T., S. K. Gulev, I. Rudeva and V. Soloviov. 2006. Sensitivity of extratropical cyclone characteristics to horizontal resolution in the ECMWF model. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 132(619):1839-1857. DOI: 10.1256/qj.05.212.
- Kam, J., T. R. Knutson, F. Zeng and A. T. Wittenberg. 2015. Record annual-mean warmth over Europe, the northeast Pacific, and the northwest Atlantic during 2014: Assessment of anthropogenic influence [Sec. 13 of: "Explaining extreme events of 2014 from a climate perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S61-S65. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00101.1.
- Kang, S. M., L. M. Polvani, J. C. Fyfe, S. W. Son, M. Sigmond and G. J. P. Correa. 2013. Modeling evidence that ozone depletion has impacted extreme precipitation in the austral summer. Geophysical Research Letters 40(15):4054-4059. DOI: 10.1002/grl.50769.
- Karoly, D. J. and P. A. Stott. 2006. Anthropogenic warming of central England temperature. Atmospheric Science Letters 7(4):81-85. DOI: 10.1002/asl.136.
- Kendon, E. J., N. M. Roberts, H. J. Fowler, M. J. Roberts, S. C. Chan and C. A. Senior. 2014. Heavier summer downpours with climate change revealed by weather forecast resolution model. Nature Climate Change 4(7):570-576. DOI: 10.1038/Nclimate2258.
- Kharin, V. V. and F. W. Zwiers. 2005. Estimating extremes in transient climate change simulations. Journal of Climate 18(8):1156-1173. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli3320.1.
- Kharin, V. V., F. W. Zwiers, X. B. Zhang and G. C. Hegerl. 2007. Changes in temperature and precipitation extremes in the IPCC ensemble of global coupled model simulations. Journal of Climate 20(8):1419-1444. DOI: 10.1175/JCLI4066.1.
- Kharin, V. V., F. W. Zwiers, X. Zhang and M. Wehner. 2013. Changes in temperature and precipitation extremes in the CMIP5 ensemble. Climatic Change 119(2):345-357. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-013-0705-8.
- Kim, B. M., S. W. Son, S. K. Min, J. H. Jeong, S. J. Kim, X. D. Zhang, T. Shim and J. H. Yoon. 2014. Weakening of the stratospheric polar vortex by Arctic sea-ice loss. Nature Communications 5. DOI: 10.1038/Ncomms5646.
- King, A. D., G. J. van Oldenborgh, D. J. Karoly, S. C. Lewis and H. Cullen. 2015. Attribution of the record high Central England temperature of 2014 to anthropogenic influences. Environmental Research Letters 10(5). DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/10/5/054002.
- Kirtman, B., S. B. Power, J. A. Adedoyin, G. J. Boer, R. Bojariu, I. Camilloni, F. J. Doblas-Reyes, A. M. Fiore, M. Kimoto, G. A. Meehl, M. Prather, A. Sarr, C. Schär, R. Sutton, G.

J. v. Oldenborgh, G. Vecchi and H. J. Wang. 2013. Near-term Climate Change: Projections and Predictability. In Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P. M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

- Klima, K. and M. G. Morgan. 2015. Ice storm frequencies in a warmer climate. Climatic Change 133(2):209-222. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-015-1460-9.
- Knaff, J. A., D. P. Brown, J. Courtney, G. M. Gallina and J. L. Beven. 2010. An Evaluation of Dvorak Technique-Based Tropical Cyclone Intensity Estimates. Weather and Forecasting 25(5):1362-1379. DOI: 10.1175/2010WAF2222375.1.
- Knutson, T. R. and R. E. Tuleya. 2004. Impact of CO₂-induced warming on simulated hurricane intensity and precipitation: Sensitivity to the choice of climate model and convective parameterization. Journal of Climate 17(18):3477-3495. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0442(2004)017<3477:Iocwos>2.0.Co;2.
- Knutson, T. R., J. J. Sirutis, S. T. Garner, G. A. Vecchi and I. M. Held. 2008. Simulated reduction in Atlantic hurricane frequency under twenty-first-century warming conditions. Nature Geoscience 1(6):359-364. DOI: 10.1038/ngeo202.
- Knutson, T. R., J. L. McBride, J. Chan, K. Emanuel, G. Holland, C. Landsea, I. Held, J. P. Kossin, A. K. Srivastava and M. Sugi. 2010. Tropical cyclones and climate change. Nature Geoscience 3(3):157-163. DOI: 10.1038/NGEO779.
- Knutson, T. R., F. Zeng and A. T. Wittenberg. 2014. Seasonal and annual mean precipitation extremes occurring during 2013: A U.S. focused analysis [in "Explaining Extremes of 2013 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95(9):S19-S23. DOI: 10.1175/ExplainingExtremeEvents2013.1.
- Knutti, R., D. Masson and A. Gettelman. 2013. Climate model genealogy: Generation CMIP5 and how we got there. Geophysical Research Letters 40(6):1194-1199. DOI: 10.1002/grl.50256.
- Kossin, J. P., T. L. Olander and K. R. Knapp. 2013. Trend Analysis with a New Global Record of Tropical Cyclone Intensity. Journal of Climate 26(24):9960-9976. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-13-00262.1.
- Kossin, J. P., K. A. Emanuel and G. A. Vecchi. 2014. The poleward migration of the location of tropical cyclone maximum intensity. Nature 509(7500):349-352. DOI: 10.1038/nature13278.
- Krezek-Hanes, C. C., F. Ahren, A. Cantin and M. D. Flannigan. 2011. Trends in large fires in Canada, 1959-2007. Canadian Biodiversity: Ecosystem Status and Trends 2010, Technical Thematic Report No. 6. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Councils of Resource Ministers.
- Krishnamurthy, C. K. B., U. Lall and H. H. Kwon. 2009. Changing Frequency and Intensity of Rainfall Extremes over India from 1951 to 2003. Journal of Climate 22(18):4737-4746. DOI: 10.1175/2009JCLI2896.1.
- Krueger, O., F. Schenk, F. Feser and R. Weisse. 2013. Inconsistencies between Long-Term Trends in Storminess Derived from the 20CR Reanalysis and Observations. Journal of Climate 26(3):868-874. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-12-00309.1.
- Kunkel, K. E., M. A. Palecki, L. Ensor, D. Easterling, K. G. Hubbard, D. Robinson and K. Redmond. 2009. Trends in Twentieth-Century U.S. Extreme Snowfall Seasons. Journal of Climate 22:6204-6216. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1175/2009JCLI2631.1.
- Kunkel, K. E., T. R. Karl, H. Brooks, J. Kossin, J. H. Lawrimore, D. Arndt, L. Bosart, D. Changnon, S. L. Cutter, N. Doesken, K. Y. Emanuel, P. Y. Groisman, R. W. Katz, T. Knutson, J. O'Brien, C. J. Paciorek, T. C. Peterson, K. Redmond, D. Robinson, J. Trapp, R. Vose, S. Weaver, M. Wehner, K. Wolter and D. Wuebbles. 2013. Monitoring and

Understanding Trends in Extreme Storms State of Knowledge. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 94(4):499-514. DOI: 10.1175/Bams-D-11-00262.1.

- Kunkel, K. E., R. S. Vose, L. E. Stevens and R. W. Knight. 2015. Is the monthly temperature climate of the United States becoming more extreme? Geophysical Research Letters 42(2):629-636. DOI: 10.1002/2014GL062035.
- Lackmann, G. M. 2015. Hurricane Sandy before 1900 and after 2100. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(4):547-560. DOI: 10.1175/Bams-D-14-00123.1.
- Lambert, S. J. and J. C. Fyfe. 2006. Changes in winter cyclone frequencies and strengths simulated in enhanced greenhouse warming experiments: results from the models participating in the IPCC diagnostic exercise. Climate Dynamics 26(7-8):713-728. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-006-0110-3.
- Landsea, C. W. and J. L. Franklin. 2013. Atlantic Hurricane Database Uncertainty and Presentation of a New Database Format. Monthly Weather Review 141(10):3576-3592. DOI: 10.1175/Mwr-D-12-00254.1.
- Lawrimore, J., T. R. Karl, M. Squires, D. A. Robinson and K. E. Kunkel. 2014. Trends and Variability in Severe Snowstorms East of the Rocky Mountains. Journal of Hydrometeorology 15(5):1762-1777. DOI: 10.1175/Jhm-D-13-068.1.
- Lazo, J., M. L. P. Larsen and D. Waldman. 2011. U.S. Economic Sensitivity to Weather Variability. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society. DOI: 10.1175/2011BAMS2928.1.
- Lenderink, G. and E. Van Meijgaard. 2008. Increase in hourly precipitation extremes beyond expectations from temperature changes. Nature Geoscience 1(8):511-514. DOI: 10.1038/ngeo262.
- Lewis, S. C., D. J. Karoly and M. H. Yu. 2014. Quantitative estimates of anthropogenic contributions to extreme national and State monthly, seasonal and annual average temperatures for Australia. Australian Meteorological and Oceanographic Journal 64(3):215-230.
- Lin, H. W., J. L. McCarty, D. D. Wang, B. M. Rogers, D. C. Morton, G. J. Collatz, Y. F. Jin and J. T. Randerson. 2014. Management and climate contributions to satellite-derived active fire trends in the contiguous United States. Journal of Geophysical Research-Biogeosciences 119(4):645-660. DOI: 10.1002/2013JG002382.
- Lin, N., K. Emanuel, M. Oppenheimer and E. Vanmarcke. 2012. Physically based assessment of hurricane surge threat under climate change. Nature Climate Change 2(6):462-467. DOI: 10.1038/Nclimate1389.
- Lin, N. and K. Emanuel. 2015. Grey swan tropical cyclones. Nature Climate Change DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2777.
- Lockhoff, M., O. Zolina, C. Simmer and J. Schulz. 2014. Evaluation of Satellite-Retrieved Extreme Precipitation over Europe using Gauge Observations. Journal of Climate 27(2):607-623. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-13-00194.1.
- Lopeman, M., G. Deodatis and G. Franco. 2015. Erratum to: Extreme storm surge hazard estimation in lower Manhattan: Clustered separated peaks-over-threshold simulation (CSPS) method. Natural Hazards 78(1):393. DOI: 10.1007/s11069-015-1744-4.
- Lorenc, A. C., R. S. Bell and B. Macpherson. 1991. The Meteorological-Office Analysis Correction Data Assimilation Scheme. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 117(497):59-89. DOI: 10.1256/Smsqj.49703.
- Luo, L. F., Y. Tang, S. Y. Zhong, X. D. Bian and W. E. Heilman. 2013. Will Future Climate Favor More Erratic Wildfires in the Western United States? Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology 52(11):2410-2417. DOI: 10.1175/Jamc-D-12-0317.1.
- Mann, D. H., T. S. Rupp, M. A. Olson and P. A. Duffy. 2012. Is Alaska's Boreal Forest Now Crossing a Major Ecological Threshold? Arctic Antarctic and Alpine Research 44(3):319-331. DOI: 10.1657/1938-4246-44.3.319.

- Mann, M. E. and K. A. Emanuel. 2006. Atlantic hurricane trends linked to climate change. Eos Transactions AGU 87(24):233-241. DOI: 10.1029/2006EO240001.
- Marciano, C. G., G. M. Lackmann and W. A. Robinson. 2015. Changes in US East Coast Cyclone Dynamics with Climate Change. Journal of Climate 28(2):468-484. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-14-00418.1.
- Marthews, T. R., F. E. L. Otto, D. Mitchell, S. J. Dadson and R. G. Jones. 2015. The 2014 drought in the Horn of Africa: Attribution of meteorological drivers [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S83-S88. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00115.1.
- Martin, G. M., M. A. Ringer, V. D. Pope, A. Jones, C. Dearden and T. J. Hinton. 2006. The physical properties of the atmosphere in the new Hadley Centre Global Environmental Model (HadGEM1). Part I: Model description and global climatology. Journal of Climate 19(7):1274-1301. DOI: Doi 10.1175/Jcli3636.1.
- Massey, N., R. Jones, F. E. L. Otto, T. Aina, S. Wilson, J. M. Murphy, D. Hassell, Y. H. Yamazaki and M. R. Allen. 2014. weather@home—development and validation of a very large ensemble modelling system for probabilistic event attribution. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society:n/a-n/a. DOI: 10.1002/gj.2455.
- McBride, J. L., S. Sahany, M. E. E. Hassim, C. M. Nguyen, S.-Y. Lim, R. Rahmat and W.-K. Cheong. 2015. The 2014 record dry spell at Singapore: An intertropical convergence zone (ITCZ) drought [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc., 96 (12),. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12): S126-S130. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00117.1.
- Melillo, J. M., T. C. Richmond and G. W. Yohe, Eds. 2014. Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment. Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program.
- Meredith, E. P., V. A. Semenov, D. Maraun, W. Park and A. V. Chernokulsky. 2015. Crucial role of Black Sea warming in amplifying the 2012 Krymsk precipitation extreme. Nature Geoscience 8(8):615-+. DOI: 10.1038/NGEO2483.
- Morak, S., G. C. Hegerl and N. Christidis. 2013. Detectable changes in the frequency of temperature extremes. Journal of Climate 26(5):1561-1574. DOI: 10.1175/JCLI-D-11-00678.1.
- Mori, M., M. Watanabe, H. Shiogama, J. Inoue and M. Kimoto. 2014. Robust Arctic sea-ice influence on the frequent Eurasian cold winters in past decades. Nature Geoscience 7(12):869-873. DOI: 10.1038/NGEO2277.
- Morice, C. P., J. J. Kennedy, N. A. Rayner and P. D. Jones. 2012. Quantifying uncertainties in global and regional temperature change using an ensemble of observational estimates: The HadCRUT4 data set. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 117. DOI: 10.1029/2011jd017187.
- Murakami, H., G. A. Vecchi, S. Underwood, T. L. Delworth, A. T. Wittenberg, W. G. Anderson, J. H. Chen, R. G. Gudgel, L. M. Harris, S. J. Lin and F. R. Zeng. 2015. Simulation and Prediction of Category 4 and 5 Hurricanes in the High-Resolution GFDL HiFLOR Coupled Climate Model. Journal of Climate 28(23):9058-9079. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-15-0216.1.
- NatCatService. 2016. Natural catastrophes 2015 -- Annual figures. Available at http://www.munichre.com/site/corporate/get/params_E-1254966961_Dattachment/1130647/Munich-Re-Overview-Natural-catastrophes-2015.pdf, accessed February 19, 2016.
- Nazareno, A. G. and W. F. Laurance. 2015. Brazil's drought: Beware deforestation. Science 347(6229):1427-1427.

- Nicholls, N. 2001. The insignificance of significance testing. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 82(5):981-986. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0477(2001)082<0981:Caatio>2.3.Co;2.
- O'Gorman, P. A. and T. Schneider. 2009. The physical basis for increases in precipitation extremes in simulations of 21st-century climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106(35):14773-14777. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0907610106.
- O'Gorman, P. A. 2010. Understanding the varied response of the extratropical storm tracks to climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107(45):19176-19180. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1011547107.
- O'Gorman, P. A. 2014. Contrasting responses of mean and extreme snowfall to climate change. Nature 512(7515):416-U401. DOI: 10.1038/nature13625.
- Otto, F. E., R. G. Jones, K. Halladay and M. R. Allen. 2013. Attribution of changes in precipitation patterns in African rainforests. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences 368(1625):20120299.
- Otto, F. E. L., N. Massey, G. J. van Oldenborgh, R. G. Jones and M. R. Allen. 2012. Reconciling two approaches to attribution of the 2010 Russian heat wave. Geophysical Research Letters 39. DOI: 10.1029/2011gl050422.
- Otto, F. E. L., E. Boyd, R. G. Jones, R. J. Cornforth, R. James, H. R. Parker and M. R. Allen. 2015a. Attribution of extreme weather events in Africa: a preliminary exploration of the science and policy implications. Climatic Change. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-015-1432-0.
- Otto, F. E. L., C. A. S. Coelho, A. King, E. C. de Perez, Y. Wada, G. J. van Oldenborgh, R. Haarsma, K. Haustein, P. Uhe, M. v. Aalst, J. A. Aravequia, W. Almeida and H. Cullen. 2015b. Factors other than climate change, main drivers of 2014/15 water shortage in southeast Brazil [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S35-S40. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00120.1.
- Otto, F. E. L., S. M. Rosier, M. R. Allen, N. R. Massey, C. J. Rye and J. I. Quintana. 2015c. Attribution analysis of high precipitation events in summer in England and Wales over the last decade. Climatic Change 132(1):77-91. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-014-1095-2.
- Pall, P., T. Aina, D. A. Stone, P. A. Stott, T. Nozawa, A. G. J. Hilberts, D. Lohmann and M. R. Allen. 2011. Anthropogenic greenhouse gas contribution to flood risk in England and Wales in autumn 2000. Nature 470(7334):382-385. DOI: 10.1038/nature09762.
- Parascandola, M. and D. L. Weed. 2001. Causation in epidemiology. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 55:905-912. DOI: 10.1136/jech.55.12.905.
- Pearl, J. 2009. Causality: Models, reasoning, and inference. 2nd edition. Cambridge, U.K. ; New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Peings, Y. and G. Magnusdottir. 2014. Response of the Wintertime Northern Hemisphere Atmospheric Circulation to Current and Projected Arctic Sea Ice Decline: A Numerical Study with CAM5. Journal of Climate 27(1):244-264. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-13-00272.1.
- Peterson, T. C., P. A. Stott, S. Herring, F. W. Zwiers, G. C. Hegerl, S. K. Min, X. B. Zhang, G. J. van Oldenborgh, A. van Urk, M. R. Allen, C. Funk, D. E. Rupp, P. W. Mote, N. Massey, C. J. Rye, R. Jones, J. Cattiaux, P. Yiou, N. Massey, T. Aina, F. E. L. Otto, S. Wilson, R. G. Jones and N. Christidis. 2012. Explaining extreme events of 2011 from a climate perspective. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 93(7):1041-1067. DOI: 10.1175/bams-d-12-00021.1.
- Peterson, T. C., R. R. Heim, R. Hirsch, D. P. Kaiser, H. Brooks, N. S. Diffenbaugh, R. M. Dole, J. P. Giovannettone, K. Guirguis, T. R. Karl, R. W. Katz, K. Kunkel, D. Lettenmaier, G. J. McCabe, C. J. Paciorek, K. R. Ryberg, S. Schubert, V. B. S. Silva, B. C. Stewart, A. V. Vecchia, G. Villarini, R. S. Vose, J. Walsh, M. Wehner, D. Wolock, K. Wolter, C. A. Woodhouse and D. Wuebbles. 2013a. Monitoring and Understanding Changes in Heat
Waves, Cold Waves, Floods, and Droughts in the United States: State of Knowledge. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 94(6):821-834. DOI: 10.1175/Bams-D-12-00066.1.

- Peterson, T. C., M. P. Hoerling, P. A. Stott and S. C. Herring. 2013b. Explaining Extreme Events of 2012 from a Climate Perspective. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 94(9):S1-S74. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-13-00085.1.
- Polvani, L. M., R. K. Scott and S. J. Thomas. 2004. Numerically converged solutions of the global primitive equations for testing the dynamical core of atmospheric GCMs. Monthly Weather Review 132(11):2539-2552. DOI: 10.1175/Mwr2788.1.
- Pombo, S., R. P. de Oliveira and A. Mendes. 2015. Validation of remote-sensing precipitation products for Angola. Meteorological Applications 22(3):395-409. DOI: 10.1002/met.1467.
- Rahmstorf, S. and D. Coumou. 2011. Increase of extreme events in a warming world. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108(44):17905-17909. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1101766108.
- Redmond, K. T. 2002. The depiction of drought A commentary. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 83(8):1143-1147.
- Ribes, A., S. Planton and L. Terray. 2013. Application of regularised optimal fingerprinting to attribution. Part I: method, properties and idealised analysis. Climate Dynamics 41(11):2817-2836. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-013-1735-7.
- Ribes, A. and L. Terray. 2013. Application of regularised optimal fingerprinting to attribution. Part II: application to global near-surface temperature. Climate Dynamics 41(11):2837-2853. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-013-1736-6.
- Ribes, A., N. P. Gillett and F. W. Zwiers. 2015. Designing Detection and Attribution Simulations for CMIP6 to Optimize the Estimation of Greenhouse Gas–Induced Warming. Journal of Climate 28(3435-3438). DOI: 10.1175/JCLI-D-14-00691.1.
- Robine, J. M., S. L. K. Cheung, S. Le Roy, H. Van Oyen, C. Griffiths, J. P. Michel and F. R. Herrmann. 2008. Death toll exceeded 70,000 in Europe during the summer of 2003. Comptes Rendus Biologies 331(2):171-U175. DOI: 10.1016/j.crvi.2007.12.001.
- Romero-Lankao, P., J. B. Smith, D. J. Davidson, N. S. Diffenbaugh, P. L. Kinney, P. Kirshen, P. Kovacs and L. V. Ruiz. 2014. North America. In Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. V. R. Barros, C. B. Field, D. J. Dokken, M. D. Mastrandrea, K. J. Mach, T. E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K. L. Ebi, Y. O. Estrada, R. C. Genova, B. Girma, E. S. Kissel, A. N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P. R. Mastrandrea and L. L.White, eds. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Romps, D. M., J. T. Seeley, D. Vollaro and J. Molinari. 2014. Projected increase in lightning strikes in the United States due to global warming. Science 346(6211):851-854. DOI: 10.1126/science.1259100.
- Rothman, K. J. 2012. Epidemiology: An Introduction. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Rougier, J., M. Goldstein and L. House. 2013. Second-Order Exchangeability Analysis for Multimodel Ensembles. Journal of the American Statistical Association 108(503):852-863. DOI: 10.1080/01621459.2013.802963.
- Rupp, D. E., P. W. Mote, N. Massey, C. J. Rye, R. Jones and M. R. Allen. 2012. Did human influence on climate make the 2011 Texas drought more probable? [in Explaining extreme events of 2011 from a climate perspective]. Bulletin of the American Meteorology Society 93:1052-1054. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-12-00021.1.
- Sander, J., J. F. Eichner, E. Faust and M. Steuer. 2013. Rising variability in thunderstorm-related U.S. losses as a reflection of changes in large-scale thunderstorm forcing. Weather, Climate, and Society 5(4):317-331. DOI: 10.1175/WCAS-D-12-00023.1.

- Santer, B. D., T. M. L. Wigley, G. A. Meehl, M. F. Wehner and et al. 2003. Influence of satellite data uncertainties on the detection of externally forced climate change. Science 300(5623):1280-1284. DOI: 10.1126/science.1082393.
- Santer, B. D., C. Mears, F. J. Wentz, K. E. Taylor, P. J. Gleckler, T. M. L. Wigley, T. P. Barnett, J. S. Boyle, W. Bruggemann, N. P. Gillett, S. A. Klein, G. A. Meehl, T. Nozawa, D. W. Pierce, P. A. Stott, W. M. Washington and M. F. Wehner. 2007. Identification of humaninduced changes in atmospheric moisture content. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104(39):15248-15253. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0702872104.
- Santer, B. D., K. E. Taylor, P. J. Gleckler, C. Bonfils, T. P. Barnett, D. W. Pierce, T. M. L. Wigley, C. Mears, F. J. Wentz, W. Bruggemann, N. P. Gillett, S. A. Klein, S. Solomon, P. A. Stott and M. F. Wehner. 2009. Incorporating model quality information in climate change detection and attribution studies. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106(35):14778-14783. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0901736106.
- Sardeshmukh, P. D., G. P. Compo and C. Penland. 2015. Need for Caution in Interpreting Extreme Weather Statistics. Journal of Climate 28(23):9166-9187. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-15-0020.1.
- Schaller, N., F. E. L. Otto, G. J. van Oldenborgh, N. R. Massey, S. Sparrow and M. R. Allen. 2014. The heavy precipitation event of May-June 2013 in the Upper Danube and Elbe Basins. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95(9):S69-S72.
- Schaller, N., A. L. Kay, R. Lamb, N. R. Massey, G. J. v. Oldenborgh, F. E. L. Otto, S. N.
 Sparrow, R. Vautard, P. Yiou, I. Ashpole, A. Bowery, S. M. Crooks, K. Haustein, C.
 Huntingford, W. J. Ingram, R. G. Jones, T. Legg, J. Miller, J. Skeggs, D. Wallom, A.
 Weisheimer, S. Wilson, P. A. Stott and M. R. Allen. 2016. Human influence on climate in the 2014 southern England winter floods and their impacts. Nature Climate Change. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2927.
- Screen, J. A., C. Deser and L. Sun. 2015a. Projected changes in regional climate extremes arising from Arctic sea ice loss. Environmental Research Letters 10(8).
- Screen, J. A., C. Deser and L. Sun. 2015b. Reduced Risk of North American Cold Extremes Due to Continued Arctic Sea Ice Loss. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(9). DOI: 10.1175/Bams-D-14-00185.1.
- Seager, R. 2011. Was the Dust Bowl predictable? . Palisades, NY: Lamont-Doherty Earth Observatory. Available at http://www.ldeo.columbia.edu/res/div/ocp/drought/dustbowl.shtml.
- Seager, R., M. Hoerling, S. Schubert, H. L. Wang, B. Lyon, A. Kumar, J. Nakamura and N. Henderson. 2015. Causes of the 2011-14 California Drought. Journal of Climate 28(18):6997-7024. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-14-00860.1.
- Seiler, C. and F. W. Zwiers. 2015a. How will climate change affect explosive cyclones in the extratropics of the Northern Hemisphere? Climate Dynamics. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-015-2791-y.
- Seiler, C. and F. W. Zwiers. 2015b. How well do CMIP5 climate models reproduce explosive cyclones in the extratropics of the Northern Hemisphere? Climate Dynamics. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-015-2642-x.
- Seneviratne, S. I., T. Corti, E. L. Davin, M. Hirschi, E. B. Jaeger, I. Lehner, B. Orlowsky and A. J. Teuling. 2010. Investigating soil moisture-climate interactions in a changing climate: A review. Earth-Science Reviews 99(3-4):125-161. DOI: 10.1016/j.earscirev.2010.02.004.
- Seneviratne, S. I., N. Nicholls, D. Easterling, C. M. Goodess, S. Kanae, J. Kossin, Y. Luo, J. Marengo, K. McInnes, M. Rahimi, M. Reichstein, A. Sorteberg, C. Vera and X. Zhang. 2012. Changes in climate extremes and their impacts on the natural physical environment. In Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance

Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. C. B. Field, V. Barros, T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, D. J. Dokken, K. L. Ebi, M. D. Mastrandrea, K. J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S. K. Allen, M. Tignor and P. M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.

- Seneviratne, S. I., M. G. Donat, A. J. Pitman, R. Knutti and R. L. Wilby. 2016. Allowable CO₂ emissions based on regional and impact-related climate targets. Nature 529:477-483. DOI: 10.1038/nature16542.
- Shaevitz, D. A., S. J. Camargo, A. H. Sobel, J. A. Jonas, D. Kim, A. Kumar, T. E. LaRow, Y. K. Lim, H. Murakami, K. A. Reed, M. J. Roberts, E. Scoccimarro, P. L. Vidale, H. Wang, M. F. Wehner, M. Zhao and N. Henderson. 2014. Characteristics of tropical cyclones in high-resolution models in the present climate. Journal of Advances in Modeling Earth Systems 6(4):1154-1172. DOI: 10.1002/2014MS000372.
- Sheffield, J., E. F. Wood and M. L. Roderick. 2012. Little change in global drought over the past 60 years. Nature 491(7424):435-438. DOI: 10.1038/nature11575.
- Shepherd, M., T. Mote, J. Dowd, M. Roden, P. Knox, S. C. McCutcheon and S. E. Nelson. 2011. An Overview of Synoptic and Mesoscale Factors Contributing to the Disastrous Atlanta Flood of 2009. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 92(7):861-870. DOI: 10.1175/2010BAMS3003.1.
- Shepherd, T. G. 2014. Atmospheric circulation as a source of uncertainty in climate change projections. Nature Geoscience 7(10):703-708. DOI: 10.1038/ngeo2253.
- Shepherd, T. G. 2016. A common framework for approaches to extreme event attribution. Current Climate Change Reports 2:28-38. DOI: 10.1007/s40641-016-0033-y.
- Shiogama, H., D. A. Stone, T. Nagashima, T. Nozawa and S. Emori. 2013a. On the linear additivity of climate forcing-response relationships at global and continental scales. International Journal of Climatology 33(11):2542-2550. DOI: 10.1002/joc.3607.
- Shiogama, H., M. Watanabe, Y. Imada, M. Mori, M. Ishii and M. Kimoto. 2013b. An event attribution of the 2010 drought in the South Amazon region using the MIROC5 model. Atmospheric Science Letters 14(3):170-175. DOI: 10.1002/asl2.435.
- Sillmann, J., M. Croci-Maspoli, M. Kallache and R. W. Katz. 2011. Extreme Cold Winter Temperatures in Europe under the Influence of North Atlantic Atmospheric Blocking. Journal of Climate 24(22):5899-5913. DOI: 10.1175/2011JCLI4075.1.
- Sillmann, J., V. V. Kharin, X. Zhang, F. W. Zwiers and D. Bronaugh. 2013a. Climate extremes indices in the CMIP5 multimodel ensemble: Part 1. Model evaluation in the present climate. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 118(4):1716-1733. DOI: 10.1002/jgrd.50203.
- Sillmann, J., V. V. Kharin, F. W. Zwiers, X. Zhang and D. Bronaugh. 2013b. Climate extremes indices in the CMIP5 multimodel ensemble: Part 2. Future climate projections. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 118(6):2473-2493. DOI: 10.1002/jgrd.50188.
- Singleton, A. and R. Toumi. 2013. Super-Clausius-Clapeyron scaling of rainfall in a model squall line. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 139(671):334-339. DOI: 10.1002/qj.1919.
- Sippel, S. and F. E. L. Otto. 2014. Beyond climatological extremes assessing how the odds of hydrometeorological extreme events in South-East Europe change in a warming climate. Climatic Change 125(3-4):381-398. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-014-1153-9.
- Solow, A. R. 2015. Extreme weather, made by us? Science 349(6255):1444-1445. DOI: 10.1126/science.aad2132.
- Stainforth, D. A., T. Aina, C. Christensen, M. Collins, N. Faull, D. J. Frame, J. A. Kettleborough, S. Knight, A. Martin, J. M. Murphy, C. Piani, D. Sexton, L. A. Smith, R. A. Spicer, A. J. Thorpe and M. R. Allen. 2005. Uncertainty in predictions of the climate response to rising levels of greenhouse gases. Nature 433(7024):403-406. DOI: 10.1038/nature03301.

- Stone, D. A. and M. R. Allen. 2005. The End-to-End Attribution Problem: From Emissions to Impacts. Climatic Change 71(3):303-318. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10584-005-6778-2.
- Stott, P., N. Christidis, F. Otto, Y. Sun, J. Vanderlinden, G. van Oldenborgh, R. Vautard, H. von Storch, P. Walton, P. Yiou and F. Zwiers. 2015. Attribution of extreme weather and climate-related events. WIREs Climate Change(Accepted).
- Stott, P. A., D. A. Stone and M. R. Allen. 2004. Human contribution to the European heatwave of 2003. Nature 432(7017):610-614. DOI: 10.1038/nature03089.
- Stott, P. A., N. Christidis and R. A. Betts. 2011. Changing return periods of weather-related impacts: the attribution challenge. Climatic Change 109(3-4):263-268. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10584-011-0265-8.
- Stott, P. A., M. Allen, N. Christidis, R. Dole, M. Hoerling, C. Huntingford, P. Pall, J. Perlwitz and D. Stone. 2013. Attribution of Weather and Climate-Related Events. In Climate Science for Serving Society: Research, Modeling and Prediction Priorities. Asrar, G. R. and J. W. Hurrell, eds. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Sun, Y., X. B. Zhang, F. W. Zwiers, L. C. Song, H. Wan, T. Hu, H. Yin and G. Y. Ren. 2014. Rapid increase in the risk to extreme summer heat in Eastern China. Nature Climate Change 4(12):1082-1085. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2410.
- Swain, D. L., M. Tsiang, M. Haugen, D. Singh, A. Charland, B. Rajaratnam and N. S. Diffenbaugh. 2014. The Extraordinary California Drought of 2013/2014: Character, Context, and the Role of Climate Change. [in "Explaining Extremes of 2013 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95(9):S3-S7.
- Szeto, K., J. Brimelow, P. Gysbers and R. Stewart. 2015. The 2014 Extreme Flood on the Southeastern Canadian Prairies [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S20-S24. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00110.
- Takayabu, I., K. Hibino, H. Sasaki, H. Shiogama, N. Mori, Y. Shibutani and T. Takemi. 2015. Climate change effects on the worst-case storm surge: a case study of Typhoon Haiyan. Environmental Research Letters 10(6). DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/10/6/064011.
- Taylor, K. E., R. J. Stouffer and G. A. Meehl. 2012. An Overview of CMIP5 and the Experiment Design. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 93(4):485-498. DOI: 10.1175/Bams-D-11-00094.1.
- Tebaldi, C., R. L. Smith, D. Nychka and L. O. Mearns. 2005. Quantifying uncertainty in projections of regional climate change: A Bayesian approach to the analysis of multimodel ensembles. Journal of Climate 18(10):1524-1540. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli3363.1.
- Tippett, M. K., S. J. Camargo and A. H. Sobel. 2011. A Poisson Regression Index for Tropical Cyclone Genesis and the Role of Large-Scale Vorticity in Genesis. Journal of Climate 24(9):2335-2357. DOI: 10.1175/2010JCLI3811.1.
- Tippett, M. K., A. H. Sobel and S. J. Camargo. 2012. Association of U.S. tornado occurrence with monthly environmental parameters. Geophysical Research Letters 39. DOI: 10.1029/2011GL050368.
- Tippett, M. K. 2014. Changing volatility of U.S. annual tornado reports. Geophysical Research Letters 41(19):6956-6961. DOI: 10.1002/2014GL061347.
- Tippett, M. K., J. T. Allen, V. A. Gensini and H. E. Brooks. 2015. Climate and Hazardous Convective Weather. Current Climate Change Reports--Topical Collection on Extreme Events 1(2):60-73. DOI: 10.1007/s40641-015-0006-6.
- Trapp, R. J., N. S. Diffenbaugh, H. E. Brooks, M. E. Baldwin, E. D. Robinson and J. S. Pal. 2007. Changes in severe thunderstorm environment frequency during the 21st century caused by anthropogenically enhanced global radiative forcing. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104(50):19719-19723. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0705494104.

- Trapp, R. J., N. S. Diffenbaugh and A. Gluhovsky. 2009. Transient response of severe thunderstorm forcing to elevated greenhouse gas concentrations. Geophysical Research Letters 36(1). DOI: 10.1029/2008gl036203.
- Trapp, R. J. and K. A. Hoogewind. 2016. The realization of extreme tornadic storm events under future anthropogenic climate change. Journal of Climate(in review).
- Trenary, L., T. DelSole, M. K. Tippett and B. Doty. 2015. Was the cold eastern US winter of 2014 due to increased variability? [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S15-S19. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00138.1.
- Trenberth, K. E. and J. Fasullo. 2007. Water and energy budgets of hurricanes and implications for climate change. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 112(D23). DOI: 10.1029/2006jd008304.
- Trenberth, K. E. 2012. Framing the way to relate climate extremes to climate change. Climatic Change 115(2):283-290. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-012-0441-5.
- Trenberth, K. E., A. G. Dai, G. van der Schrier, P. D. Jones, J. Barichivich, K. R. Briffa and J. Sheffield. 2014. Global warming and changes in drought. Nature Climate Change 4(1):17-22. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2067.
- Trenberth, K. E., J. T. Fasullo and T. G. Shepherd. 2015. Attribution of climate extreme events. Nature Climate Change 5(8):725-730. DOI: 10.1038/Nclimate2657.
- Trzeciak, T. M., P. Knippertz, J. S. R. Pirret and K. D. Williams. 2014. Can we trust climate models to realistically represent severe European windstorms? Climate Dynamics. DOI: 10.1007/s00382-015-2777-9.
- van Oldenborgh, G. J., F. J. D. Reyes, S. S. Drijfhout and E. Hawkins. 2013. Reliability of regional climate model trends. Environmental Research Letters 8(1). DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/014055.
- van Oldenborgh, G. J., R. Haarsma, H. De Vries and M. R. Allen. 2014. Cold Extremes in North America vs. Mild Weather in Europe: The Winter of 2013–14 in the Context of a Warming World. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(5):707-714. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-14-00036.1.
- van Oldenborgh, G. J., D. B. Stephenson, A. Sterl, R. Vautard, P. Yiou, S. S. Drijfhout, H. von Storch and H. van den Dool. 2015. Correspondence: Drivers of the 2013/14 winter floods in the UK. Nature Climate Change 5(6):490-491. DOI: 10.1038/nclimate2612.
- VanderWeele, T. J. and O. A. Arah. 2011. Bias Formulas for Sensitivity Analysis of Unmeasured Confounding for General Outcomes, Treatments, and Confounders. Epidemiology 22(1):42-52. DOI: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181f74493.
- Vano, J. A., T. Das and D. P. Lettenmaier. 2012. Hydrologic Sensitivities of Colorado River Runoff to Changes in Precipitation and Temperature. Journal of Hydrometeorology 13(3):932-949. DOI: 10.1175/Jhm-D-11-069.1.
- Vano, J. A., B. Udall, D. R. Cayan, J. T. Overpeck, L. D. Brekke, T. Das, H. C. Hartmann, H. G. Hidalgo, M. Hoerling, G. J. McCabe, K. Morino, R. S. Webb, K. Werner and D. P. Lettenmaier. 2014. Understanding Uncertainties in Future Colorado River Streamflow. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95(1):59-78. DOI: 10.1175/Bams-D-12-00228.1.
- Velden, C., B. Harper, F. Wells, J. L. Beven, R. Ehr, T. Olander, M. Mayfield, C. C. Guard, M. Lander, R. Edson, L. Avila, A. Burton, M. Turk, A. Caroff, A. Christian, P. Caroff and P. McCrone. 2006. The Dvorak tropical cyclone intensity estimation technique. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 87(9):1195-1210. DOI: 10.1175/Bams-87-9-1195.
- von Storch, H., H. Langenberg and F. Feser. 2000. A spectral nudging technique for dynamical downscaling purposes. Monthly Weather Review 128(10):3664-3673. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0493(2000)128<3664:Asntfd>2.0.Co;2.

- Waldron, K. M., J. Paegle and J. D. Horel. 1996. Sensitivity of a spectrally filtered and nudged limited-area model to outer model options. Monthly Weather Review 124(3):529-547. DOI: 10.1175/1520-0493(1996)124<0529:Soasfa>2.0.Co;2.
- Walsh, J., D. Wuebbles, K. Hayhoe, J. Kossin, K. Kunkel, G. Stephens, P. Thorne, R. Vose, M. Wehner, J. Willis, D. Anderson, S. Doney, R. Feely, P. Hennon, V. Kharin, T. Knutson, F. Landerer, T. Lenton, J. Kennedy and R. Somerville. 2014. Our Changing Climate. In Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment. J. M. Melillo, T. C. Richmond and G. W. Yohe, eds. Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program.
- Walsh, K. J. E., J. L. McBride, P. J. Klotzbach, S. Balachandran, S. J. Camargo, G. Holland, T. R. Knutson, J. P. Kossin, T.-c. Lee, A. Sobel and M. Sugi. 2015. Tropical cyclones and climate change. WIREs Climate Change. DOI: 10.1002/wcc.371.
- Wang, C. C., B. X. Lin, C. T. Chen and S. H. Lo. 2015a. Quantifying the Effects of Long-Term Climate Change on Tropical Cyclone Rainfall Using a Cloud-Resolving Model: Examples of Two Landfall Typhoons in Taiwan. Journal of Climate 28(1):66-85. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-14-00044.1.
- Wang, D. H., Y. H. Duan, Y. Liu, Z. M. Liang, C. J. Liu, Y. F. Zhao, Y. W. Zhang, J. F. Yin and H. Wang. 2013. A Case Study of the November 2012 Mixed Rain-Snow Storm over North China. Acta Meteorologica Sinica 27(5):601-625. DOI: 10.1007/s13351-013-0510-3.
- Wang, H., L. Long, A. Kumar, W. Q. Wang, J. K. E. Schemm, M. Zhao, G. A. Vecchi, T. E. Larow, Y. K. Lim, S. D. Schubert, D. A. Shaevitz, S. J. Camargo, N. Henderson, D. Kim, J. A. Jonas and K. J. E. Walsh. 2014. How Well Do Global Climate Models Simulate the Variability of Atlantic Tropical Cyclones Associated with ENSO? Journal of Climate 27(15):5673-5692. DOI: 10.1175/jcli-d-13-00625.1.
- Wang, H. and S. Schubert. 2014. Causes of the extreme dry conditions over California during early 2013 [in Explaining Extremes of 2013 from a Climate Perspective]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95:S7-S10.
- Wang, S.-Y. S., B. Fosu, R. R. Gillies and P. M. Singh. 2015b. The deadly Himalayan snowstorm of October 2014: Synoptic conditions and associated trends [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S89-S94. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00113.1.
- Warner, M. D., C. F. Mass and E. P. Salathe. 2015. Changes in Winter Atmospheric Rivers along the North American West Coast in CMIP5 Climate Models. Journal of Hydrometeorology 16(1):118-128. DOI: 10.1175/Jhm-D-14-0080.1.
- Westra, S., L. V. Alexander and F. W. Zwiers. 2013. Global Increasing Trends in Annual Maximum Daily Precipitation. Journal of Climate 26(11):3904-3918. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-12-00502.1.
- Westra, S., H. J. Fowler, J. P. Evans, L. V. Alexander, P. Berg, F. Johnson, E. J. Kendon, G. Lenderink and N. M. Roberts. 2014. Future changes to the intensity and frequency of short-duration extreme rainfall. Reviews of Geophysics 52(3):522-555. DOI: 10.1002/2014RG000464.
- Whan, K., F. Zwiers and J. Sillmann. 2016. The influence of atmospheric blocking on extreme winter minimum temperatures in North America. Journal of Climate(in press).
- Wilcox, L. J., B. Dong, R. T. Sutton and E. J. Highwood. 2015. The 2014 hot, dry summer in Northeast Asia [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S105-S110. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00123.1.
- Wild, S., D. J. Befort and G. C. Leckebusch. 2015. Was the extreme storm season in Winter 2013/14 over the North Atlantic and the United Kingdom triggered by changes in the West Pacific warm pool? [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate

Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S29-S34. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00118.1.

- Wilhite, D. A. and M. H. Glantz. 1985. Understanding the Drought Phenomenon: The Role of Definitions. Water International 10(3):111-120. DOI: 10.1080/02508068508686328.
- Williams, A. P., R. Seager, J. T. Abatzoglou, B. I. Cook, J. E. Smerdon and E. R. Cook. 2015. Contribution of anthropogenic warming to California drought during 2012-2014. Geophysical Research Letters 42(16):6819-6828. DOI: 10.1002/2015GL064924.
- Wittenberg, A. T., A. Rosati, T. L. Delworth, G. A. Vecchi and F. R. Zeng. 2014. ENSO Modulation: Is It Decadally Predictable? Journal of Climate 27(7):2667-2681. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-13-00577.1.
- WMO. 2013. Sub-Seasonal to Seasonal Prediction: Research Implementation Plan. Geneva: World Meteorological Organization.
- Wolter, K., M. Hoerling, J. K. Eischeid, G. J. v. Oldenborgh, X.-W. Quan, J. E. Walsh, T. N. Chase and R. M. Dole. 2015. How unusual was the cold winter of 2013/14 in the upper midwest? [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S10-S14.
- Woodruff, J. D., J. L. Irish and S. J. Camargo. 2013. Coastal flooding by tropical cyclones and sea-level rise. Nature 504(7478):44-52. DOI: 10.1038/nature12855.
- Wright, J. S., A. Sobel and J. Galewsky. 2010. Diagnosis of Zonal Mean Relative Humidity Changes in a Warmer Climate. Journal of Climate 23(17):4556-4569. DOI: 10.1175/2010JCLI3488.1.
- Wuebbles, D., G. Meehl, K. Hayhoe, T. R. Karl, K. Kunkel, B. Santer, M. Wehner, B. Colle, E. M. Fischer, R. Fu, A. Goodman, E. Janssen, V. Kharin, H. Lee, W. H. Li, L. N. Long, S. C. Olsen, Z. T. Pan, A. Seth, J. Sheffield and L. Q. Sun. 2014. CMIP5 Climate Model Analyses: Climate Extremes in the United States. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 95(4):571-583. DOI: 10.1175/Bams-D-12-00172.1.
- Yang, L., X. Wang, K. Huang and D. Wang. 2015. Anomalous tropical cyclone activity in the western North Pacific in August 2014 [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S120-S125.
- Yiou, P., R. Vautard, P. Naveau and C. Cassou. 2007. Inconsistency between atmospheric dynamics and temperatures during the exceptional 2006/2007 fall/winter and recent warming in Europe. Geophysical Research Letters 34(21). DOI: 10.1029/2007gl031981.
- Yoon, J. H., S.-Y. S. Wang, R. R. Gillies, L. Hipps, B. Kravitz and P. J. Rasch. 2015. Extreme fire season in California: A glimpse into the future? [in "Explaining Extremes of 2014 from a Climate Perspective"]. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 96(12):S5-S9. DOI: 10.1175/BAMS-D-15-00114.1.
- Yoshimura, J. and M. Sugi. 2005. Tropical Cyclone Climatology in a High-resolution AGCM -Impacts of SST Warming and CO2 Increase. Sola 1:133-136. DOI: 10.2151/sola.2005-035.
- Yue, X., L. J. Mickley, J. A. Logan and J. O. Kaplan. 2013. Ensemble projections of wildfire activity and carbonaceous aerosol concentrations over the western United States in the mid-21st century. Atmospheric Environment 77:767-780. DOI: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.06.003.
- Zappa, G., L. C. Shaffrey and K. I. Hodges. 2013a. The Ability of CMIP5 Models to Simulate North Atlantic Extratropical Cyclones. Journal of Climate 26(15):5379-5396. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-12-00501.1.
- Zappa, G., L. C. Shaffrey, K. I. Hodges, P. G. Sansom and D. B. Stephenson. 2013b. A Multimodel Assessment of Future Projections of North Atlantic and European Extratropical Cyclones in the CMIP5 Climate Models. Journal of Climate 26(16):5846-5862. DOI: 10.1175/Jcli-D-12-00573.1.

- Zhang, D., H. Y. Hong, Q. Zhang and X. H. Li. 2015. Attribution of the changes in annual streamflow in the Yangtze River Basin over the past 146 years. Theoretical and Applied Climatology 119(1-2):323-332. DOI: 10.1007/s00704-014-1121-3.
- Zhang, X., H. Wan, F. W. Zwiers, G. C. Hegerl and S. K. Min. 2013. Attributing intensification of precipitation extremes to human influence. Geophysical Research Letters 40(19):5252-5257. DOI: 10.1002/grl.51010.
- Zhang, X., G. Hegerl, S. Seneviratne, R. Stewart, F. Zwiers and L. Alexander. 2014. WCRP Grand Challenge: Understanding and Predicting Weather and Climate Extremes Geneva: World Climate Research Programme. Available at http://www.wcrpclimate.org/images/documents/grand challenges/GC Extremes v2.pdf.
- Zhang, X. B., J. F. Wang, F. W. Zwiers and P. Y. Groisman. 2010. The Influence of Large-Scale Climate Variability on Winter Maximum Daily Precipitation over North America. Journal of Climate 23(11):2902-2915. DOI: 10.1175/2010JCLI3249.1.
- Zhao, M., I. M. Held, S. J. Lin and G. A. Vecchi. 2009. Simulations of Global Hurricane Climatology, Interannual Variability, and Response to Global Warming Using a 50-km Resolution GCM. Journal of Climate 22(24):6653-6678. DOI: 10.1175/2009JCLI3049.1.
- Zhao, M. and I. M. Held. 2010. An Analysis of the Effect of Global Warming on the Intensity of Atlantic Hurricanes Using a GCM with Statistical Refinement. Journal of Climate 23(23):6382-6393. DOI: 10.1175/2010JCLI3837.1.
- Zhou, Y. and J. M. Shepherd. 2010. Atlanta's urban heat island under extreme heat conditions and potential mitigation strategies. Natural Hazards 52(3):639-668. DOI: 10.1007/s11069-009-9406-z.
- Zwiers, F. W., X. B. Zhang and Y. Feng. 2011. Anthropogenic Influence on Long Return Period Daily Temperature Extremes at Regional Scales. Journal of Climate 24(3):881-892. DOI: 10.1175/2010jcli3908.1.

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

Appendix A: Statement of Task

An ad hoc NRC committee will examine the science of attribution of specific extreme weather events to human-caused climate change and natural variability. Specifically, the committee will:

- Provide an assessment of current scientific understanding and capabilities for attribution of specific extreme weather events to climate change.
- Provide guidance about the robustness of extreme event attribution science. The guidance should discriminate among different attribution approaches and different classes of extreme events, and should consider various characteristics of the analysis (e.g., data coverage and quality, model performance, etc.).
- Identify research priorities for further development of the approaches.

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

Appendix B: Workshop Agenda

Extreme Weather Events and Climate Change Attribution Workshop Agenda October 21-22, 2015 Keck Center 500 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC

Workshop Goals

Inform the committee as they write their report on the science of attribution of specific extreme weather events to human-caused climate change and natural variability. Specifically, the committee will:

- Provide an assessment of current scientific understanding and capabilities for attribution of specific extreme weather events to climate change.
- Provide guidance about the robustness of extreme event attribution science. The guidance should discriminate among different attribution approaches and different classes of extreme events, and it should consider various characteristics of the analysis (e.g., data coverage and quality, model performance, etc.).
- Identify research priorities for further development of the approaches.
- •

Wednesday, October 21, 2015

OPEN SESSION - Keck 103

| 12:00 P.M. | Lunch available to all participants |
|----------------|---|
| OPEN SE | SSION - Keck 100 |
| 1:00 P.M. | Welcoming remarks and introduction David Titley, Pennsylvania State University |
| 1:30 P.M. | Framing of event attribution questions and risk-based perspective for decision-making Alexis Hannart, CNRS |
| 2:00 P.M. | Background and overview on climate attribution of extreme events Friederike Otto, University of Oxford |
| 2:30 P.M. | Break |
| 3:00 P.M. | Panel on Methods and Uncertainties Moderated by: Ted Shepherd, University of Reading Panelists will have 5 min for a brief presentation; remaining time to be used for discussion. |
| | • Observed climate change, Geert Jan van Oldenborgh, KNMI (<i>WebEx</i>) |
| | Coupled ocean/atmosphere climate models, David Karoly, University of Melbourne (WebEx) |
| | Large ensembles, Myles Allen, University of Oxford |
| | PREPUBLICATION COPY |
| | 137 |

Appendix B

- o SSTs and sea ice, Judith Perlwitz, NOAA ESRL
- Circulation analogs, Pascal Yiou, CEA
- o Building confidence, Leonard Smith, University of Oxford

5:00 P.M. General Discussion

(includes questions/comments from Webinar participants) Moderated by: John Walsh, University of Alaska, Fairbanks

- 5:45 P.M. Adjourn
- 6:15 P.M. Reception [Keck Atrium]

Thursday, October 22, 2015

OPEN SESSION – Keck 100

- 9:30 A.M Panel on Attribution of Specific Weather Phenomena Moderated by: Phil Mote, Oregon State University Panelists will have 5 min for a brief presentation; remaining time to be used for discussion.
 - Extreme heat and cold events, Ken Kunkel, NOAA NCEI/North Carolina State University
 - Drought events, Marty Hoerling, NOAA ESRL
 - o Wildfires, Eric Kasischke, NASA/University of Maryland
 - o Extreme rain events/flooding, Michael Wehner, LBL
 - Extreme snow/freezing rain events, Jay Lawrimore, NOAA NCEI
 - Hurricanes, Tom Knutson, NOAA GFDL
 - o Tornadoes, Jeff Trapp, University of Illinois
 - Extreme sea level rise events, William Sweet, NOAA NOS
- 10:45 A.M. Break
- 11:15 A.M. Panel discussion continues
- 12:15 P.M. Working lunch
- 1:15 P.M. Break out group session to identify opportunities and challenges on the following topics:
 - 1. Uncertainty quantification:
 - a) assessing model quality
 - b) uncertainty quantification given a reasonable model
 - c) how can event attribution be evaluate
 - 2. Framing of event attribution questions (are we asking the right questions?) and how to describe and quantify a potential anthropogenic component to the meteorological causes of an extreme event, given that natural variability is generally playing a dominant role.
 - 3. Timescale/operational event attribution (e.g., How does the timescales of an event impact our ability to attribute the event? On what timelines can event attribution studies be conducted? How does the timescale of an event affect the timeline on which attribution studies can be conducted?).

Appendix B

| <i>Break</i> (Time for Rapporteurs to collect their thoughts) |
|---|
| Rapporteurs report back in plenary |
| Invited responses to the workshop discussions |
| Kathy Jacobs, University of Arizona |
| Wrap up |
| David Titley, PSU |
| Adjourn |
| |

PREPUBLICATION COPY

 $\label{eq:copyright} @ \ensuremath{\mathsf{National}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{Academy}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{of}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{Sciences}}\xspace. \ensuremath{\mathsf{All}}\xspace \ensuremath{\mathsf{rights}}\xspace \ensuremath{$

Attribution of Extreme Weather Events in the Context of Climate Change

Appendix C: Committee Mini Biographies

Dr. David Titley (*Chair*) is a Professor of Practice in Meteorology and the Founding Director of the Center for Solutions to Weather and Climate Risk at Pennsylvania State University and a Senior Adjunct Fellow at the Center for New American Security. Dr. Titley's 32-year Naval career included duties as Oceanographer and Navigator of the Navy and Assistant Deputy Chief of Naval Operations for Information Dominance. Dr. Titley initiated and led the U.S. Navy's Task Force on Climate Change, and also served on the staff of the U.S. Commission on Ocean Policy. After retiring from the Navy with the rank of Rear Admiral, Dr. Titley served as the Deputy Undersecretary of Commerce for Operations, the Chief Operating Officer position at the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. He has spoken on various domestic and international stages, including Congressional Hearings, the International Panel on Climate Change, and a TEDx talk, amongst others. Dr. Titley serves on the CNA Military Advisory Board, and has served on National Academies Committees as a member and co-chair. He is a fellow of the American Meteorological Society. He earned a Ph.D. in Meteorology from the Naval Postgraduate School.

Dr. Gabriele Hegerl is Professor of Climate System Science at the University of Edinburgh. Her interests are in determining the causes of observed climate changes, focusing on mean and extreme temperature and precipitation. She works on the interface between climate modelling and climate observations, with a focus on uncertainty, variability and change in climatic extremes, and on the use of palaeo-proxy data to study climate variability and change during the last millennium. Gabriele is a fellow of the Royal Society of Edinburgh and has a Wolfson fellowship by the Royal Society. She is one of the co-leads of the World CLimate Research Program's Grand Challenge on climate extremes. Gabriele has been a lead author and coordinating lead author on the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).

Ms. Katharine L. Jacobs is the director of the Center for Climate Adaptation Science and Solutions (CCASS) and a professor in the department of soil, water and environmental science at the University of Arizona. From 2010 to 2013, Jacobs served as an assistant director in the U.S. Office of Science and Technology Policy (OSTP) in the Executive Office of the President. Jacobs was the director of the National Climate Assessment, leading a team of 300 authors and more than 1,000 contributors who wrote the Third NCA report. The report was published in May of 2014. Jacobs also was the lead advisor on water science and policy and climate adaptation within OSTP. Prior to her work in the White House, Jacobs was the executive director of the Arizona Water Institute from 2006-2009, leading a consortium of the three state universities focused on water-related research, education and technology transfer in support of water supply sustainability. She has more than 20 years of experience as a water manager for the Arizona's Department of Water Resources, including 14 years as director of the Tucson Active Management Area. Her research interests include water policy, connecting science and decision making, stakeholder engagement, use of climate information for water

management applications, climate change adaptation, and drought planning. Jacobs earned her M.L.A. in environmental planning from the University of California, Berkeley. She has served on eight National Research Council panels and was chair of the NRC panel on Adapting to the Impacts of Climate Change and a member of the panel on America's Climate Choices.

Dr. Philip W. Mote is a professor in the College of Earth, Oceanic, and Atmospheric Sciences at Oregon State University; director of the Oregon Climate Change Research Institute (OCCRI) for the Oregon University System; and director of Oregon Climate Services, the official state climate office for Oregon. Dr. Mote's current research interests include scenario development, regional climate change, regional climate modeling with a super-ensemble generated by volunteers' personal computers, and adaptation to climate change. He is the coleader of the NOAA-funded Climate Impacts Research Consortium for the Northwest, and also of the Northwest Climate Science Center for the U.S. Department of the Interior. Since 2005 he has been involved in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, which shared the 2007 Nobel Peace Prize. He is also a coordinating lead author and advisory council member for the U.S. National Climate Assessment, and has served on numerous committees for the National Research Council. He earned a B.A. in physics from Harvard University and a Ph.D. in atmospheric sciences from the University of Washington, and arrived at OSU to establish OCCRI in 2009.

Dr. Christopher J. Paciorek is an associate research statistician, as well as a lecturer and the statistical computing consultant, in the Department of Statistics at Berkeley. His statistical expertise is in the areas of Bayesian statistics and spatial statistics with primary application to environmental and public health research. Dr. Paciorek's work in recent years has focused on methodology and applied work in a variety of areas, in particular: quantifying trends in extreme weather, quantifying millennial-scale changes in vegetation using paleoecological data, and developing computational software for hierarchical modeling (the NIMBLE project). He has also worked on measurement error issues in air pollution epidemiology, Bayesian methods for global health monitoring with a focus on combining disparate sources of information, and spatio-temporal modeling of air pollution. Before coming to Berkeley, he was an assistant professor in the Biostatistics Department at Harvard School of Public Health. He finished his Ph.D. in Statistics at Carnegie Mellon University in 2003 and also has an M.S. in ecology from Duke University and a B.A. in biology from Carleton College.

Dr. J. Marshall Shepherd, a leading international expert in weather and climate, was the 2013 President of American Meteorological Society (AMS) and is Director of the University of Georgia's (UGA) Atmospheric Sciences Program. Dr. Shepherd is the Georgia Athletic Association Distinguished Professor of Geography and Atmospheric Sciences and hosts The Weather Channel's Sunday talk show Weather Geeks, In 2014, the Captain Planet Foundation honored Dr. Shepherd with its Protector of the Earth Award. Recent recipients include Erin Brockovich and former EPA Administrator Lisa Jackson. He is also the 2015 Recipient of the Association of American Geographers (AAG) Media Achievement award and the 2015 UGA Franklin College of Arts and

Appendix C

Sciences Sandy Beaver Award for Excellence in Teaching, Prior to UGA, Dr. Shepherd spent 12 years as a Research Meteorologist at NASA-Goddard Space Flight Center and was Deputy Project Scientist for the Global Precipitation Measurement (GPM) mission. In 2004, he was honored at the White House with a prestigious PECASE award. Dr. Shepherd is a Fellow of the American Meteorological Society and recipient of its Charles Anderson Award. Two national magazines, the AMS, and Florida State University have also recognized Dr. Shepherd for his significant contributions. Dr. Shepherd is frequently sought as an expert on weather and climate by major media outlets like CBS Face The Nation, USA Today, Time, CNN, NOVA, and The Today Show. His TEDx Atlanta Talk on "Slaving Climate Zombies" is highly regarded and cited. Dr. Shepherd is also frequently asked to advise key leaders at NASA, NSF, NOAA, the White House, Congress, and various agencies. He is on the board for Mothers and Others For Clean Air, a partnership with the American Lung Association. He has over 75 peer-reviewed scholarly publications and numerous editorials. Dr. Shepherd received his B.S., M.S. and PhD in physical meteorology from Florida State University. He co-authored a children's book on weather called Dr. Fred's Weather Watch.

Dr. Theodore G. Shepherd obtained a B.Sc. in Mathematics & Physics from the University of Toronto in 1979, and a Ph.D. in Meteorology from MIT in 1984. After a postdoctoral fellowship at DAMTP, University of Cambridge, he took up a faculty position in the Department of Physics at the University of Toronto in 1988. In 2012 he moved to the Department of Meteorology at the University of Reading to become the inaugural Grantham Professor of Climate Science. His research interests range from theoretical geophysical fluid dynamics to climate modelling and data analysis, with a focus on atmospheric circulation. He has held leadership roles in scientific assessments of both climate (IPCC) and stratospheric ozone (WMO/UNEP), and in the World Climate Research Programme, and is a Fellow of the American Meteorological Society, the American Geophysical Union, and the Royal Society of Canada. From 2001-2005 he was Chief Editor of the *Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences*. In 2014 he was honored as a Thomson Reuters Highly Cited Researcher.

Dr. Adam Sobel is a professor at Columbia University's Lamont-Doherty Earth Observatory and Fu Foundation School of Engineering and Applied Sciences. He is an atmospheric scientist who specializes in the dynamics of climate and weather, particularly in the tropics, on time scales of days to decades. A major focus of his current research is extreme events such as hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, and droughts, and the risks these pose to human society in the present and future climate. He is leading a new Columbia University Initiative on Extreme Weather and Climate. Sobel holds a Bachelor's degree in Physics and Music from Wesleyan University, and a Ph.D. in Meteorology from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. In the last few years, he has received the Meisinger Award from the American Meteorological Society, the Excellence in Mentoring Award from the Lamont-Doherty Earth Observatory of Columbia University, an AXA Award in Extreme Weather and Climate from the AXA Research Fund, and an Ascent Award from the Atmospheric Sciences Section of the American Geophysical Union. Sobel is author or co-author of more than 100 peerreviewed scientific articles, and his book about Hurricane Sandy, Storm Surge, published

in October 2014 by Harper-Collins, received the 2014 Atmospheric Science Librarians International Choice Award in the popular category.

Dr. John Walsh received his B.A. in Mathematics from Dartmouth College in 1970 and his Ph.D. in Meteorology from M.I.T. in 1974. He spent a postdoctoral year at the National Center for Atmospheric Research. He was a faculty member at the University of Illinois for 30 years and, more recently, at the University of Alaska in Fairbanks. While at Illinois, he led a polar research group and coauthored an undergraduate textbook, Severe and Hazardous Weather. He also spent a year as the Chair in Arctic Marine Science at the Naval Postgraduate School in Monterey, California. At the University of Alaska Fairbanks, Walsh is currently the Chief Scientist of the International Arctic Research Center. His recent research has addressed Arctic climate change; seasonal to decadal variability of sea ice; predictability of climate change in high latitudes; and changes in arctic weather in the context of climate change. In 2009 he received the Usibelli Distinguished Researcher Award from the University of Alaska. He is a Fellow of the American Meteorological Society and has co-authored an undergraduate textbook, Severe and Hazardous Weather: An Introduction to High-Impact Meteorology.

Dr. Francis W. Zwiers, before becoming Director of the Pacific Climate Impacts Consortium, served as a Research Scientist (1984-2006), Chief of the Canadian Centre for Climate Modelling and Analysis (1997-2006) and Director of the Climate Research Division (2006-2010), all at Environment Canada. He is an Adjunct Professor in the Department of Mathematics and Statistics of the University of Victoria and in the Department of Statistics and Actuarial Science of Simon Fraser University. His expertise is in the application of statistical methods to the analysis of observed and simulated climate variability and change. Dr. Zwiers is a Fellow of the Royal Society of Canada and of the American Meteorological Society, a recipient of the Patterson Medal (Meteorological Service of Canada) and of an Honorary Doctorate from Western University, has served as an IPCC Coordinating Lead Author of the Fourth Assessment Report and as an elected member of the IPCC Bureau for the Fifth Assessment Report.